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REGULATIONS
AIR LIQUIDE GROUP

2009 EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PLAN REGULATIONS FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES
(Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2010)

1

PREAMBLE
L’AIR LIQUIDE S.A. (the “Company”) adopted the Group 
Share Purchase Plan France and the International 
Group Share Purchase Plan (the “Employee Share 
Purchase Plans”) pursuant to resolutions adopted by 
its shareholders. The Company’s Employee Share 
Purchase Plans are intended to enable employees of 
the Company and its French and foreign subsidiaries, 
including Designated U.S. Subsidiaries, to subscribe 
to shares of the Company. These Regulations for U.S. 
Employees are established under the International 
Group Share Purchase Plan and are intended to set forth 
the terms and conditions pursuant to which employees 
of Designated U.S. Subsidiaries may participate in stock 
issuances under the Company’s Employee Share 
Purchase Plans (the “U.S. Plan”).

The U.S. Plan is hereby amended effective as of January 
1, 2010 to conform to final regulations promulgated under 
Section 423 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) 
and to incorporate other changes.

ARTICLE I – PURPOSE AND LEGAL FRAMEWORK
1.1	 Purpose
The purpose of the U.S. Plan is to further the development 
of employee stockholding by offering employees of 
Designated U.S. Subsidiaries of the Company the 
possibility of becoming stockholders of the Company. 
The U.S. Plan has been established to implement the 

Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plans approved 
by the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”). The 
Board shall establish the terms and conditions of any 
stock offerings from time to time. Except as provided in 
the U.S. Plan, it is the intention of the Company to have the 
U.S. Plan, established under the Company’s Employee 
Share Purchase Plans, qualify as an “employee stock 
purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Code. The 
provisions of the U.S. Plan shall be in accordance with 
the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plans and 
the terms and conditions of offerings thereunder, and 
shall be construed so as to extend and limit participation 
in a manner consistent with the requirements of Section 
423 of the Code, except as otherwise provided herein. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may authorize 
one or more offerings under the U.S. Plan from time to 
time that are not intended to qualify under Section 423 
of the Code. Such offerings shall be designated as being 
part of the portion of the U.S. Plan that is not intended to 
comply with Section 423 of the Code (the “non-Section 
423 component”).

1.2	 Applicability
Any Designated U.S. Subsidiary of the Company may 
participate in the U.S. Plan.
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ARTICLE II – DEFINITIONS
2.1 	 “Committee” shall mean the American Air 
Liquide Holdings, Inc. Employee Benefits Committee 
as appointed by the board of directors of American 
Air Liquide Holdings, Inc. to administer the terms and 
conditions of the U.S. Plan for the Designated U.S. 
Subsidiaries.

2.2	 “Common Stock” shall mean the Common 
Stock of the Company.

2.3	 “Designated U.S. Subsidiary” shall mean 
American Air Liquide Holdings, Inc. and any other U.S. 
Subsidiary of the Company which has been designated 
by the Committee as eligible to participate in the U.S. 
Plan from time to time and have joined or will join the 
U.S. Plan by signing an adhesion form. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, in an offering under the non-Section 423 
component of the U.S. Plan, the term “Designated U.S. 
Subsidiary” shall mean any corporate or non-corporate 
entity designated by the Committee in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plans 
in which the Company owns a minimum equity interest 
specified by the Board and which entity has joined or 
will join the U.S. Plan by signing an adhesion agreement.

2.4	 “Employee” shall mean any individual who is an 
employee of a Designated U.S. Subsidiary for federal 
income tax purposes and who is customarily employed 
on a full-time or part-time basis by the Designated 
U.S. Subsidiary. For purposes of the U.S. Plan, the 
employment relationship shall be treated as continuing 
intact while the individual is on sick leave or other leave 
of absence approved by the Designated U.S. Subsidiary. 
Except as otherwise provided in the U.S. Plan, where 
the period of leave exceeds ninety (90) days and the 

individual’s right to reemployment is not guaranteed 
either by statute or by contract, the employment 
relationship shall be deemed to have terminated on the 
ninety-first (91st) day of such leave. 

2.5	 “Fair Market Value” shall mean the average 
of the opening quotation for Common Stock of the 
Company on the Euronext Paris stock exchange 
during the twenty (20) trading sessions preceding 
the date of the decision of the Board or its delegee 
determining the Subscription Period. Notwithstanding 
the preceding sentence, for federal, state, and local 
income tax reporting purposes, fair market value shall 
be determined by the Committee in accordance with 
uniform and nondiscriminatory standards adopted by it 
from time to time.

2.6	 “Subscription Period” shall mean the period of 
time, as designated by the Committee, in accordance 
with the decision of the Board or its delegee, during 
which Subscription Rights granted pursuant to the U.S. 
Plan may be exercised during an offering. In no event 
may the Subscription Period with respect to an offering 
intended to comply with Section 423 of the Code 
exceed twenty- seven (27) months.

2.7	 “Subscription Rights” shall mean rights awarded 
to eligible U.S. employees to purchase shares of 
Common Stock of the Company under the U.S. Plan.

2.8	 “Subsidiary” shall mean a corporation, domestic 
or foreign, of which more than 50 percent of the voting 
shares are held by the Company or a Subsidiary, whether 
or not such corporation now exists or is hereafter 
organized or acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary. 
The term “Subsidiary” shall be construed to have the 
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same meaning as “subsidiary corporation” as defined in 
Section 424(f) of the Code using the attribution of stock 
ownership rules in Section 424(d) of the Code, except 
that the requisite ownership percentage shall be more 
than 50 percent of the voting shares.

ARTICLE III – ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
3.1	 Eligibility
Options to purchase the Company’s Common Stock 
shall be granted to all eligible Employees of each 
Designated U.S. Subsidiary who shall have completed 
at least three (3) months of employment as of the end of 
the Subscription Period.

The Committee may, in accordance with the terms of 
any stock offering, exclude Employees who are citizens 
or residents of a non-U.S. jurisdiction if the grant of an 
option under the offering to such individual is prohibited 
under the laws of such jurisdictions or compliance 
with the laws of such foreign jurisdiction would cause 
the U.S. Plan or offering to violate the requirements of 
Section 423 of the Code. With respect to an offering 
intended to meet the requirements of Section 423 
of the Code, the eligibility requirements shall satisfy 
the provisions of Section 423 of the Code and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder and the minimum 
period of service shall not exceed two (2) years.

The exercise of Subscription Rights under the U.S. Plan 
is optional.

3.2	 Restrictions on Participation
Notwithstanding any provisions of the U.S. Plan to the 
contrary, no Employee shall be granted Subscription 
Rights to acquire shares of Common Stock in an 
offering intended to meet the requirements of Section 
423 of the Code:

(a) 	 if, immediately after the grant, such Employee 
would own stock and/or hold outstanding options to 
purchase stock, possessing 5 percent or more of the 
total combined voting power or value of all classes 
of stock of the Company or of its Subsidiaries (for 
purposes of this paragraph, the attribution rules of 
Section 424(d) of the Code shall apply in determining 
stock ownership of any Employee); or
(b) 	 which permits an Employee the right to 
purchase stock under all employee stock purchase 
plans of the Company or of its Subsidiaries intended 
to qualify under Section 423 of the Code to accrue at a 
rate which exceeds $25,000 in Fair Market Value of the 
stock (determined at the time such option is granted) for 
each calendar year in which such option is outstanding 
at any time.

3.3	 Commencement of Participation
An eligible Employee may elect to exercise Subscription 
Rights under the U.S. Plan by completing a subscription 
form with respect to the acquisition of shares of 
Common Stock during the Subscription Period 
(wherein the Employee must also select a method of 
payment for the subscribed shares). The Employee 
may not exercise Subscription Rights until after the 
receipt of all subscription materials in respect of the U.S. 
Plan, and must complete and return the subscription 
form or execute a subscription form electronically 
as instructed by the Company before the end of the 
Subscription Period. The Employee must submit the 
subscription form, and the payment agreement, if 
applicable, with the person designated on such forms 
or subscribe electronically in accordance with the 
instructions thereon, on or before the date set therefore 
by the Committee, which date shall be the last day of the 
Subscription Period.
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An eligible Employee may cancel his or her exercise of 
Subscription Rights under the U.S. Plan by completing 
and returning a notice of withdrawal or completing a 
form electronically as instructed by the Committee 
with the person designated to receive such notice on 
or before the last day of the Subscription Period as 
instructed by the Committee.

ARTICLE IV – FUNDING
4.1    Contributions to U.S. Plan
This U.S. Plan is funded solely by voluntary 
payments by the participating Employees.

ARTICLE V – GRANT OF SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS
5.1	 Number of Shares Subject to Subscription 
Rights
Subject to the limitations of Section 3.2(b) of the Plan, 
on the date that the Board or its delegee determines the 
Fair Market Value of each share of Common Stock that 
may be purchased during a Subscription Period under 
Section 2.5, each eligible Employee shall be deemed to 
have been granted Subscription Rights to purchase that 
number of shares of Common Stock equal to twenty- 
five (25) percent of an Eligible Employee’s annual 
gross base pay as determined by the Committee. The 
Subscription Rights may be exercised beginning on 
the first day of the Subscription Period and shall expire 
on the last day of the Subscription Period if not sooner 
exercised.

5.2	 Purchase Price Per Share
The price of each share of Common Stock purchased 
during a Subscription Period shall be not less than 85 
percent of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common 
Stock on the date set forth in Section 2.5.
ARTICLE VI – VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS BY 

EMPLOYEES
6.1	 Amount of Voluntary Payments
Eligible Employees shall be informed of the minimum 
amount, the terms and conditions and the dates of 
Employees’ voluntary payments prior to the end of 
the Subscription Period. The total amount of voluntary 
payments to the U.S. Plan and to the Company’s 
Employee Share Purchase Plans cannot exceed one 
fourth (1/4) of the Employee’s annual gross base pay as 
may be determined by the Committee.

6.2	 Tax Withholding
To the extent required by law, at the time the 
Subscription Rights are exercised, in whole or in part, 
or at the time some or all of the Company’s Common 
Stock issued under the U.S. Plan is disposed of, the 
participant shall make adequate provision for federal, 
state, or other tax withholding obligations, if any, which 
arise upon the exercise of the Subscription Rights or 
the disposition of the Common Stock as determined 
by the Committee. At any time where withholding is 
required, a Designated U.S. Subsidiary may withhold 
from the participant’s compensation the amount 
necessary for the Designated U.S. Subsidiary to meet 
applicable minimum withholding obligations, including 
any withholding required to make available to the 
Designated U.S. Subsidiary any tax deductions or 
benefits attributable to the sale or early disposition of 
Common Stock by the Employee.

ARTICLE VII – USE OF SUMS PAID
7.1	 Payment of Stock
An Employee shall select the method of payment 
for the shares at the time he or she files his or her 
subscription form, which shall include payment in full 
at the expiration of the Subscription Period or payment 
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in installments over a period and under procedures to 
be determined by the Board or its delegee with respect 
to each offering in accordance with the provisions 
of the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plans. 
The sums paid by the participating Employees shall 
be immediately and entirely used for the payment of 
Common Stock subscribed during the Subscription 
Period.

7.2	 Registration of Ownership of Stock
Once the final list of subscribers and the number of 
shares subscribed by each subscriber at the time of 
the capital increase has been established, the stock 
of the Company will be registered in an account 
opened in the Employee subscriber’s name in the 
Company’s records on a date to be determined by 
the Company’s Shareholder’s Department for each 
offering. Each Employee subscriber will receive an 
account registration certificate indicating the number 
of registered shares thus recorded in his or her account.

ARTICLE VIII – HOLDING PERIOD
8.1	 Holding Period
The Company stock registered in the names of the 
participating Employees will be held in the account 
established for each Employee and shall not be available 
for transfer or other disposition by such Employee until 
the end of a five (5) year holding period unless otherwise 
required by applicable law or such other holding period 
as the Board shall establish for an offering. The holding 
period will begin on the date the Common Stock is 
registered in the Employee’s account.

8,2	 Expiration of Holding Period
During the holding period, the Common Stock will 

remain registered by name in the Employee’s account 
and may not be transferred in any manner whatsoever.

8.3	 Exceptions to Holding Period
Employees may request the early release of their 
shares before the expiration of the holding period, 
provided such shares have been fully paid for, under the 
following conditions, as determined by the Committee 
in its sole discretion:
(1)	 death of the Employee;
(2)	 termination of employment for any reason;
(3)	 acquisition or substantial improvement of an 
Employee’s principal residence; or
(4)	 serious financial hardship of the Employee.

ARTICLE IX – TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 
BEFORE FULL PAYMENT OF SUBSCRIBED STOCK
9.1	 Termination of Employment
Upon a participant’s termination of employment for 
any reason (other than transfer to another Company 
Subsidiary) before the stock an Employee has 
subscribed to has been fully paid, the Employee (or his 
or her assigns in the event of death) shall immediately 
pay any unpaid balance then owing under his or her 
payment agreement.

ARTICLE X – FAILURE TO PAY FOR SUBSCRIBED 
STOCK
10.1   Non-Payment of Subscribed Stock
If, for any reason whatsoever, the Employee (or his 
or her assigns in the event of death) does not fulfill 
his or her obligations to pay for subscribed stock at 
the scheduled dates, the Employee will be deemed 
to have defaulted as a shareholder. In such an event, 
following a notice period, the Employee’s Designated 
U.S. Subsidiary employer may sell the stock subscribed 
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for by the Employee and use the proceeds to reduce 
the balance owed by the Employee under the payment 
agreement. If the proceeds of the sale exceed the 
amount owed by the Employee, the excess will be paid 
to Employee as soon as practicable, less applicable tax 
and payroll withholdings. If the proceeds are less than 
the amount owed by the Employee, the Employee will 
continue to be personally responsible for the payment 
of the insufficiency.

ARTICLE XI – DURATION OF THE EMPLOYEE 
STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
11.1	 Term of U.S. Plan
This U.S. Plan shall be in force through December 
31, 2009 subject to automatic renewal for periods of 
one year at the end of the initial and any subsequent 
expiration date, unless notice of termination is given in 
accordance with Section 11 .2.

11.2	 Amendment or Termination of U.S. Plan
The Committee may at any time terminate or amend 
the U.S. Plan at the direction of the Board or its delegee. 
The termination of the U.S. Plan, however, shall have no 
effect on shares already subscribed to by participating 
Employees. No amendment may make any change 
in any Subscription Rights theretofore granted which 
adversely affects the rights of any Employee. Notice 
of termination shall be given by the Company to each 
Designated U.S. Subsidiary at least ninety days prior to 
any expiration date. In the event notice of termination 
is given, this U.S. Plan will continue to remain in effect 
until the expiration of the holding period of the last 
stock subscribed for by the Employees under the 
International Group Share Purchase Plan as provided in 
Article VIII of the Plan.

11.3	 Change in Air Liquide Group

Employees of any Designated U.S. Subsidiary which 
ceases to be a member of the Air Liquide Group 
will no longer be able to make contributions of any 
kind whatsoever, but they will retain their holdings in 
the U.S. Plan according to the terms and conditions 
of the U.S. Plan, provided that the Designated U.S. 
Subsidiary’s departure from the Air Liquide Group shall 
not constitute an exception to the Holding Period as 
provided in Section 8.3 of the U.S. Plan.

ARTICLE XII – SHARES OF COMMON STOCK
12.1	 Shares Subject to the U.S. Plan
The maximum number of shares of the Company’s 
Common Stock which shall be issued under the 
Employee Share Purchase Plans, including the U.S. 
Plan, shall be 5,500,000 shares. The Board shall 
establish the maximum number of shares which may 
be issued for each offering. If the total number of shares 
with respect to which Subscription Rights are to be 
exercised exceeds the number of shares then available 
under the offering, the Committee, as directed by the 
Board, shall reduce the number of shares subscribed 
for by those Employees who have subscribed for the 
greatest number of shares until the number of shares 
subscribed for no longer exceeds the number of shares 
available for issuance.

12.2	 Employee’s Interest in Stock Subject to 
Subscription Rights
An Employee shall have no interest or voting rights 
in shares covered by Subscription Rights until such 
Subscription Rights have been exercised. Each share 
of Common Stock issued under the U.S. Plan shall have 
the same voting rights as all other shares of common 
stock (or similar equity shares) of the Company.
12.3	 Restrictions on Exercise
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The Committee may, in its discretion, require as 
conditions to the exercise of any Subscription Rights 
that the shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise 
of the Subscription Rights shall have been duly listed, 
upon official notice of issuance, upon a stock exchange, 
and that a Registration Statement under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, with respect to said shares 
shall be effective or an exemption from such registration 
be applicable.

ARTICLE XIII – ADMINISTRATION
13.1 	  Appointment and Authority of Committee
The board of directors of American Air Liquide Holdings, 
Inc. shall designate the Committee to administer the U.S. 
Plan for all Designated U.S. Subsidiaries. The Committee 
shall act in accordance with the guidelines and policies 
adopted by the Board or its delegee with respect to 
the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plans. 
Subject to such guidelines and policies, the Committee 
shall have full and exclusive discretionary authority to 
interpret and construe any and all provisions of the U.S. 
Plan, to adopt, amend and rescind rules and regulations 
for administering the U.S. Plan, and to make all other 
determinations deemed necessary or advisable for 
administering the U.S. Plan, including, without limitation, 
all questions concerning eligibility to participate in and 
Subscription Rights to be received under the U.S. Plan. 
Every finding, decision and determination made by the 
Committee shall, to the full extent permitted by law, be 
final and binding upon all parties.

With respect to each offering, the Committee shall 
adopt such terms and conditions specified by the 
Board or its delegee to implement the International 
Group Share Purchase Plan, these U.S. Regulations 
and the Board decisions. The Committee may adopt 

special guidelines and provisions for any offering at the 
direction of the Board or its delegee, provided that the 
terms of participation shall be applied on a uniform and 
consistent basis to all Employees within each separate 
offering that is intended to qualify under Section 423 
of the Code so that such employees who are granted 
Subscription Rights have the same rights and privileges 
with respect to such Subscription Rights, except 
that an offering may provide that the amount of stock 
which may be purchased by any Employee may bear 
a uniform relationship to the total compensation or the 
basic or regular rate of compensation of Employees 
and the offering may provide for a maximum amount 
of stock that may be purchased. The Committee may, 
at the direction of the Board or its delegee, also adopt 
special guidelines and provisions for persons who are 
residing in, or subject to the laws of, foreign jurisdictions 
to comply with applicable tax and securities laws. The 
Committee may designate any offering as being part of 
the non-Section 423 component of the Plan. An offering 
that is not designated by the Committee in writing as 
being part of the non-Section 423 component of the 
Plan shall be intended to comply with the requirements 
of Section 423 of the Code.

ARTICLE XIV – MISCELLANEOUS
14.1	 Designation of Beneficiary
In the event of an Employee’s death prior to delivery to 
such Employee of shares, the Company shall deliver 
such shares held by it to the executor or administrator 
of the estate of the Employee.



12 REGULATIONS | AIR LIQUIDE

14.2	 Transferability
An Employee’s rights with regard to the exercise of 
Subscription Rights or to receive shares under the 
U.S. Plan may not be assigned, transferred, pledged 
or otherwise disposed of in any way (other than by 
will or the laws of descent and distribution) by the 
Employee, and such rights are exercisable only by the 
Employee during his or her lifetime. Any such attempt at 
assignment, transfer, pledge or other disposition shall 
be without effect.

14.3	 Applicable Law
The U.S. Plan shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware. 

14.4	 No Employment Rights
The U.S. Plan does not, directly or indirectly, create any 
right for the benefit of any Employee to purchase any 
Common Stock under the U.S. Plan, or create in any 
Employee or class of Employees, any right with respect 
to continuation of employment by the Designated U.S. 
Subsidiary employer or its affiliates, and it shall not be 
deemed to interfere in any way with the Designated U.S. 
Subsidiary’s or any other affiliate’s right to terminate, or 
otherwise modify, an Employee’s employment at any 
time.

14.5	 Notices
All notices or other communications by an Employee 
to the Committee under or in connection with the U.S. 
Plan shall be deemed to have been duly given when 
received by the Chairman of the Committee at: General 
Counsel, American Air Liquide Holdings, Inc., 9811 Katy 
Freeway, Suite 100, Houston, TX 77024. Any notices 
or communications by the Committee to an Employee 
shall be deemed given when mailed by regular United 
States mail, first-class and prepaid to the Employee’s 
last known address or sent electronically to the 
Employee’s last known email address.

14.6	 Shareholder Authorization 
The Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plans have 
been adopted by the Board and authorized by the 
shareholders of the Company.

14.7	 Financial Statements to Employees
The Designated U.S. Subsidiary shall provide its 
Employees who participate in the U.S. Plan at least 
annually with financial statements of the Company.

14.8	 U.S. Plan Implementation Costs Each 
Designated U.S. Subsidiary agrees to bear the costs 
of implementation of the U.S. Plan incurred in relation 
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Made in Paris,
On October 11, 2010

Jean-Pierre Duprieu
Senior Vice-President

to its employees. Pursuant to the authority granted 
to him by the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company, the undersigned hereby adopts, on 
behalf of L’Air Liquide S.A., the Air Liquide Group 2009 
Employee Share Purchase Plan Regulations for U.S. 
Employees, as amended re-established under the L’Air 

Liquide S.A. International Group Share Purchase Plan. 
This adoption is made this October 11, 2010 with effect 
from January 1, 2010.
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2
MATERIAL TERMS

DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL TERMS OF THE AIR LIQUIDE GROUP 
EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE 

PLAN 2023 OFFERING

2009 REGULATIONS FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES
(Amended And Restated Effective January 1, 2010)

Offer of shares of stock to employees
To facilitate the worldwide employees of the Air 
Liquide Group becoming shareholders of L’Air 
Liquide S.A. (the “Company”), the Company’s 
Board of Directors (“Board”) has adopted the 
Air Liquide Group Employee Share Purchase 
Plan France and the International Group Share 
Purchase Plan. These plans authorize offerings 
of shares of the Company for sale at a discounted 
price exclusively to Air Liquide Group employees.

The Company has adopted the 2009 Regulations for 
U.S. Employees (as Amended and Restated Effective 
January 1, 2010) (the “U.S. Plan”) to allow employees 
of the Company’s designated U.S. subsidiaries to 
participate in the stock offerings. The U.S. Plan is 
established under the provisions of the Company’s 
International Group Employee Share Purchase Plan 
and, except as provided in the U.S. Plan, is subject 
to the same terms and conditions of the Company’s 
International Group Employee Share Purchase Plan. 
Under the U.S. Plan, employees of the Company’s U.S. 
subsidiaries will be offered the opportunity to purchase 
Company shares at a 15% discounted purchase price. 
The U.S. Plan is intended to qualify as an “employee 
stock purchase plan” under Section 423 of the U.S. 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended 

from time to time, and any regulations thereunder 
(the “Code”), and the U.S. Plan shall be interpreted 
in a manner that is consistent with that intent.

Exercise price
The purchase price per share of the shares is the 
amount listed in the Appendix, which represents 
a 15% discount from the average of the opening 
quotations of the Company’s shares on the Euronext 
Paris stock exchange during the twenty trading 
sessions preceding the date of the decision of the 
Board or its delegee setting the commencement date 
of the subscription period. Although shares of the 
Company are traded in Euros on the Euronext Paris 
Stock Exchange, for purposes of the U.S. offering, the 
discounted purchase price has been converted into 
U.S. dollars based on the Euro-Dollar exchange rate 
on the date listed in the Appendix and will not fluctuate 
during the offer period based on future changes 
in the Euro-Dollar conversion rates. See Exhibit B 
hereto for an illustration of the possible effect of 
changes in the Euro-Dollar exchange rates on the 
potential for gains and losses under the U.S. Plan.

Expected size of offering
The number of Company shares offered for 
sale to employees worldwide during the 2023 



16 MATERIAL TERMS | AIR LIQUIDE

2
subscription period is set forth in the subscription form.
Provisions in the event that the offering is 
oversubscribed
In the event that the offering is oversubscribed, 
subscriptions for those employees who subscribed for 
the greatest number of shares will be reduced until the 
number of shares subscribed for no longer exceeds 
the number of shares available for purchase. In the 
event the offering continues to be oversubscribed 
after such reduction, subscriptions will be reduced 
pro-rata. In this event, each participant will be informed.

Subscription Period
The subscription period will begin and end on the dates 
listed in the Appendix (the “Subscription Period”). In 
order to participate in the U.S. Plan, employees must 
electronically complete an individual subscription 
form on-line by the date listed in the Appendix, the 
end of the Subscription Period. An employee will 
not be eligible to participate in the U.S. Plan if he or 
she does not electronically enroll on- line during 
the Subscription Period. No employee may elect 
to participate in the U.S. Plan prior to receipt of all 
subscription materials in respect of the U.S. Plan.

An employee may cancel his or her participation in the 
U.S. Plan and his or her election to purchase shares of 
the Company if the employee files a notice of withdrawal 
with the person designated to receive such notice 
on or before the last day of the Subscription Period.

Payment terms for the shares
Employees may pay for the shares they purchase in 
one of two ways:

• Payroll deductions, over 12 months; or

- If paying by payroll deductions, the number of 
Company shares subscribed may not exceed an 
amount equal in value to $9,500 minus the amount 
of any other outstanding loans from the employee’s 
employer. Each installment payment made by payroll 
deduction may not exceed 10% of the employee’s net 
monthly salary for the relevant pay period.

• Payment by ACH direct debit
- If paying upfront by ACH direct debit, the number 
of Company shares subscribed may not exceed any 
amount equal in value to the lower of $25,000 or 25% 
of the employee’s gross annual base pay.

• Payment default
Purchases of stock made by employees will become 
irrevocable as of the date listed in the Appendix, the last 
day of the Subscription Period. Should an employee 
(or his or her heir or assignee) default in his or her 
obligation to pay for the shares purchased for any 
reason whatsoever, the employee will be deemed to be 
a shareholder in default and shall no longer be eligible to 
participate in the U.S. Plan.
In the event an employee becomes a shareholder in 
default, following a notice period, his or her employer 
will have the right to sell the employee’s shares on 
the open market and use the proceeds to reduce any 
outstanding balance then owed by the employee. If the 
sale proceeds are less than the outstanding balance 
owed, the employee will be personally liable for any 
remaining amount owed. If the sales proceeds exceed 
the outstanding balance, the employee will receive the 
excess amount, less applicable withholding taxes, as 
soon as practicable.

• Registration of shares
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Once the final list of subscribers and the number of 
shares subscribed for by each subscriber has been 
finalized, the Company will register the shares in 
an account opened in the name of each employee 
subscriber in the Company’s records in the custody 
of the Company’s Shareholders Department in Paris, 
France, or in the records of the Company’s authorized 
agent.
All employees purchasing shares shall be supplied with 
a statement attesting to the registered shares in their 
respective accounts.

Persons Entitled To Buy Shares

• Eligible employees
- Eligible employees must have been employed by an 
Air Liquide Group company that is a member of the 
French Share Purchase Plan (FSPP) or the International 
Group Share Purchase Plan (IGSPP) for at least three 
months during the period between January 1, 2022 and 
November 16, 2023. The three months do not need to 
be consecutive as long as they are in that time period. 
- In addition, the employee must be employed by the 
Company or a direct or indirect eligible subsidiary of the 
Company at the
end of the subscription period, and the employee’s 
employer must have adhered to the Air Liquide 
International Group Share
- Purchase Plan. 
An employee’s participation in the U.S. Plan is entirely 
voluntary. There can be no guarantee that the Company 
shares purchased through the U.S. Plan will increase in 
value.

Terms and Conditions of Application

• Number of shares for which employees are entitled 
to subscribe
The maximum value of shares (equivalent to U.S. dollars 
of the subscription price in Euros) that an employee may 
subscribe for during the Subscription Period may not 
exceed the lower of $25,000 or 25% of an employee’s 
gross annual base pay (see above, however, “Provisions 
in the event of the offering being oversubscribed”).

• Assignment restrictions
Employees cannot transfer or pledge their right to 
purchase Company shares to another individual.

• Holding period for shares
Shares purchased may not be sold for 5 years (ending 
on December 7, 2028), from the date the shares are 
registered in an account for each employee in the 
Company’s Shareholders Department. During the 
holding period, the shares will remain in the registered 
account of the employee and may not be assigned or 
transferred in any manner whatsoever.
However, an employee may sell the shares (provided 
such shares have been fully paid for) prior to the end of 
the holding period under the following circumstances 
as determined by the committee that administers the 
U.S. Plan in its sole discretion:
-   in the event of the death of the employee;
- if the employee ceases to be employed by the 
Company or any affiliate of the Company for any reason;
- if the employee acquires a new primary residence or 
substantially improves his or her primary residence; or
- if the employee experiences a serious financial 
hardship.
These early exit events are defined by French law and 
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must be interpreted and applied in a manner consistent 
with French law. The employee should not conclude 
that an early exit event is available unless they have 
described their specific case to their employer and their 
employer has confirmed that it applies to the situation, 
upon the employee providing the requisite supporting 
documentation.
Employees must present a request for early exit within 
a period of six months after the occurrence of an early 
exit event, except in the event of employee’s death or 
termination of employment (in which case, the request 
may be made at any time). 

• Taxation/Foreign Exchange Rate
See Exhibit A, “U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences,” 
attached. Exhibit B attached illustrates the possible 
effect of changes in the Euro-Dollar exchange rates on 
the potential for gains and losses under the Plan.

Information Material
A copy of the U.S. Plan is included in your offering 
package.

Employees who become shareholders of the Company 
by virtue of participation in the U.S. Plan will receive all the 
documents normally forwarded annually to registered 
shareholders in compliance with legal requirements.

EXHIBIT A : U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX 
CONSEQUENCES 

U.S. Tax overview
The U.S. Plan is intended to comply with the provisions 
of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code (the 

“Code”).

Special Note: As described in the U.S. Plan and the 
Description of Material Terms, shares purchased under 
the U.S. Plan must generally be held for at least five 
(5) years. This is a requirement of the Air Liquide Plan. 
Under certain exceptions (such as death, cessation of 
employment, purchase of or substantial improvement 
to a primary residence, financial hardship), the shares 
may be sold earlier than five years. However, even if you 
qualify for one of such exceptions, in order to receive 
the maximum tax benefits of the U.S. Plan, you would 
need to hold shares purchased under the U.S. Plan 
for at least two (2) years from the date of purchase.

Time of Purchase
Amounts deducted from your paycheck in order to 
purchase shares of common stock of the Company 
under the U.S. Plan are taxable as part of your 
compensation. You are using after-tax dollars to 
purchase these shares. However, under Section 
421(a) of the Code, the purchase of shares under the 
U.S. Plan is not itself a taxable event even though the 
purchase price for the shares may be less than market 
price for the shares on the date of purchase. That is, 
the difference between the market price on the date of 
purchase and the purchase price — the 15% discount 
and any “additional discount” (described below) — is 
not taxable at the time of purchase.

Sales at Market Price of Shares Purchased Under 
the U.S. Plan
• Shares held for two (2) years or more - Qualifying 
Disposition
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If you sell shares that were purchased under the U.S. 
Plan which you have held for two (2) years or more after 
the date of purchase:
-	 Any profit up to the amount of the 15% discount 
(or, if lower, the excess of the fair market value of the 
shares on the date of sale over the purchase price) will 
be taxable as ordinary income, and any additional profit 
over the amount of the 15% discount will be taxable as a 
long-term capital gain;
- Any loss will be treated as a long-term capital loss.

Example — This example illustrates the tax 
consequences in U.S. dollars. Since you are purchasing 
shares which trade in Euros, the illustrations assume 
that the value of shares purchased and sold under 
the U.S. Plan has been converted to U.S. dollars. 
The possible effect of changes in the Euro-Dollar 
exchange rates on the potential for gains and 
losses under the U.S. Plan is attached as Exhibit B.

For purposes of this example, a participating employee 
purchases a share for $110.50 when the market price 
is $130.00 (i.e., the 15% discount is equal to $19.50) 
and the market value of the stock at the end of the 
subscription period is $135.00. The shares are sold 
after the requisite two-year holding period has expired.

• Shares held for less than two (2) years - 
Disqualifying Disposition
If you sell shares that were purchased under the U.S. 
Plan that you have held for less than two (2) years after 
the date of purchase:

- The full amount of the 15% discount and any “additional 
discount” (i.e., any increase in the fair market value of 
the stock from the beginning of the subscription period 
through the end of the subscription period) will be 
taxable as ordinary income in the year of sale (regardless 
of the market price of the shares at the time of sale). Any 
appreciation after the end of the subscription period 
will be taxable as a capital gain (short-term or long-term 
depending on how long you have held the stock);
- Any loss, after including the amount of the 15% discount 
and any additional discount as ordinary income, will be 
treated as a capital loss.
Example — As noted above, these illustrations assume 
that share prices are converted from Euros to dollars.
For purposes of this example, a participating employee 
purchases a share for $110.50 when the market 
price is $130.00 (i.e., the 15% discount is equal to 
$19.50) and the market value of the stock at the end 
of the subscription period is $135.00. Accordingly, the 
“additional discount” is equal to $5.00, which is the 
difference between the fair market value at the end of 
the subscription period and the fair market value at the 
beginning of the subscription period. The share is sold 
before the requisite holding periods have expired.

      
        SAME	
  	

HIGHER    LOWER LOWER

 SALES PRICE $130.00  $140.00  $120.00 $100.00

Purchase Price
(Discounted
Subscription Price)

    $110.50  $ 110.00   $110.50 $ 110.50

Total gain (loss)  $19.50   $ 29.50   $9.50   $ (10.50)

Ordinary income $19.50  $19.50      $9.50    $ -

Long-term capital gain 
(loss)    $-   $10.00 $ $ (10.50)
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Shares of stock must have been held for more than one 
year in order for the capital gain portion to qualify for 
favorable long-term capital gain treatment. The capital 
gain portion for shares held for one year or less will 
be taxed at short-term capital gain or loss rates upon 
disposition of the shares.		   
Disposition Other Than by Sale If you make a gift of or 
otherwise dispose of your shares within two (2) years 
of purchase under the U.S. Plan, the full amount of the 
15% discount and any “additional discount” will be taxed 
as ordinary income to you in the year of disposition 
under the rules noted above for shares held less than 
two years. A disposition two (2) years or more after 
purchase may also result in tax but the amount of the 
discount that is taxed as ordinary income will be limited 
to the lesser of the 15% discount or the amount by which 
the fair market value at the time of disposition exceeds 
the purchase price.

• Death of an Employee
Upon the death of an employee prior to disposing of 
shares purchased under the U.S. Plan, the tax return 
for the year of death must include as ordinary income 
the lesser of the amount of the full 15% discount or the 
amount by which the market value at death exceeds 

the purchase price. If such an amount is required to be 
included in the tax return in the year of death, an estate 
tax deduction may be available to the estate of the 
deceased employee.

• Dividends
“Qualified dividend income” received by an individual 
shareholder from either a domestic corporation or 
a “qualified foreign corporation” is subject to tax at 
the reduced rates applicable to certain capital gains, 
provided that certain holding period requirements 
are satisfied and none of certain exceptions apply. 
Air Liquide S.A. should constitute a qualified foreign 
corporation and accordingly dividends paid by Air 
Liquide S.A. should be eligible for the reduced tax rates 
imposed on dividends provided that you meet the 
holding period requirements.

Tax Rate Increases
Federal tax rates in effect on the date that you sell 
shares may be substantially higher than on the date 
you purchase shares. State and local tax rates may also 
increase.

• FATCA & Bank Secrecy Act
An employee holding shares of the Company, whether 
acquired under the U.S. Plan or otherwise, may be 
required to file a report of Specified Foreign Financial 
Assets on IRS Form 8938 as part of the employee’s 
annual U.S. tax return listing certain non-U.S. assets 
owned by the employee that exceed certain reporting 
thresholds. The report is required under the Foreign 
Account Tax Compliance Act known as “FATCA.” 
Shares of the Company are included among the non-
U.S. assets that may need to be reported. There are 
substantial penalties for failure to file a timely Form 
8938. 

      
        SAME	
  	

HIGHER    LOWER LOWER

 Sales Price $130.00  $140.00  $120.00 $100.00

Total gain (loss)     $19.50  $ 29.50   $ 9.50 $ (10.50)

Ordinary income - - -   -

15% Discount $19.50  $19.50      $19.50   $19.50  

Add’l. Discount    $5.00 $5.00 $5.50 $ 5.50

Capital gain (loss) $5.00 $5.00 $(15.00) $(35.00

Net Tax Impact $19.50 $29,50 $950 $(10.00)
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In addition, the Bank Secrecy Act requires U.S. persons 
who own a foreign bank account, brokerage account, 
mutual fund, unit trust, or other financial account 
to file a FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank 
and Financial Accounts (FBAR) annually with the 
Department of Treasury, if: (1) the person has a financial 
interest in, signature authority over, or other authority 
over one or more accounts in a foreign country, and 
(2) the aggregate value of all foreign financial accounts 
exceeds $10,000 at any time during thecalendar year. 
Foreign securities held in accounts maintained by 
U.S. financial institutions generally do not need to be 
counted against the filing thresholds for Form 8938 
and FBAR. Depending on the custody arrangements 
that the Company establishes for shares purchased in 
the offering, you may be required to take account of the 
value of your purchased shares in determining whether 
you are required to file Form 8938, FinCEN Form 114 or 
both. You should consult your tax advisor to make any 
determinations with 
respect to these filing obligations.

French Tax overview

• Dividends
Under new French tax rules (in force since January 1st, 
2018), dividends paid by the Company to non-residents 
of France are generally subject to French withholding 
tax, which rate is generally 12.8%, unless they are 
paid to a bank account opened in a Non-Cooperative 
State or Territory (NCST)1 which would trigger a 75% 
withholding tax in France.
This withholding tax is withheld by the company paying 
dividends.

(1)The list of NCSTs can be modified each year. The 
states and territories qualifying as NCSTs are currently 
the following: Anguilla,   Bahamas, British Virgin Islands, 
Panama, Seychelles, Turks and Caicos Island and 
Vanuatu.

• Sale or Exchange
Under the treaty, a U.S. resident will generally not 
be subject to French tax on any capital gain from 
the redemption or sale or exchange of shares of the 
Company. Special rules apply to individuals who are 
residents of more than one country.

The preceding discussion is only a general summary 
of certain U.S. and French income tax consequences 
arising from the purchase and disposition of Company 
common stock pursuant to the U.S. Plan by employees 
who participate in the U.S. Plan. It is suggested that 
you obtain competent professional advice regarding 
the application of tax laws to your particular situation, 
particularly French tax law. Moreover, the above 
summary relates primarily to United States income 
taxation. Employees subject to state or local income 
taxation or to taxation in foreign jurisdictions may 
have different tax consequences, either more or less 
favorable from those described above. Such employees 
should seek competent professional advice regarding 
the applicability of state, local or foreign tax laws.
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EXHIBIT B

EXAMPLES OF THE EFFECT OF CHANGES IN THE EURO-U.S.
 DOLLAR EXCHANGE RATES UPON THE SALE OF ONE SHARE

Subscription 
Purchase 

Price

Market Share 
Price in Euros €100

Less:15% 
discount

15 Example A Example B Example C Example D Example E Example F Example G Example H

Subscription 
Price in Euros €85 €85 €85 €100 €100 €100 €70 €70 €70

Change in 
Share Price, 

Gain or (Loss) 
in Euros

No Change No Change €15 €15 €15 -€15 -€15 -€15

One Euro = 
U.S. Dollars $1.10 $1.00 $1.32 $1.10 $0.94 $0.90 $1.10 $1.34 $1.40

Change in 
Exchange 

Rate

Euro
 Weakens

Euro 
Strengthens No change

Euro
 Weakens

Euro
 Weakens No change

Euro 
Strengthens

Euro Strength-
ens

Share Price in
U.S. Dollars $93.50 $85.00 $112.20 $110.00 $93.50 $90.00 $77.00 $93.50 $98.00

U.S. Dollar 
Gain or (Loss) 
before taxes

($8.50) $18.70 $16.50 $0.00 ($3.50) $16.50) $0.00 $4.50

€ = Euros • $ = U.S. Dollars •  * Purchase Price includes 15 percent discount
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Example A
Should the share price in Euros remain unchanged and 
the Euro weakens against the U.S. Dollar during the 
holding period, there may be a gross loss in U.S. Dollars.

Example B
Should the share price in Euros remain unchanged but 
the Euro strengthens against the U.S. Dollar during the 
holding period, there may be a gross gain during the 
holding period.

Example C
Should the share price increase in Euros and the 
exchange rate of Euro against U.S. dollar remain the 
same during the holding period, there may be a gross 
gain in U.S. Dollars.

Example D
Should the share price increase in Euros and the Euro 
weakens against the U.S. Dollar during the holding 
period, there may be no gross loss or gain in U.S.Dollars.

Example E
Should the share price increase in Euros and the Euro 
weakens against the U.S. Dollar even more than in 
Example D during the holding period, there may be a 
gross loss in U.S. Dollars.

Example F
Should the share price decrease in Euros and the 
exchange rate between the Euro and the U.S. Dollar 
remains unchanged during the holding period, there may 
be a gross loss in U.S. Dollars during the holding period.

Example G
Should the share price decrease in Euros but the Euro 
strengthens against the U.S. Dollar, there may be no 
gross gain or loss.

Example H
Should the share price decrease in Euros but the Euro 
strengthens against the U.S. Dollar even more than in 
example G, there may be a gross gain in U.S. Dollars.
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APPENDIX to Description   of   MATERIAL   TERMS 
of the Air Liquide Group Employee Share Purchase 
Plan 2009 Regulations for U.S. Employees

2023 Subscription Price

The purchase price per share will be the average of 
the opening of the Company’s shares in the Euronext 
Paris Stock exchange during the twenty trading 
sessions preceding the date on which the subscription 
price will be set, which is expected to occur on 
October 30, 2023, minus 15%. The purchase price 
will be converted into U.S. dollars based on the Euro–
Dollar exchange rate prior to the subscription period.

2023 Subscription Period

The subscription period will begin on November 6, 
2023 and will end on November 16, 2023, at 12:00 PM 
(Paris Time) 6:00 AM ET / 5:00 AM (Houston Time). 
If you choose to subscribe, do so online at https://
myalmyshare2023.airliquide.com/usa using the 
personal login and password supplied in the packet 
sent via email or mailed to your home. If you need 
your username and password sent to you again, 
please send an email to us-espp@airliquide.com.
Note that subscription is only possible 
online. Your HR representative is available to 
assist you in making the online subscription.
A Notice of Withdrawal form must be filed by November 
16, 2023 noon Paris Time, in order for an employee to 
cancel his or her participation in the U.S. Plan and his 
or her election to purchase shares of the Company.
Payment Terms for Shares
Payroll deductions in equal installments will begin in 
January 2024, and will end on or about December 
31, 2024, depending upon the frequency at which the 

individual employee is paid. Shares paid for by payroll 
deductions must be fully paid no later than December 
31, 2024.

Payment Default
Purchases of stock will become irrevocable on 
November 16, 2023, the last day of the 2023 
Subscription Period, at 12:00 PM (Paris Time) / 6:00 
AM ET / 5:00 AM (Houston Time).

Eligible Employees
- Eligible employees must have been employed by an 
Air Liquide Group company that is a member of the 
French Share Purchase Plan (FSPP) or the International 
Group Share Purchase Plan (IGSPP) for at least three 
months during the period between January 1, 2022 and 
November 16, 2023. The three months do not need to 
be consecutive as long as they are in that time period. 

Should you have any questions, please contact the 
resources below:

Air Liquide Resources:

• airliquide.service-now.com/esc?id=esc_al_sc_home
• Your HR representative	
• https://myalmyshare2023.airliquide.com/usa

Airgas Resources:

• Email us-espp@airliquide.com
• Your local HR representative
• https://myalmyshare2023.airliquide.com/usa
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RISK FACTORS

The Group identifies the risk factors to which it is 
exposed using a formal risk management approach. 
This presentation of risk factors and related 
management measures is based on the reference 
framework of the internal control and risk management 
system, developed under the supervision of the French 
financial markets authority (AMF). It was prepared with 
contributions from several departments (particularly 
Finance, Sustainable Development, Group Control and 
Compliance, Legal, Safety and Industrial Systems, etc.).

The risks presented below, at the date of the 2022 
Universal Registration Document, are the risks that 
the Group considers may have a significant negative 
impact on its business, results, outlook, or reputation, 
should they occur. The list of these risks is, however, not 
exhaustive and other risks, unknown at the date of this 
document, could occur and have a negative effect on 
the Group’s business.

As part of its risk management approach, the Group is 
committed to regularly assessing the risks and reducing 
the likelihood that 

they will occur or their potential impact by implementing 
internal control and risk management procedures, as 
well as formalized and specific action plans. These 
procedures, as well as the Group’s codes and policies, 
are included in a global reference manual, called the 
BlueBook, which is the cornerstone of the Group’s 
internal control system and risk management.

Risk factors are presented below as net risks (taking into 
account management measures already implemented) 
and divided into categories according to their nature. 
In each category, the most significant risk factors are 
presented first (in bold).

Although the risk categories have not been listed in order 
of importance, the two most significant specific risks for 
the Air Liquide Group are both related to its business: 
these are industrial risks and industrial investment-
related risks.

IMPACTS RELATED TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Since early 2020, the health crisis related to the global 
spread of covid-19 has increased some risk factors. As 
a result, the Group has applied adapted management 
measures in each country and each business.
2022 saw the pandemic stabilize while remaining 
active, particularly in Asia, with an uneven global 
economic recovery. In this context, in 2022 the Group 
maintained the crisis management system put in place 
at the beginning of 2020, with adaptations (notably 
with operational business continuity plans and remote 
working). The Group has also capitalized on the transfer 
of experience between geographies.
The impact of the pandemic is not of a nature to call 
into question the scope and classification of the Group-
specific risk factors as presented in the 2022 Universal 
Registration Document. 



28 RISK FACTORS | AIR LIQUIDE

3
IMPACTS RELATED TO THE MILITARY CONFLICT 
BETWEEN RUSSIA AND UKRAINE

Like the health crisis, the military conflict between 
Russia and Ukraine increases some of the Group’s 
risks or specific categories of risks. As a reminder, 
prior to the start of the conflict, Air Liquide’s presence 
in Ukraine was limited to commercial and engineering 
representation for the Engineering & Construction 
business. The Group’s revenue generated in Russia 
in 2021 was less than 1% of the Group’s consolidated 
revenue.
In the 3rd quarter of 2022, Air Liquide confirmed 
its intention to withdraw from Russia. As part of a 
responsible and orderly approach, the Group signed 
a letter of intent with the local executive management 
team to transfer its businesses in Russia to this team 
in the form of an MBO (Management Buy Out). The 
completion of this project remains subject to the 
approval of the Russian authorities. At the same time, 
due to the changing geopolitical context and local 
constraints, the Group’s activities in Russia are no 
longer consolidated since September 1, 2022. 
The financial impacts are detailed in note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements included in the 2022 
Universal Registration Document.  
In this context, the Group has applied management 
measures adapted to each type of activity, including in 
particular:

• Human Resources management-related risks: in  in 
Ukraine, although the business is at a standstill, the Group 
has reorganized the work of its employees towards 
projects outside the country thanks to the use of digital 
tools. External listening and telephone support systems 
have been set up to provide psychological support to 
employees interested in such assistance. A certain 

number of humanitarian initiatives have been initiated 
and/or supported by the Group, in particular thanks 
to the commitment of employees through the “Citizen 
at Work” program and the Air Liquide Foundation.

• Industrial investment-related risks: in 2022, the 
Group’s global operations were little affected by the 
conflict between Ukraine and Russia. Air Liquide 
complies strictly with international sanctions.

• Risks related to supplies: electricity and natural gas 
are the main raw materials used in the production units. 
These two energies are impacted by an unprecedented 
increase in their prices and high volatility. Contracts with 
major customers are indexed to the price of energy, 
which considerably limits the impact on the Group’s 
results. However, the consequences of the conflict in 
Ukraine expose the European entities (mainly German, 
Dutch and Belgian) to a risk of natural gas rationing. 
Air Liquide’s teams are continuously monitoring the 
situation (storage levels, financial robustness of its 
suppliers, potential impacts on its customers, alternative 
raw materials (naphtha), etc.). In anticipation of any 
interruption in gas supplies, Air Liquide is implementing 
action plans in collaboration with its suppliers and 
customers. Furthermore, some customers may be 
forced to shut down their activities due to a lack of 
energy for their plants and processes. The current 
conflict has also had an impact on the availability of 
certain molecules (such as krypton and xenon). As far as 
possible, the Group has reorganized its logistics flows 
to be able to supply its customers from other sources.

• Digital risks: in the current context of the conflict in 
Ukraine, which is conducive to cyberattacks, the Group 
has stepped up preventive actions such as intrusion 
tests on industrial and management systems, and 
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campaigns to raise awareness among teams about 
the risk of phishing.

• Regulatory and legal risks: in response to the 
conflict i in response to the conflict in Ukraine, 
sanctions have been put in place against Russia and 
Belarus, in particular by the United States, Europe, 
the United Kingdom and Canada. These sanctions 
have been followed up by countermeasures from the 
Russian government. The Group’s specialist teams 
are monitoring these developments. They regularly 

inform the operational entities and support them 
in ensuring compliance with applicable laws. The 
Group seeks the opinions of external advisors and the 
validation of the French authorities, when necessary.

Although this crisis increases the probability and 
impact of the aforementioned risk factors, it is 
not of a nature to call into question the scope and 
classification of the Group-specific risks as presented 
in the 2022 Universal Registration Document.

Risk categories

Industrial risks

Industrial investment-related risks

Energy sourcing-related risks

Risks relating to the design and construction of production 

units

Innovation-related risks

Human Resources management-related risks

Customer risks

Counterparty and liquidity risks

Foreign exchange risks

Interest rate risks

Tax risks

Digital risks

Climate risks: greenhouse gas emissions

Climate risks: physical impact on Operations

Societal risks (discrimination-related)

Geopolitical risks

Regulatory and legal risks

Risk factors

Business-related risks

Financial risks

Digital risks

Environmental and societal risks

Geopolitical, regulatory and legal risks
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BUSINESS-RELATED RISKS

The industrial gas business is characterized by a signif-
icant technology content (both in the design phase and 
the construction of production units), local production 
units, high capital intensity, and substantial energy re-
quirements.

Various risks are associated with these characteristics. 
They are mitigated by various factors, which include pri-
marily the diversity of industries and customers served 
by the Group, the multiple gas applications that it offers 
them, as well as the large number of geographical loca-
tions in which it operates. In addition, a significant share 
of business is subject to contracts, a strict investment 
project authorization and management process, and a 
tailored energy policy.

1.1. 	 INDUSTRIAL RISKS

Identification and description of risks
Industrial risks are linked to the various industrial prod-
ucts, processes and distribution methods implemented 
by the Group. They are distributed over a large number 
of local production sites.

• Over and above the usual risks inherent in all industrial 
activities, Air Liquide’s businesses entail more specific 
risks relating to:
• products: the intrinsic properties of industrial gases 
manufactured, transformed or packaged by the Group 
classifies them in the dangerous materials category; the 
use of these industrial gases requires specific means of 
control and protection in order to prevent risks such as: 
– anoxia, associated with inert gases,
– over-oxygenation or fires, associated with oxygen 
and oxygen mixtures;
processes and their operation: 
• cryogenics is used to separate gases by distillation, 

store them and transport them. This very low-tempera-
ture technique is connected with a risk of cryogenic 
burns from liquefied gases,
– likewise, high-temperature techniques, which are 
used in particular in the production of hydrogen, are 
particularly exposed to risks of burns, fire or explosions,
– in addition, pressure is central to the Group’s process-
es. Pressurized equipment must be designed with safe-
ty devices which limit the risk of accidents caused by an 
uncontrolled increase of pressure;
• logistics and transportation: each year, delivery vehi-
cles, sales staff and technicians travel hundreds of mil-
lions of kilometers. Non-compliance with the traffic reg-
ulations or the lack of regular maintenance of vehicles 
would expose drivers and third parties to increased 
risks of accidents. In addition, industrial sites use a lot 
of motorized lifting equipment, which presents specific 
risks (collision, falling cylinders, etc.). Training and certi-
fication are thus required to operate them;
• engineering and construction: industrial risks are fac-
tored in and must commence at the design phase of 
future installations. During the construction phase, the 
lack of a strict accident prevention framework would af-
fect the coordination among the various stakeholders 
and expose teams to risks of accidents;
• delivery reliability: the Group is exposed to the risk of 
faults in the systems supplying gas to customers, which 
could lead to a disruption to supply, in terms of quality or 
volumes;
• any failure to comply with specific standards and 
regulations, in particular in Healthcare, with the risk of 
non-compliance of products and services provided to 
customers and patients.



RISK FACTORS |  AIR LIQUIDE 31

3
1.2. 	 INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENT-RELATED 
RISKS
Identification and description of risks

The Group may be exposed to risks specific to its 
industrial investments. Each investment project may 
be affected, particularly in its profitability, by the impact 
of inflation, different factors linked primarily to project 
location and assessment of the local context, customer 
quality, good project management by the customer, and 
particularly the respect of implementation schedules, 
the competitiveness of the site, the environmental 
footprint or societal impact of the project, as well 
as the relevance of the design, the maturity of cost 
estimates, quality, and meeting construction deadlines 
and budgets for gas production units, including for 
suppliers.

Moreover, in new emerging markets such as those 
related to energy transition, the Group may be exposed, 
in addition to the above-mentioned risks, to risks related 
to the degree of maturity of some of these market 
segments or in certain geographies.

1.3. 	 ENERGY SOURCING-RELATED RISKS
Identification and description of risks

Electricity and natural gas are the main raw materials 
used by production units. Their availability is thus 
essential to the Group. Where the local market permits, 
Group subsidiaries secure the energy sourcing 
through medium- to long-term supply commitments 
and competitive bidding scenarios with local suppliers 
with the objective of achieving the most reliable and 
competitive energy costs, with a low‑carbon footprint, 
available on the market.

Risks to which the Group is exposed when sourcing 
raw materials relate to:

• nergy supply (access and reliability, in particular 
counterparty risk, etc.);
• volumes (non-compliance with obligations and 
commitments on volumes, etc.);
• prices (volatility, competitiveness, etc.);
• compliance with current regulations (market 
transparency rules, Sapin 2 Law, etc.);
• changes in local regulations on energy and its 
deregulation;
• their carbon footprint.

Financial risk relating to raw materials is described 
in note 25.1 to the consolidated financial statements 
included in the 2022 Universal Registration Document.

Moreover, and in addition to energy, the Group may be 
temporarily exposed to supply shortages for certain 
molecules which are only produced at a limited number 
of sites, in particular with worldwide reach, such as 
helium and rare gases.
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1.4. 	 RISKS RELATING TO THE DESIGN AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF PRODUCTION UNITS
Identification and description of risks

Air Liquide’s engineering team designs and builds 
production units worldwide which are primarily 
intended for Group investments, but also for third-party 
customers.

As these projects generally extend over several years, 
they are exposed, at their various stages, to risks 
relating to design, purchasing, transport or construction 
and more generally the overall quality, schedule and 
costs. Risks relating to these projects are often greater 
during the construction phase, in particular for turnkey 
projects:

• the quality and delivery times for critical equipment, 
on the one hand, and on-site construction costs and 
deadlines on the other may give rise to project start-up 
setbacks and impact project profitability;
• unexpected technical difficulties may also arise, 
in particular when a new innovative process is 
implemented;
• certain projects are located in regions of the world that 
may be a source of specific political or economic risks.

1.5. 	 INNOVATION-RELATED RISKS

1.5.1. 	 Technology-related risks
Identification and description of risks

The Group operates in a fast-moving environment, with 
the emergence of new products, new players, new 
business models and new technologies, thus creating a 
strong need for technological developments in its main 
markets, such as hydrogen energy or even Healthcare. 
These changes may impact the Group’s activities or its 
position in a market. The Group’s growth possibilities, 
therefore, depend on its ability to respond to this 

change over time.

In terms of digital technologies, the Group is facing 
remarkable transformation challenges with possible 
impacts on its business model, its organization and, 
ultimately, its competitiveness. The risk to which the 
Group is exposed is linked in particular to the rapid 
increase in the nature and volume, availability, security 
and quality of data, whether from customers and 
patients or its own assets

1.5.2. 	 Intellectual property-related risks

Identification and description of risks

The global environment shows particular interest in 
intellectual property as well as, in certain jurisdictions, 
greater attention to the protection of trade secrets. 
The Group’s business is not significantly dependent on 
technologies patented by third parties; it relies mainly 
on technologies, processes, designs and software 
developed internally, in particular by its Innovation, 
Digital & IT, Engineering & Construction teams, its World 
Business Lines, and Operations teams. Innovation 
is also increasingly achieved in partnership with 
third parties; the Group develops certain innovative 
businesses through partnerships, buying shares in 
innovative entities, or acquisitions.

Limitations on the Group’s ability to protect, retain or 
enforce its intellectual property rights, including its 
trade secrets, could result in a loss of revenue and any 
competitive advantage that the Group holds. Third 
parties may also be able to develop an independent 
technology similar to that of Air Liquide without infringing 
its intellectual property rights or having access to its 
trade secrets, which could harm the Group’s financial 
position or profitability.

Air Liquide, through its technologies, processes, 
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designs and software, always makes sure to respect 
the intellectual property rights of others. If a third 
party claims otherwise and in the event of litigation, 
regardless of the merits, such claims generally result 
in significant legal costs, including potential damage 
to the Group’s reputation. Risks may also arise in the 
treatment of confidential information, including trade 
secrets, of third parties in the Group’s day-to-day 
operational activities or the context of collaborations.

1.6.  HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 
RELATED RISKS 

Identification and description of risks

The long-term performance of the Air Liquide Group 
is driven, in particular, by the quality of its employees, 
their skills and their commitment.

In its businesses, the Group aims to:

• attract and maintain the required skills at the right time 
and in the right place, in particular in markets where 
the Group is expanding its activities, or in geographies 
where the employment market is strained;
• develop skills, in particular with the digitization of its 
businesses and the emergence of new skills (data 
science and artificial intelligence, etc.) and new 
professions (Hydrogen).

The corresponding risks would arise, in particular, from 
shortcomings in:

• the level or quality of training;
• the management of careers and opportunities; and
• the recognition of performances and contributions, in 
particular in certain areas of expertise.
In addition to risks relating to skills management, 
psycho-social risks may also affect the health and level 
of commitment of Group employees, in particular in the 

recent context where remote working has been rapidly 
implemented during periods of lockdown.
Furthermore, Air Liquide contributes to economic 
and social growth in the 73 countries () where it 
operates through its technical, industrial, medical and 
economic activities. The Group, therefore, identifies 
and applies the applicable laws and regulations, in 
particular in terms of working conditions and freedom 
of association.

1.7. 	 CUSTOMER RISKS

Identification and description of risks
The primary customer risk is the risk of bankruptcy or 
closure of a customer’s production site.
More generally, the business of some of the Group’s 
customers may be interrupted following natural or 
man-made disasters, including those resulting from 
changes in weather conditions, pandemics, climate 
change, or following major political events.
The amount of operating receivables as well as 
provisions for doubtful receivables are shown in note 
17 “Trade receivables” to the consolidated financial 
statements included in the 2022 Universal Registration 
Document.

2. 	 FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group’s financial policy sets out the management 
principles for the financial risks to which its business 
is exposed. In this context, the Group has defined and 
regularly reviews the terms of the financial procedures 
which forbid speculative transactions notably on 
financial instruments.

Financial decision-making governance is the 
responsibility of the two Finance Committees 
(Strategic Finance Committee and Operational 
Finance Committee), with the former considering 
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issues relating to the financing strategy and the latter 
dealing with the practical methods of its implementation.

2.1. 	 COUNTERPARTY AND LIQUIDITY RISKS
Identification and description of risks

Counterparty risk primarily relates to trade receivables, 
outstanding amounts on short-term investments and 
derivative hedging instruments, and to credit facilities 
contracted with each bank.

Trade receivables risks relate to receivables on the 
balance sheet that may remain unpaid in the long term, 
in particular in the event of the financial hardship of a 
customer.

Investment risk is mainly related to short-term deposits 
in the event that one of the Group’s key banks defaults 
and, to a lesser extent, an impairment loss due to the 
use of monetary funds for a portion of the portfolio.

Hedging derivative risk relates to the positive market 
value of transactions which would be lost in the event 
of the default of one or more counterparties, and the 
need to substitute new hedges under potentially less 
favorable conditions.

Finally, the main risk related to credit facilities is that the 
facility is unavailable in the case of a drawdown.
Note 25.1 to the consolidated financial statements 
included in the 2022 Universal Registration Document 
describes counterparty and liquidity risk for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. 

Notes 17.1 and 17.2 to the consolidated financial 
statements included in the 2022 Universal Registration 
Document provide a breakdown of trade and other 
operating receivables and allowances for doubtful 
receivables 

2.2. 	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS
Identification and description of risks

The Group, due to its international presence, is naturally 
exposed to foreign currency fluctuations with, on one 
hand, a transaction risk and, on the other hand, a risk 
relating to the translation of its financial statements into 
euros (the Group’s reporting currency).

Foreign exchange transaction risk relates, on one 
hand, to the foreign currency commercial cash flows 
of operating entities and, on the other hand, cash flows 
arising from royalties, technical support and dividends.
Translation risk relates to the publication of the Group’s 
financial statements in euros from the entities’ financial 
statements in local currencies, without an impact on the 
profitability of the Group’s businesses.

Note 24.5 to the consolidated financial statements 
included in the 2022 Universal Registration Document 
presents net debt by currency and note 25.1 to the 
consolidated financial statements included in the 2022 
Universal Registration Document describes the foreign 
exchange risk management process, as well as the 
derivative instruments used and sensitivity to foreign 
currency exchange rates.

Furthermore, the Group provides a natural hedge and 
reduces its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations by 
raising debt in the currency of the cash flows generated 
to repay the debt. Thus, financing is raised either in local 
currency or, when sales contracts are indexed in euros 
or US dollars, in foreign currency (EUR or USD).

2.3. 	 INTEREST RATE RISKS
Identification and description of risks

The interest rate risk is mainly linked to the fluctuation of 
future cash flows on debt when the rate is variable.
In case of a significant increase in interest rates upon 
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future renewals of bonds, the Group may find itself 
obliged to devote a more significant portion of cash 
flows from its operational activities to service its debt.
Note 24.3 to the consolidated financial statements 
included in the 2022 Universal Registration Document 
–presents the fixed-rate portion of debt and note 25.1 to 
the consolidated financial statements included in the 
2022 Universal Registration Document describes the 
sensitivity of the Group’s financial expenses to interest 
ra to interest rate fluctuations and the interest rate 
repricing schedule for fixed-rate debt and interest rate 
risk hedging instruments.

2.4. 	 TAX RISKS
Identification and description of risks

The Group is exposed to tax risk in certain countries, 
due to changes in applicable regulations, which may 
have an impact on its activities or its results. This risk 
may arise from:

• unfavorable changes in local or international 
regulations;
• challenges in the application of current regulations or 
standards;
• errors when completing tax returns;
• regular audits by tax authorities which could lead to 
disagreements over the interpretation of facts.

3. 	 DIGITAL RISKS
3.1. 	 DIGITAL RISKS
Identification and description of risks
The Group’s activities, expertise and, more generally, 
its relations with all the stakeholders (suppliers, 
customers, banks, communities of experts, etc.) 
depend on increasingly dematerialized and digitized 
operations. These operations rely on interdependent 
information systems and communication networks 
both in functional, technical, as well as human level 
terms.

The Group’s pursuit of this digital acceleration increases 
its exposure to risks relating to data integrity, availability, 
security and confidentiality as well as the availability of 
IT systems and applications. For data confidentiality, 
the increase in expectations and requirements for 
protection also adds the risk of regulatory non-
compliance.

These risks, which impact all economic and political 
players, are increasing in intensity due to the severity 
and frequency of digital attacks and to their changing 
nature (historically, cyber risks constituted industrial 
espionage or data hacking and have come to involve 
the risks of cyber criminality, malware and ransomware, 
where the user often plays a decisive role). These 
attacks, which spread at high velocity, have the potential 
to affect all of the Group’s regions and businesses, 
with significant impacts on its industrial processes 
(disturbance of production or distribution activities), 
its capacity for communication, notably internal, and 
its image (digital identity theft, dissemination of false 
information, etc.).

The increase in remote working and the changing 
geopolitical environment also expose the Group to 
potential cyberattacks.

4 	 Environmental and societal risks
4.1. 	 ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS
4.1.1. 	 Climate risks: greenhouse gas emissions

Identification and description of risks
Air Liquide’s business model is based on the outsourcing 
of the industrial gas needs of its customers who often 
emit greenhouse gases themselves, in particular in 
the metals, chemicals and refining industries. This 
outsourcing is justified by Air Liquide’s expertise 
which allows to optimize the energy consumption 
of production tools and favors low-carbon energy 
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procurement. However, it leads to the transfer of a 
portion of the customer’s greenhouse gas emissions to 
the Group.
Almost 85% of Air Liquide’s large production units are 
Air Separation Units, which do not use any combustion 
processes and therefore do not emit CO2 and consume 
almost exclusively electrical energy. Electricity used 
by the Group to power these units generate CO2 
emissions at electricity suppliers; such emissions are 
classified as indirect emissions (Scope 2).
The Group’s two other main CO2-emitting activities 
are hydrogen production and co-generation. These 
account for nearly 15% of large production units and 
use combustion processes emitting CO2, known as 
direct emissions (Scope 1).
In this respect, the climate risk (greenhouse gas 
emissions) is closely linked to the access to renewable 
electricity sources and implementation by public 
authorities of greenhouse gas emission reduction 
policies such as, for example, the introduction of a 
carbon price or more stringent regulations, that may 
impact:
either the Group’s plants (direct impact on the 
operational scope), resulting in increased production 
costs and the need for new investments;
or those of its suppliers, resulting in price increases;
or customers (indirect impact on the value chain), 
impacting, for instance, their market, processes and 
industrial gases needs.
Air Liquide is present in regions across the globe that 
have implemented or are in the process of implementing 
greenhouse gas emissions trading schemes. If the share 
of emissions covered by free allowances decreases, 
the Group may be required to introduce compensatory 
measures. It should be noted that long-term contracts 
foresee a transfer of CO2 costs to customers.

4.1.2. 	 Climate risks: physical impact on Operations
Air Liquide operates in certain regions of the world 
exposed to changes (in amplitude or frequency) in 

exceptional meteorological phenomena due to climate 
change. These phenomena can slow down or interrupt 
the Group’s operations or make them more expensive. 
Its suppliers and customers are also confronted with 
this same issue.

A distinction is made between: 

• acute risks triggered by events such as natural 
disasters, the frequency and severity of which are 
increasing: storms, hurricanes, flooding, etc. These 
risks may relate to Air Liquide sites located near the 
coast for example, or in regions affected by hurricanes 
(the Gulf Coast, South Asia, etc.);
• chronic risks related to more long-term changes in 
climate models and rising temperatures: rising sea 
levels, chronic heat waves in certain regions, changes 
in rainfall patterns and an increase in their variability, the 
disappearance of certain resources, etc.

4.2. SOCIETAL RISKS (DISCRIMINATION-RELATED 
RISKS)
Identification and description of risks
Air Liquide operates businesses in a large number of 
countries with different cultures. It is therefore naturally 
exposed to discrimination risks relating in particular to 
gender mix (gender disparity, particularly in technical 
and expert professions), diversity (skin color, ethnic 
origin, religion, sexual orientation, etc.), age or disability, 
etc.

5. 	 GEOPOLITICAL, REGULATORY
 AND LEGAL RISKS

5.1. 	 GEOPOLITICAL RISKS
Identification and description of risks 
Considering the changing international climate, 
including increasing tensions between or in some 
countries and the persistence of terrorist threats, 
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the Group may be exposed in certain countries to 
economic or financial risks, as well as to risks affecting 
the safety of its employees (on-site or during business 
travel) and the security of its facilities.

5.2. 	 REGULATORY AND LEGAL RISKS

5.2.1. 	 Risks of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations
Identification and description of risks

IIn all the countries where the Group operates, its entities 
are exposed to the risk of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations. In an increasingly complex context due 
to a continuously rising number of standards, they must 
monitor changes to the legal and regulatory framework 
notably in terms of the specificities of the businesses 
that they conduct.

The Healthcare business line, in particular, is subject 
to specific regulations for the products that it sells 
(medical devices, drugs), the research activities that it 
carries out, and for the processing of patients’ personal 
healthcare data.

The Group must face, in all regions in which it operates, 
the risks of non-compliance with:

• competition law;
• provisions aimed at combating corruption;
• regulations restricting exports of certain products or 
relating to destinations under sanctions;
• regulations on the transfer of personal data (see 3.1. 
Digital risks above);
• the duty of vigilance.
Group entities are also exposed to the risk of non-
compliance with contractual obligations (of their own 
or those of their contractual counterparties).

Liabilities and contingent liabilities related to disputes 

are described in notes 22 and 30 of the consolidated 
financial statements included in the 2022 Universal 
Registration Document.

6. SPECIAL RISKS FOR U.S. HOLDERS
Currency exchange rate fluctuations may negatively 
affect the dollar value of Air Liquide shares

The market price in dollars of Air Liquide common stock 
is subject to changes in the comparative value of the 
Euro and the dollar. Fluctuations in the value of the Euro 
(the currency in which Air Liquide common stock is 
traded in France on the Euronext Paris stock exchange) 
versus the United States dollar affect the price in United 
States dollars received by a shareholder in the United 
States upon the resale of Air Liquide common stock, as 
well as the value of dividends received by a shareholder 
in the United States which are converted from Euros 
to United States dollars. At times, the value of the Euro 
has fluctuated significantly against the United States 
dollar, and it is not possible to predict the future value of 
the Euro against the dollar. Please see Exhibit B of the 
Description of Material Terms of the Air Liquide Group 
Employee Share Purchase Plan 2023 Offering for more 
information on the effects of changes in the Euro-U.S. 
Dollar exchange rate.

Judgments of U.S. Courts May Not Be Enforceable 
Against Air Liquide
Judgments of U.S. courts, including those predicated on 
the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws 
of the United States, may not be enforceable in French 
courts. As a result, shareholders who obtain a judgment 
against Air Liquide in the United States may not be able 
to enforce such judgment against Air Liquide in France. 
In addition, it may also be difficult for investors to serve 
process within the United States upon members of Air 
Liquide’s Board of Directors, none of whom reside in 
the United States, or to enforce judgments in the United 
States against them or Air Liquide’s assets, the majority 
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of which are located outside the United States.

Restrictions on the Sale of Common Stock May 
Expose Employees to Significant Market Volatility 
and Foreign Exchange Currency Rate Risk
Employees should be prepared to hold common stock 
acquired under the plan for a period of at least five years. 
Under the provisions of the plan, employees may not 
generally sell or otherwise dispose of common stock 
acquired under the plan for five years. Earlier sale is 
permitted in limited circumstances set forth in the plan, 
including death, or termination of employment. The 
restrictions on the sale of common stock during the 
holding period may expose an employee to significant 
market volatility and foreign exchange currency rate 
risk. A default in payment for the purchase of shares 
under the U.S. Plan will also result in a sale of common 
stock prior to the expiration of the five-year holding 
period.

Rights of Shareholders Under French Law May Differ 
Materially From the Rights of Shareholders Under 
U.S. Law
Principles of law relating to matters such as the validity 
of corporate procedures, the fiduciary duties of Air 
Liquide management and directors and the rights of Air 
Liquide shareholders to bring claims against Air Liquide 
differ from those that would apply if Air Liquide were 
incorporated in a jurisdiction within the United States. 
As a result, the rights of Air Liquide shareholders may 
differ materially from those of a shareholder of a U.S. 
corporation.

Federal Income Tax Risk
The U.S. Plan is intended to qualify for special tax 
benefits under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and Air Liquide 
has consulted with its legal advisors with respect to such 
qualification. However, Air Liquide has not obtained a 
ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service that the 

U.S. Plan meets the requirements of Section 423 of the 
Code. Whether the U.S. Plan meets the requirements 
of Section 423 of the Code depends on all of the facts 
and circumstances. There can be no assurances that 
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service will agree that the 
U.S. Plan meets the requirements of Section 423 of 
the Code, in which event participants in the U.S. Plan 
would be subject to income tax on the date shares are 
purchased under the
U.S. Plan on the difference, if any, between the fair 
market value of a share of L’Air Liquide S.A. stock and 
the amount paid by a U.S. Employee for such shares.

Risk of Increase in Tax Rates
Federal tax rates in effect on the date that you sell 
shares may be substantially higher than on the date 
you purchase shares. State and local tax rates may 
also increase. Please see Exhibit A of the Description of 
Material Terms of the Air Liquide Group Employee Share 
Purchase Plan 2023 Offering for more information.
FATCA & FBAR Reporting
You may be required to file a report of Specified Foreign 
Financial Assets on IRS Form 8938 as part of your 
annual US tax return listing certain non-US assets 
owned by the employee that exceed certain reporting 
thresholds. The report is required under the Foreign 
Account Tax Compliance Act known as “FATCA”. 
Shares of the Company are included among the non-
US assets that may need to be reported. There are 
substantial penalties for failure to file a timely Form 
8938. 

In addition, the Bank Secrecy Act requires U.S. persons 
who own a foreign bank account, brokerage account, 
mutual fund, unit trust, or other financial account 
to file a FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank 
and Financial Accounts (FBAR) annually with the 
Department of Treasury, if: (1) the person has a financial 
interest in, signature authority over, or other authority 
over one or more accounts in a foreign country, and 
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(2) the aggregate value of all foreign financial accounts 
exceeds $10,000 at any time during the calendar year. 

Foreign securities held in accounts maintained by 
U.S. financial institutions generally do not need to be 
counted against the filing thresholds for Form 8938 
and FBAR. Depending on the custody arrangements 
that the Company establishes for shares purchased in 
the offering, you may be required to take account of the 
value of your purchased shares in determining whether 
you are required to file Form 8938, FinCEN Form 114 or 
both. You should consult your tax advisor to make any 
determinations with respect to these obligations.

Please See Exhibit A of the Description of Material 
Terms of the Air Liquide Group Employee Share 
Purchase Plan 2023 Offering for more information on 
the FATCA and FBAR filing  requirements.

Notice Concerning Forward Looking Statements
The materials being provided to you in connection with 
the U.S. Plan contain “forward-looking statements”. 
Words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expects”, 
“projects”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “will”, and 
words and terms of similar substance used in 
connection with any discussion of future operating or 
financial performance of Air Liquide, identify forward 
looking statements. All forward-looking statements 
are management’s present expectations of future 
events and are subject to a number of factors and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those described in the forward- looking 
statements. The risks discussed above, among others, 
could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those described in, or otherwise projected or implied 
by, the forward-looking statements. You are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on the forward looking 
statements, which speak only as of the date of the 
materials being provided to you in connection with the 

U.S. Plan. Air Liquide is not under any obligation, and 
expressly disclaims any obligation, to update or alter 
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result 
of new information, future events or otherwise. All 
subsequent forward- looking statements attributable 
to Air Liquide, or any person acting on its behalf, are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary 
statements contained or referred to above.
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FROM JANUARY 1, 2022 TO DECEMBER 31, 2022



48 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE

4
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Financial Statements 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FROM 
JANUARY 1, 2021 TO DECEMBER 31, 2021



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE 49

4
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Due to its listing on the Paris Stock Exchange and 
pursuant to EC Regulation No. 1606/2002 of July 19, 
2002, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Air Liquide Group for the year ended December 31, 
2022 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
(International Financial Reporting Standards), as 
endorsed by the European Union as of December 
31, 2022, and with IFRS as published by the IASB 
(International Accounting Standards Board). The 
IFRS standards and interpretations as adopted by the 
European Union are available at the following website:
https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/international-accounting-
standards-regulation-ec-no-1606-2002/amending-and-
supplementary-acts/acts-adopted-basis-regulatory-
procedure-scrutiny-rps_en

The Group has not anticipated any new standards, 
amendments to existing standards or new 
interpretations published by the IASB but not yet 
approved or not yet mandatory in the European Union, 
as of December 31, 2022.

The Financial Statements are presented in millions of 
euros. They were approved by the Board of Directors on 
February 15, 2023. They will be submitted for approval 
to the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 3, 2023.

NEW IFRS AND INTERPRETATIONS
1. 	 Standards, interpretations and amendments 
endorsed by the European Union whose application is 
mandatory as of January 1, 2022

The following texts have no significant impact for the 
Group:

• amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, 
to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, to IAS 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets” and the annual improvements 2018-2020, 
issued on May 14, 2020. 

2. 	 Standards, interpretations and amendments 
endorses by the European Union whose application is 
optional in 2022

The Group Financial Statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 do not include any potential impacts 
from the standards, interpretations and amendments 
endorsed by the European Union as of December 31, 
2022, for which adoption is only mandatory as of fiscal 
years beginning after January 1, 2022. These texts are 
as follows:

• amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes: Deferred Tax 
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction”, issued on May 7, 2021;

• amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements”, issued on February 12, 2021;

• amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of 
Accounting Estimates”, issued on February 12, 2021.

The Group did not apply the amendment to IFRS 16 
“Covid-19 – Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 
June 2021”, issued on March 31, 2021 and of which the 
implementation is optional.

Finally, the following texts are not applicable to the 
Group:

• IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, issued on May 18, 2017;
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amendments to IFRS 17 “First application of IFRS 17 
and • IFRS 9 – Comparative Information” issued on 
December 9, 2021.

3. 	 Standards, interpretations and amendments 
not yet endorses by the European Union 

The impacts on the Financial Statements of texts 
published by the IASB as of December 31, 2022 and 
not yet endorsed by the European Union are currently 
being analyzed. These texts are as follows:

• amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current”, “Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date” and 
“Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”, issued on 
January 23, 2020, July 15, 2020 and October 31, 2022 
respectively;

• amendments to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback” issued on September 22, 2022. 

USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Financial Statements requires 
Group or subsidiary management to make estimates 
and use certain assumptions which have a significant 
impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet, the 
notes related to these assets and liabilities, the profit 
and expense items in the income statement and the 
commitments relating to the period-end. Balance sheet, 
income statement and cash flow statement line items 
could differ should the subsequent actual results differ 
from the estimates. The most significant estimates and 
assumptions concern namely:

• the estimated useful life of property, plant and 
equipment used for calculation of depreciation and 
amortization: these estimates are described in section 
5.e of the accounting policies;

• the assumptions used to determine provisions for 
employee retirement benefit obligations: the actuarial 
assumptions used (employee turnover, mortality, 
retirement age, salary increase, etc.), and the discount 
rates used to determine the present value of obligations, 
as described in section 11.b of the accounting policies 
and in note 23.3;

• the estimates and assumptions concerning assets’ 
impairment tests, as described in section 5.f. of the 
accounting policies and in note 10.2;
•  the methods used to recover deferred tax assets on 
the balance sheet;
• the risk assessment to determine the amount of 
provisions for contingencies and losses;
• the accounting methods for the margin of the 
Engineering & Construction contracts that are set out 
in section 3.b of the accounting policies.
• the assumptions retained to evaluate the lease liability 
(IFRS 16): lease term and discount rate. They are 
described in section 5.g of the accounting principles.

In addition, the Group considers that climate risks are 
material, even though their quantified impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group is not 
material. The Group takes into account these risks in its 
closing assumptions and incorporates their potential 
impact in its Financial Statements. In particular, 
climate risks are taken into account when carrying out 
closing procedures, in particular the analysis of the 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment used for 
calculation of depreciation and amortization, the review 
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of the estimates and assumptions concerning assets’ 
impairment tests, and the risk assessment to determine 
the amount of provisions for contingencies and losses. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared 
under the historical cost convention, except for financial 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss or through other comprehensive income in 
accordance with IAS 32/IFRS 9. The carrying amount 
of other assets and liabilities hedged against fair value 
risk is adjusted to take into account the changes in fair 
value attributable to the hedged risks. In addition, the 
principles of fairness, going concern, and consistency 
were applied.

1. 	 CONSOLIDATION METHODS
The consolidation methods used are:

•   full consolidation method for subsidiaries;

• assets, liabilities, expenses and revenue of joint 
operations are recognized in relation to the Group’s 
interest in these entities;

•   equity method for joint ventures and associates.

a. 	 Subsidiaries

All the subsidiaries or companies in which the Air 
Liquide Group exercises exclusive control are fully 
consolidated. Control exists when all the following 
conditions are met:

•  the Group has existing rights that give it the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities;
•  the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the entity;
• the Group has the ability to use its power over the 
entity so that it affects the amount of the returns.

Companies are fully consolidated from the date on 
which the Group obtains control and until the date on 
which control is transferred outside the Group.

b. 	 Joint operations
Joint operations are joint arrangements whereby the 
Air Liquide Group has joint control with one or several 
parties through a contractual agreement, which gives it 
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of 
the entity.

Assets, liabilities, expenses and revenue of joint 
operations are recognized in relation to the Group’s 
interest in these entities. These amounts are recorded 
on each relevant line of the Financial Statements as for 
the consolidated entities.

c. 	 Joint ventures
Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the 
Air Liquide Group has joint control with one or several 
parties through a contractual agreement, which gives it 
rights to the net assets of the entity.
Joint ventures are consolidated using the equity 
method. Under this one, the net assets and net profit of 
a company are recognized pro rata to the interest held 
by the Group in the share capital.
On acquisition of an investment in a joint venture, 
goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment.

d. 	 Associates
Associates are investments over which the Air Liquide 
Group has significant influence (generally when the 
Group has more than a 20% interest), but no control.
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Associates are consolidated using the equity method. 
Under this one, the net assets and net profit of a 
company are recognized pro rata to the interest held by 
the Group in the share capital.

On acquisition of an investment in an associate, the 
goodwill relating to the associate is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment.

The financial statements of subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements and associates are prepared as of 
December 31.

e. 	 Inter-company transactions
All inter-company receivables and payables, income 
and expenses and profits or losses are eliminated.

2. 	 TRANSLATION OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF COMPANIES WHOSE 
FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY IS NOT THE EURO

The functional currency of an entity is the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which it carries 
out its operations. In the majority of cases, the functional 
currency corresponds to the local currency. However, a 
functional currency other than the local currency can be 
retained for certain entities, provided that it represents 
the currency of the main transactions carried out by the 
entity and that it ensures faithful representation of its 
economic environment.

The presentation currency of the Group’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements is the euro. At the balance sheet 
date, the financial statements of companies whose 
functional currency is not the euro are translated into 
euros as follows:

• balance sheet items, at the official year-end exchange 

rates;
• income statement and cash flow statement items, 
using the average exchange rate over the period for 
each currency.

Exchange differences are recognized under a separate 
item “Translation reserves” in gains and losses 
recognized directly in equity.

Cumulative foreign exchange gains and losses as 
of January 1, 2004 arising from the translation into 
euros of the financial statements of subsidiaries 
whose functional currency is not the euro have been 
maintained as a separate component of equity.

On removal from the scope of consolidation, the 
cumulative exchange differences of a company whose 
functional currency is not the euro are recognized in the 
income statement.

3. 	 REVENUE RECOGNITION
The analysis of revenue recognition is based on the 
Group’s activities, as follow:

a. 	 Gas & Services
The supply of gas involves local production in order 
to limit transport costs. Therefore, Air Liquide gas 
production units are located throughout the world and 
can supply several types of customers and industries, 
with the relevant volumes and services required:

Large Industries
This business is characterized by the supply of large 
quantities of gas contracted for a period of 15 years or 
longer with a limited number of customers. The Group 
guarantees a high level of reliability and availability of 
gas supply with continued service, over the long-term. 
In return, these contracts include guaranteed minimum 
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volumes through firm purchase clauses (take-or-pay). 
Due to the volume of gas to be supplied, Air Liquide 
supplies its Large Industries customers directly by 
pipelines, from a dedicated plant or different plants 
connected by a network.

These plants represent significant investments that are 
generally made in a way to share the production assets 
with the other business lines of the Group, particularly 
the Industrial Merchant business, or intended to serve 
the customers in an industrial basin that is connected 
on a pipeline network. In these cases, the assets are 
not identified under the meaning of IFRS 16 “Leases” 
and no lease contract is contained in the contracts with 
customers. When the customer’s gas supply comes 
from a dedicated plant, the Group may decide on the use 
of these plants under the meaning of IFRS 16 “Leases”. 
Consequently, the gas supply contracts for the Large 
Industries business do not contain leases.

Customers of the Large Industries business 
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits 
granted by the gas supply service or its availability. 
As a result, the revenue recognition related to these 
contracts occurs when the gas is supplied or when the 
reserved capacity is made available.

Industrial Merchant, Healthcare and Electronics

The Industrial Merchant business relies mainly on 
the gas production capacity of Large Industries and 
thereafter develops its own distribution logistics. This 
business is characterized by a wide range of customers 
and markets. The contract terms can be up to five years 
for cylinders and liquid gas supply and up to 15 years for 
small on-site gas generators.

Healthcare business supplies medical gases, hygiene 

products, services as well as medical devices to 
hospitals and patients in their homes. It also produces 
and distributes healthcare specialty ingredients for the 
cosmetics, pharmaceutical and vaccine markets.

The Electronics business supplies its customers 
with (i) carrier gases with a business model based 
on long-term contracts and on guaranteed minimum 
volumes with take-or-pay type clauses, (ii) electronics 
specialty materials in the form of pure or mixed gases, 
(iii) advanced materials, (iv) equipment and installations 
and (v) services notably on-site quality control and fluid 
management services.

For safety and quality reasons, Air Liquide supplies gas 
with its own equipment (small generators, storage tank, 
cylinders). Customers have no right of control on the 
identified assets under the meaning of IFRS 16 “Leases”. 
Consequently, the gas supply contracts for these 
businesses do not contain leases and the revenue 
recognition occurs as follows:

• gas supply: the revenue recognition occurs when the 
gas is supplied or when the reserved capacity is made 
available;
• sale of standard equipment and materials: the revenue 
recognition occurs when the control of these equipment 
and materials is transferred, which generally takes place 
at their delivery; 

• specific equipment and installations: the transfer 
of control occurs over the time, together with their 
construction. Consequently, the revenue recognition 
occurs based on the stage of completion of the 
contracts at the balance sheet date;
• service: the revenue recognition occurs when the 
service is provided.
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b. 	 Engineering & Construction
Air Liquide enters into contracts to design and build 
production units worldwide for the Group’s own 
account and for third-party customers.

The control of installations is transferred progressively 
with their design/construction. Consequently, the 
revenue recognition is based on the stage of completion 
of the contracts at the balance sheet date. The costs 
associated are recognized as an expense in the period 
when incurred. The stage of completion is assessed by 
using the ratio of contract costs incurred at the balance 
sheet date versus total estimated contract costs.

The margin realized at the stage of completion is 
recognized only when it can be reliably measured. 
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed 
total contract revenue, the expected loss is immediately 
recognized as a provision for onerous contracts.

c. 	 Global Markets & Technologies
The Global Markets & Technologies business focuses 
on new markets requiring a global approach. This 
business is growing mainly within the following markets:
• new markets relating to the energy transition, as well 
as space, aerospace, and extreme cryogenics markets. 
As a consequence of its nature, the analysis of the 
revenue recognition on this market is done on a case-
by-case basis depending on the nature of performance 
obligations;
• gas usages by the actors in the maritime sector, namely 
offshore oil and gas platforms, offshore wind turbines, or 
cryogenic transportation by sea. The analysis carried 
out for Industrial Merchant is applicable to this market.

4. 	 TAXES
a. 	 Income tax expense
The tax rate is calculated on the basis of the fiscal 
regulations enacted or substantively enacted at the 

fiscal year closing date in each of the countries where 
the Group’s companies carry out their business.

The Group’s applicable tax rate corresponds to the 
average of the theoretical tax rates in force in each of 
the countries, weighted according to profit obtained in 
each of these countries.

The average effective tax rate is calculated as follows: 
(current and deferred income tax expense)/(net 
profit before tax less share of profit of equity affiliates, 
dividends received and net profit from discontinued 
operations).

b. 	 Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized for all temporary 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities and their tax base (excluding non-deductible 
goodwill and the other exceptions provided in IAS 12), 
the tax loss carryforwards and the unused tax credits. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized on all deductible 
temporary differences provided that it is highly probable 
that the tax benefits will be realized in future years.

Deferred taxes are calculated at the tax rate applicable 
when the temporary difference is reversed and allowed 
under local regulations at the period-end date. The 
liability method is applied and any changes to the tax 
rates are recognized in the income statement, except 
those related to items directly recognized in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if the 
entities have a legally enforceable right to offset and if 
they relate to income tax levied by the same taxation 
authority. Deferred taxes are not discounted.

Deferred taxes are mainly due to temporary differences 
between the tax and economic depreciation of assets, 
the carryforward of tax losses and provisions not 
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immediately deductible for tax purposes, such as 
employee benefit provisions.

When the Group decides not to distribute profits 
retained by the subsidiary within the foreseeable future, 
no deferred tax liability is recognized.

5. 	 NON-CURRENT ASSETS
a. 	 Goodwill and business combinations
Business combinations as of January 1, 2010

The Group has prospectively applied IFRS 3 revised 
and IAS 27 revised since January 1, 2010.
When the Group obtains control of an acquiree, the 
business combination is accounted for by applying 
the acquisition method on the acquisition date, in 
accordance with IFRS 3 revised:

• the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed are measured at fair 
value;

• any minority interests in an acquiree are measured 
as the minority interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets or at fair value. This 
option is applied on a case-by-case basis;

• the consideration transferred and any contingent 
consideration are measured at fair value;

• acquisition-related costs are recorded as other 
operating expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred.

For a business combination achieved in stages, any 
previously held equity interests in the acquiree are 
measured at the acquisition-date fair value. Any 
resulting gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss.

The measurement period of a business combination 
shall not exceed 12 months as of the acquisition date. 
Any adjustments, after the measurement period, of 
the consideration transferred and the fair values of 
acquired assets and assumed liabilities are recorded in 
the income statement.

On the acquisition date, goodwill is recognized in the 
consolidated balance sheet as the difference between:

• the consideration transferred plus the amount of 
minority interests in the acquiree and the fair value of 
the previously held equity interest; and, 

• the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed.
Negative goodwill is recognized immediately through 
profit or loss.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) 
or groups of cash-generating units that benefit from 
business combination synergies. Subsequently, 
goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment 
annually or more frequently if there are any indications of 
impairment, in accordance with the method described 
in section 5.f.

Business combinations prior to January 1, 2010
Business combinations achieved prior to January 1, 
2010 have been accounted for in accordance with the 
former versions of IFRS 3 and IAS 27. These standards 
had already adopted the acquisition method in the 
version published by the IASB in March 2004. The main 
provisions that differed from the revised standards are 
as follows:

• minority interests were measured based on their share 
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of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree and the fair 
value measurement option did not exist;

• earn-outs were included in the acquisition cost, 
without time limits, when the payment was deemed 
probable and the amount could be reliably measured;

• acquisition-related costs were recorded in the cost of 
the business combination.

For an acquisition achieved in stages, the fair value 
remeasurement of any previously held net asset was 
recognized in equity.

For an acquisition of minority interests in a previously 
held company, the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the net carrying amount of the minority 
interests was recorded in goodwill.

At the time of the transition to IFRS and in accordance 
with the exemption offered by IFRS 1, the Group 
decided not to apply IFRS 3 “Business combinations” 
retrospectively for acquisitions that took place prior to 
January 1, 2004.

b. 	 Research and Development expenditures
Research and Development expenditures include all 
costs related to the scientific and technical activities, 
patent work, education and training necessary to 
ensure the development, manufacturing, start-up, and 
commercialization of new or improved products or 
processes.
According to IAS 38, development costs shall be 
capitalized if, and only if, the Group can meet all of the 
following criteria:

• the project is clearly identified and the related costs 
are itemized and reliably monitored;

• the technical and industrial feasibility of completing 
the project is demonstrated;

• there is a clear intention to complete the project and to 
use or sell the intangible asset arising from it;

• the Group has the ability to use or sell the intangible 
asset arising from the project;

• the Group can demonstrate how the intangible asset 
will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the Group has adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the project and to use or sell the 
intangible asset.

When these conditions are not satisfied, development 
costs generated by the Group are recognized as an 
expense when incurred.

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense 
when incurred.

c. 	 Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated intangible assets primarily include 
the development costs of information management 
systems. These costs are capitalized only if they satisfy 
the criteria as defined by IAS 38 and described above.
Internal and external development costs on 
management information systems arising from the 
development phase are capitalized. Significant 
maintenance and improvement costs are added to 
the initial cost of assets if they specifically meet the 
capitalization criteria.

Internally generated intangible assets are amortized 
over their useful lives.

4
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d. 	 Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets include separately acquired 
intangible assets such as software, licenses, and 
intellectual property rights. They also include the 
technology, brands and customer contracts valued 
upon the acquisition of companies in accordance with 
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.

With the exception of certain brands, intangible assets 
are amortized using the straight-line method over 
their useful lives. Information management systems 
are generally amortized over a period comprised 
between five and eight years and customer contracts 
over a maximum period of 25 years, considering the 
probabilities of renewal.

e. 	 Property, plant and equipment 
Land, buildings and equipment are carried at their 
acquisition cost less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.

In the event of mandatory dismantling or asset removals, 
related costs are added to the initial cost of the relevant 
assets and provisions are recognized to cover these 
costs.

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction 
of property, plant, and equipment are capitalized during 
the period of construction when they relate to the 
financing of industrial projects over a twelve-month 
construction period, or longer.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted 
separately and depreciated over their own useful lives.

Repair and maintenance costs are recognized 
as expenses when incurred. The costs of major 

inspections and overhauls are recognized as a separate 
component of the asset and are depreciated over the 
period between two major overhauls.

Depreciation is calculated according to the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives as follows:

• buildings: 20 to 30 years;
• cylinders: 10 to 40 years;
• production units: 15 to 20 years;
• pipelines: 15 to 35 years;
• other equipment: 5 to 30 years.

The estimated useful lives are reviewed regularly and 
changes in the estimates are recorded prospectively 
from the date of change.

Land is not depreciated.

f. 	 Impairment of assets
The Group regularly assesses whether there are any 
indications of asset impairment. If such indications 
exist, an impairment test is performed to assess 
whether the carrying amount of the asset is greater 
than its recoverable amount, defined as the higher of 
the fair value less costs to sell (net fair value) and the 
value in use.

Impairment tests are performed systematically once a 
year for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives.

Assets that do not generate largely independent cash 
flows are grouped according to the cash-generating 
units (CGUs) to which they belong. A cash-generating 
unit is an identifiable group of assets that generates 
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets. They are 

4
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mainly determined on a geographical basis and by 
reference to the markets in which the Group operates.

In practice, the Group performs impairment tests at 
various levels pursuant to these principles:

• dedicated and on-site plants are tested individually;

• pipelines and plants that provide these pipelines are 
tested at the network level;

• liquid gas and hydrogen/CO plants are grouped 
together according to the plants’ customer market;

• other assets are allocated to cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units.

The cash-generating units of the Gas & Services 
activities are determined on a geographical basis. 
The other activities are managed at a worldwide level 
(Engineering & Construction and Global Markets & 
Technologies).

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units or groups 
of cash-generating units that benefit from business 
combination synergies and which represent the levels 
at which goodwill is monitored by the Group.

When performing impairment tests on cash-generating 
units or groups of cash-generating units comprising 
goodwill, the Group uses the market multiples approach. 
Insofar as the fair value is not significantly greater than 
the net carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 
or group of cash-generating units, the Group confirms 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
or group of cash-generating units using the estimated 
cash flow approach (value in use).
For other cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units, and assets whose value is tested on an 

individual basis, the Group determines the recoverable 
amount using the estimated cash flow approach (value 
in use).

The market multiples used are determined based 
on the market value of the Air Liquide Group. The 
differences between the resulting multiples and those 
of comparable companies are not material.

The growth rates, taken into account with respect to 
the cash flow estimates for cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units, are determined based 
on the activity and geographical location of the CGU 
considered.

In assessing value in use for property, plant and 
equipment, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value. Cash flows are 
measured over the asset’s estimated period of use, 
taking into account customer contract terms and 
technical obsolescence.

The discount rate depends on the nature, the location 
of the asset and the customer market. It is determined 
according to the minimum level of profitability expected 
from the investment considering industrial and 
commercial risks and credit terms.
When the recoverable amount of an asset, a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units 
is lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognized immediately through profit and loss. 
An impairment loss of a cash-generating unit is first 
allocated to goodwill.

When the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying 
amount again, the previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed to the income statement, with the 
exception of impairment losses on goodwill, which 
cannot be reversed.



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE 59

4
g. 	 Leases
In the course of its activity, the Group enters as a lessee 
in contracts mainly for the following types of assets:

•  land, buildings and offices;

• transportation equipment, in particular for Industrial 
Merchant and Healthcare business lines;

•  other equipment.

According to IFRS 16, any contract (apart from 
exceptions mentioned below) containing a lease leads 
to recognition on the lessee’s balance sheet of a right-
of-use of the leased asset and a lease liability related to 
the present value of the commitments for future lease 
payments (lease liability).

A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys to the 
Group the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange of consideration. In 
particular, the Group has concluded that transportation 
contracts which confer to the supplier the substantive 
right to substitute the vehicle throughout the period of 
use and/or the control on the choice of the route, the 
driver and maintenance policy, are service contracts 
and do not meet the definition of a lease under IFRS 16.

In addition, the Group has chosen to use the following 
exemptions and not to apply IFRS 16: 

•  to the lease contracts having a lease terms of 12 
months or less;

•  to the lease contracts for which the underlying 
asset is of low value, in particular, office and telephony 
equipment, computers and small IT equipment. Lease 
contracts for data centers are analyzed on a case-by-

case basis.

The main assumptions used to measure the right-of-
use and the lease liability are:

•  lease term. It corresponds to the non-cancellable 
period for which a lessee has the right to use an 
underlying asset, together with periods covered by an 
option to extend or to terminate the lease if the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise (for options to extend) 
or not to exercise (for options to terminate) such 
options. The probability to exercise or not an option 
is determined by type of contracts or on a case-by-
case basis according to contractual terms, regulatory 
environment and the nature of the underlying asset 
(in particular, its technical specificity and strategic 
location);

• the discount rate used for evaluation of the lease liability. 
The discount rate retained is the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate. Due to the centralized financing in the 
Group, it corresponds for each subsidiary to the interest 
rate for intragroup borrowings determined according to 
the currency of the lease contract, the country and the 
lease term taking into account the repayment profile 
(linear amortization of the lease liability).

Deferred taxes relating to the right of use asset and 
lease liability arising from a single transaction are 
recognized on a net basis.

6. 	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

a. 	 Non-current financial instruments

Non-consolidated investments
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Investments in non-consolidated companies that are 
not accounted for using the equity method are classified 
as assets measured at fair value. These investments are 
not held for trading, consequently, at initial recognition, 
the Group may make an irrevocable election to present 
in other comprehensive income subsequent changes 
in the fair value. In this case, changes in fair value are 
not reclassified to net result upon disposal of these 
investments.

Dividends from these investments are recognized in 
other financial income.

Loans and other financial assets
Loans and other financial assets are initially recognized 
at their fair value and subsequently carried at amortized 
cost. Impairment tests are performed at each 
closing date. Any impairment losses are recognized 
immediately in the income statement.

b. 	 Trade and other-receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at their 
transaction price upon initial recognition and then at 
amortized cost less any impairment losses based on 
expected credit losses model.

Expected credit losses are estimated on the basis of a 
matrix consisting in using historical loss rates adjusted 
depending on actual observable conditions. Expected 
credit losses are estimated at each closing date in the 
following manner:

• segregating trade receivables into appropriate groups, 
in particular depending on the activities of the Group, 
type and size of client and its market segment;

• within each group of trade receivables, determining of 
age-bands;

• for each age-band identification of losses realized in 
previous financial year;

• adjusting if necessary historical loss rate depending 
on actual observable conditions in order to take into 
account, in particular, current market conditions, type 
of client, credit management practices of the Group 
as well as specific information concerning individual 
customers;

• application of loss rates estimated in this way to each 
age-band of trade receivables.

For all construction contracts in progress at the year-
end, the gross amounts payable by and to customers 
represent the sum of costs incurred plus profits 
recognized using the percentage of completion 
method, equivalent to total revenue recorded using the 
percentage of completion method, less the amount of 
advances received.

Amounts payable by customers are presented in trade 
receivables. Amounts due to customers are presented 
in other current liabilities.

Assignments of trade receivables
Assignments of trade receivables are derecognized 
from the balance sheet when:

• the Group transfers the contractual rights to receive 
the cash flows related to these receivables to the 
assignee; or

• the Group retains the contractual rights to receive the 
cash flows related to these receivables, but assumes 
a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to the 
assignee in an arrangement that cumulatively meets 
the following three conditions:
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– the Group has no obligation to pay to the assignee 
unless it collects the equivalent amount,
– the Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the 
receivables other than as security for the obligation to 
pay cash flows to the assignee,
– the Group has an obligation to remit any cash flows it 

collects on behalf of the assignee without material 
delay;

• and the Group transfers substantially all the risks and 
awards of ownership of the receivables, in particular 
credit risk and risk of late payment.

c. 	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances, 
current bank accounts, and short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible into cash and 
which are exposed to a negligible risk of change in value.
Short-term investments include temporary cash 
investments maturing in less than three months 
(commercial paper, certificates of deposit and money 
market funds) whose minimum long-term rating is A 
(S&P) or A2 (Moody’s).
As cash investments maturing in less than three months 
are exposed to a negligible risk of a change in value, they 
are recognized at historical cost (including accrued 
interest) which is considered to approximate fair value.

d. 	 Trade payables
The Group sets up supplier paying services agreements 
with partner banks to facilitate the processing of 
supplier invoices payments. The Group analyzes the 
main contract features that enable to keep the trade 
payables qualification. In particular, the Group ensures 
that the following characteristics are met:
• no deviation of the payment terms of the underlying 

payable between the financing party and the original 
supplier. In other words, the Group must pay to the bank 
no later than the payment term of invoice;
payment terms negotiations between Air Liquide and 
supplier must be conducted independently of any 
negotiation on paying service agreement. In particular, 
payment terms shall not be subject to the supplier’s 
success in selling invoices to the bank;
• the terms of contract with the supplier shall not 
be explicitly linked to any payment term extension. 
Payment term with a particular supplier must be 
homogenous, independently of the participation of a 
particular invoice in the program or not;
• payment terms should stay within the ordinary 
industry/sector norms and local regulation, and should 
not be tied to the participation in the paying services 
agreement;
• program structures should avoid debt-like features 
such as interest and fees paid by Air Liquide to the bank 
or supplier;
• tri-party agreements between Air Liquide, the supplier 
and the bank that pre-arrange the financing of the 
invoices owed by Air Liquide to the supplier shall be 
avoided.

e. 	 Current and non-current borrowings
Borrowings include bonds and other bank borrowings 
(including the put options granted to minority 
shareholders).
At inception, borrowings are recognized at fair value 
corresponding to the net proceeds collected. At each 
balance sheet date, except for put options granted 
to minority shareholders (see section 10 “Minority 
Interests”), they are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Under this 
method, the borrowing cost includes the redemption 
premiums and issuance costs initially deducted from 
the nominal amount of the borrowing in liabilities.
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Borrowings maturing in less than one year are classified 
as current borrowings.
Borrowings hedged by interest rate swaps are 
recognized on a hedge accounting basis.

f. 	 Derivative assets and liabilities
Derivative financial instruments are used to manage 
exposures to foreign exchange, interest rate and 
commodity risks relating to the Group’s financial and 
operating activities. For all these transactions, the 
Group applies hedge accounting and documents, at 
the inception of the transaction, the type of hedging 
relationship, the hedging instruments, and the nature 
and term of the hedged item.  
Applying hedge accounting has the following 
consequences:
• fair value hedges for existing assets and liabilities: the 
hedged portion of the item is carried at fair value in the 
balance sheet. Any changes in fair value are recognized 
in the income statement, where they are offset by the 
corresponding changes in fair value of the hedging 
instruments (except for the impact of premiums/
discounts);
• future cash flow hedges: the effective portion of 
the change in fair value of the hedging instrument 
is recorded directly in equity (items that may be 
subsequently reclassified to income statement), while 
the change in the fair value of the hedged item is not 
recognized in the balance sheet. The change in fair value 
of the ineffective portion is recognized in other financial 
income or expenses. When the hedged transactions 
occur and are recorded, amounts recorded in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified in the income 
statement;
• hedges of net investments in a foreign entity: the 
effective portion of the changes in fair value of the 
derivative instrument is recognized in gains and 
losses recognized directly in equity under “Translation 

reserves”. The ineffective portion of changes in fair value 
is recognized in “Other financial income and expenses”. 
Once the foreign entity subject to the net investment 
hedge is sold, the loss or profit initially recognized in 
translation reserves is recognized in profit or loss, within 
the gain or loss generated.

However, in limited circumstances, certain types of 
derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting; they 
are carried at fair value through “Other financial income 
and expenses” with an offsetting entry in financial 
assets and financial liabilities.
The fair value of assets, liabilities and derivatives is 
based on the market price at the balance sheet date.

7. 	 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
a. 	 Assets classified as held for sale
Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as 
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use. This classification occurs 
when the Group takes the decision to sell them and that 
the sale is considered highly probable.
The assets and liabilities held for sale are presented on 
different lines of the balance sheet. They are measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less 
costs to sell. Assets classified as held for sale are no 
longer depreciated (amortized) as of the date they are 
classified as assets or disposal groups held for sale.
When a sale involving the loss of control of the 
subsidiary is considered highly probable, all the assets 
and liabilities of this subsidiary are classified as being 
held for sale, independently of whether or not the Group 
retains a residual interest in the entity after its sale.
b. 	 Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a clearly identifiable 
component that the Group either has abandoned or 
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that is classified as held for sale:
• representing a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations;
• being part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a 
separate major line of business or geographical area of 
operations; or,
• being a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to 
resale.

Once the criteria are met, the profit and loss and 
the cash flow from discontinued operations are 
presented separately in the income statement and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for each period.

8. 	 INVENTORIES AND WORK-IN-PROGRESS
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value. Cost includes raw materials, direct and 
indirect labor costs and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the 
normal course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

9. 	 SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 
TREASURY SHARES
Air Liquide’s share capital is composed of ordinary 
shares.

Retained earnings include the following items:

• translation reserves: exchange differences arising 
from the translation into euros of financial statements 
prepared by foreign subsidiaries whose functional 
currency is not the euro are recorded in translation 
reserves. Fair value changes in net investment hedges 
of these foreign subsidiaries are also recorded in this 
reserve;
• fair value of financial instruments: this item records 

accumulated fair value changes in the effective 
portion of cash flow hedge derivatives (transactions 
not yet recognized in the accounts);
• actuarial gains and losses: all actuarial gains and 
losses and adjustments arising from the asset ceiling, 
net of deferred taxes, are recognized in consolidated 
reserves in the period in which they occur.

When the Group buys back its own shares, they are 
classified as treasury shares at the purchase price 
and presented as a deduction from equity for the 
consideration paid. The profit or loss from the sale of 
treasury shares is recognized directly in equity, net of 
tax.

Furthermore, acquisitions or disposals of minority 
interests, without change in control, are considered 
as transactions with the Group’s shareholders. Thus, 
the difference between the price paid to increase 
the percentage of interest in entities that are already 
controlled and the additional share of equity thus 
acquired is recognized in Shareholders’ equity. 
Similarly, a decrease in the Group’s percentage interest 
in a controlled entity is accounted for as an equity 
transaction with no impact on profit or loss.

Disposals of shares with loss of control give rise to the 
recognition in disposal gains or losses of the change in 
fair value calculated for the total investment at the date 
of disposal. Any investments retained, where applicable, 
will be measured at fair value at the date when control is 
lost.

10. 	 MINORITY INTERESTS
Transactions with minority interests, without impact 
on the control, are considered as transactions with 
the Group’s shareholders and are registered in 
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shareholders’ equity. In accordance with IAS 32, put 
options granted to minority shareholders are recorded 
as borrowings at the option’s estimated strike price.

The share in the net assets of subsidiaries is reclassified 
from “Minority interests” to “Borrowings”.
Due to the absence of any specific IFRS guidance, 
the Group has elected to recognize the consideration 
for the difference between the strike price of the 
option granted and the value of the minority interests 
reclassified as borrowings in shareholders’ equity – 
Group share.
Minority interests in profit and loss do not change and 
still reflect present ownership interests.

11. 	 PROVISIONS

a. 	 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when:
• the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation;
• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Restructuring provisions include only the direct costs 
arising from the restructuring and are recognized in 
the period in which the Group has approved a detailed 
and formal restructuring plan and the restructuring has 
either begun or been announced. When these plans 
involve termination benefits, the resulting provisions 
are recognized at the earlier of the following dates:

• when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits;

• when the provision of the related restructuring is 
recognized.

A provision for losses on contracts is recognized when 
the expected benefits from the contract are lower than 
the cost of satisfying the obligations under the contract.

b. 	 Pensions and employee benefits

The Group provides its employees with various 
pension plans, termination benefits, jubilees and other 
post-employment benefits for both active and retired 
employees. The characteristics of each plan vary 
according to the laws and regulations applicable in 
each country as well as each subsidiary policy.
These benefits are covered by two types of plan:

• defined contribution plans;
• defined benefit plans.

The Group grants both defined benefit and defined 
contribution plans.
Defined contribution plans are plans under which 
the employer’s sole obligation is to pay regular 
contributions. The employer’s obligation is limited to 
payment of the planned contributions. The employer 
does not grant any guarantees on the future level of 
benefits paid to the employee or retiree (means-based 
obligation). The annual pension expense is equal 
to the contribution paid during the fiscal year which 
relieves the employer from any further obligation. It is 
recognized in “Personnel expenses”.
Defined benefit plans are those by which the employer 
guarantees the future level of benefits defined in the 
agreement, most often depending on the employee’s 
salary and seniority (“result-based obligation”). Defined 
benefit plans can be:
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• either financed by contributions to a fund specialized 
in managing the amounts received;
• or managed internally.

In the case of defined benefit plans, retirement and 
similar obligations are measured by independent 
actuaries, according to the projected unit credit method. 
The actuarial calculations mainly take into account the 
following assumptions: salary increases, employee 
turnover, retirement date, life expectancy, inflation and 
appropriate discount rates for each country. 

Defined benefit plans are covered by external pension 
funds in certain cases. The assets of these plans are 
mostly invested in bonds or equities carried at their fair 
value.

All actuarial gains and losses as well as any adjustment 
arising from the asset ceiling are recognized in the 
period in which they occur.

Actuarial assumptions used vary according to the 
demographic and economic conditions prevailing in 
each country where the Group has pension plans.
Discount rates used to measure the present value of 
the Company’s obligations and the net interest cost 
are determined by reference to market yields on High-
Quality corporate bonds. Where there is no deep 
market in such bonds, the market yields on government 
bonds with the same maturity at the valuation date shall 
be used. In the Euro zone, the United States, the United 
Kingdom and Canada, discount rates were determined 
using tools designed by independent actuaries. Their 
database uses several hundred different corporate 
bonds with a minimum AA-rating and maturities ranging 
from one to 30 years. Cash flows of expected benefits 
are subsequently discounted using rates associated to 
each maturity.

Valuations are carried out annually by independent 
actuaries for significant plans and every three years 
for other plans unless there are material changes in 
assumptions or major events that necessitate a new 
calculation. Impacts related to defined benefit plans are 
registered as follows:

• the service cost, the gain relating to curtailments and 
settlements, and the actuarial gains and losses from 
other long-term benefits and recognized in “Personnel 
expenses”. In addition, the service cost of defined 
benefit plans which are capped, linked to length of 
service and require the presence of the beneficiary in 
the company at the time of retirement is spread over 
the period between the date on which the services 
rendered began to generate rights and the date on 
which the additional services cease to generate rights;

• net interest cost for defined benefits is registered in 
“Other financial income and expenses”;
• past service cost is recorded in profit or loss according 
to the nature of the change to the plan that generated 
it (i.e. either in “Personnel expenses” or in “Other 
operating income and expenses”);
• actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans, 
retirement termination payments, and medical plans 
are recorded in “Gains and losses recognized directly 
in equity”.

12. 	 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND 
BALANCES

Foreign currency transactions are recognized 
according to the following principles:
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• foreign currency transactions are translated by each 
company into its functional currency at the exchange 
rate prevailing on the date of the transaction;

•  at year-end, monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
the functional currency at the closing exchange rate.

Exchange differences relating to commercial 
transactions are recognized in operating profit. 
For financial transactions, exchange differences 
are recognized in financial income and expenses 
except for differences resulting from the hedge of 
a net investment in a foreign entity that are directly 
recognized in equity until the net investment is removed 
from the consolidation scope.

13. 	 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Contingent assets and liabilities arise from past events, 
the outcome of which depends on future uncertain 
events.
Contingent liabilities represent:

• possible obligations arising from past events whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the entity; or,

• present obligations that arise from past events, but 
that are not recognized because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation or because the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability.
Contingent assets and liabilities that are material are 
disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, except for contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination, which are recognized in 

accordance with IFRS 3 revised.

14. 	 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants received are initially recognized in 
“Other non-current liabilities”. They are then recognized 
as income in the income statement for the period:
• on the same basis as the subsidized assets are 
depreciated in the case of government grants related 
to assets;
• deducted from the costs intended to be compensated 
in the case of government grants other than those 
related to assets.
The Group analyzes the substance of government 
incentives delivered through the tax system and 
selects an accounting treatment consistent with such 
substance.

15. 	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group grants stock options and performance 
shares to Executive Officers and some employees.

Stock options and performance shares are measured 
at fair value on the grant date. Their fair value is 
recognized as a “Personnel expense” in the income 
statement with a corresponding increase in equity, 
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period.

The valuation is performed by an independent expert, 
using mathematical models appropriate to the 
characteristics of each plan. It takes into account the 
market vesting conditions associated to each one. The 
fair value measured at the grant date is not subject to 
re-evaluation due to changes in market conditions.
Vesting conditions, other than market ones, have no 
impact on the fair value measurement of services 
received but adjust the expense that is recognized 
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according to the number of equity instruments actually 
granted.

The dilution effect of non-vested stock option plans 
and performance share allocations is reflected in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Share subscription option plans

Options are valued using the following main underlying 
assumptions: 
• volatility: implicit;
• risk-free interest rate: zero-coupon benchmark rate at 
• the plan issue date and matching the various maturities 
retained;
 • dividend growth rate: based on the historical average 
annual growth rate;
• employee resignation rate: that of individuals belonging 
to the same age group as the plan beneficiaries. The 
resignation rate is used to extrapolate the number 
of options which will not be exercised due to the 
resignation of beneficiaries;
• the probability of achieving the market vesting 
conditions.

Performance shares allocation plans

Performance shares are measured at fair value, taking 
into account a discount on non-transferable shares. 
The cost of non-transferability is measured as the cost 
of a two-step strategy consisting in the forward sale 
of shares being non-transferable for four years (or five 
years depending on the plan) and the purchase on the 
spot market of the same number of shares funded by an 
amortizable loan with an in fine capital repayment.

Valuation is based upon the following main underlying 
assumptions:

• risk-free interest rate: four-year zero-coupon 
benchmark rate (or five-year depending on the plan) at 
the plan issue date plus a credit margin that would be 
proposed to employees;
• dividend growth rate: based on the historical average 
annual growth rate;
• employee resignation rate: that of individuals belonging 
to the same age group as the plan beneficiaries. This 
resignation rate is used to extrapolate the shares 
which will not be allocated due to the resignation of 
beneficiaries;
• the probability of achieving the market vesting 
conditions.

16. 	 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSION QUOTAS

In certain countries, the Group is subject to greenhouse 
gas emission quota systems.

In the absence of any specific IFRS guidance, the Group 
has elected to apply the ANC Regulation No. 2014-03. 
The Group does not buy CO2 quotas for the purpose of 
generating profits from fluctuations in price; therefore, 
at each closing date:

• a liability is recognized if the greenhouse gas emissions 
are higher than the CO2 quotas held by the Group. It 
corresponds to the cost of CO2 quotas in shortfall to 
cover the greenhouse gas already emitted; or,
• an asset is recognized if the greenhouse gas emissions 
are lower than the CO2 quotas held by the entity. It 
corresponds to the CO2 quotas available to cover the 
future greenhouse gas emissions, valued at historical 
cost. 

BASIS FOR PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION
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1. 	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is structured according to the following 
activities: Gas & Services, Engineering & Construction 
and Global Markets & Technologies.

The Group’s main operational decision-making body is 
the Executive Management assisted by the Executive 
Committee.
The Gas & Services activities are organized by 
geographical area, which is the responsible level for 
operations management and performance monitoring. 
These geographical areas are as follows:

• Europe;
• Americas;
• Asia Pacific;
• Middle East & Africa.

Within the Gas & Services segment, the geographical 
areas determine sales policies and development 
projects in liaison with the four business lines (Large 
Industries, Industrial Merchant, Healthcare and 
Electronics).

The Engineering & Construction segment is managed 
separately on a worldwide scale. The segment designs, 
develops and builds industrial gas production plants 
for the Group and third parties. It also designs and 
manufactures plants in the traditional, renewable and 
alternative energy sectors.
The Global Markets & Technologies segment is also 
managed separately on a worldwide scale. It focuses on 
new markets which require a global approach, drawing 
on science, technologies, development models, and 
usages related to digital transformation.

Research and Development and corporate activities 

do not meet the operating segments definition and are 
thus presented within reconciliation.

The information communicated in the tables covering 
segment information is presented according to the 
same accounting principles as those used for the 
Group Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue is analyzed by geographical area of production 
(country of origin).

Inter-segment revenue between Gas & Services, 
Engineering & Construction and Global Markets & 
Technologies activities corresponds to the sales 
between these operating segments.

The Group operating performance is assessed on the 
basis of each segment’s Operating income recurring.
Segment assets include non-current assets, with 
the exception of “Deferred tax assets”, “Investments 
in associates”, “Fair value of non-current derivatives 
(assets)”, as well as “Inventories and work-in-progress”, 
“Trade receivables” and “Other current assets”.

Segment liabilities correspond to “Provisions, pensions 
and other employee benefits”, “Trade payables”, “Other 
current liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities”.

Segment profits, assets and liabilities consist of amounts 
directly attributable to each segment, provided they 
can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.
2. 	 NET DEBT

The net debt includes:

• current and non-current borrowings, as defined in 
section 6.e of accounting policies, minus the fair value 
of hedging derivative assets to cover borrowings;
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reduced by:

• cash and cash equivalents, as defined in section 6.c 
of accounting policies, minus the fair value of hedging 
derivative instruments recorded in liabilities to cover 
loans.
The net debt does not include the lease liabilities as 
defined in section 5.g of accounting policies.

3. 	 INFORMATION ON INTERESTS IN JOINT 
ARRANGEMENTS OR ASSOCIATES

The materiality of the interests in joint arrangements 
or associates is assessed according to the following 
criteria:

• contribution of the entity to the Group’s Operating 
income recurring;
• share of these interests in the Group’s net assets;
• dividends paid to these interests.

4. 	 INFORMATION ON MINORITY INTERESTS

The materiality of the minority interests is assessed 
according to an analysis of:

•   the minority interests’ share in the Group’s net assets;

• the contribution to the Group’s Operating income 
recurring of the subsidiary having minority interests;

•   dividends paid to minority interests.
5. 	 OPERATING INCOME RECURRING

The Group’s operating performance is measured based 
on Operating income or loss recurring determined in 
accordance with ANC recommendation No. 2020-01.

6. 	 OTHER NON-RECURRING OPERATING 

INCOME AND EXPENSES

Material non-recurring operations that could affect 
operating performance readability are classified under 
“Other non-recurring operating income” and “Other 
non-recurring operating expenses”. They may include:

• gains or losses on the disposal of activities or groups 
of assets;

• acquisition-related and integration-related costs 
relating to business combinations;

• restructuring costs resulting from plans whose 
unusual and material nature distort the readability of the 
Operating income recurring;

• significant provisions and impairment losses for 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets;

• incurred or estimated costs relating to significant 
political risks or litigations.

7. 	 NET EARNINGS PER SHARE

a. 	 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing 
net profit (Group share) attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of Air Liquide by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year, 
excluding ordinary shares purchased by Air Liquide 
and recognized in equity.
b. 	 Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share take into account share 
subscription options and performance shares allocated 
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to employees and Executive Officers if:

• the issue price, adjusted for unrecognized expenses 
at the year-end pursuant to IFRS 2, is lower than the Air 
Liquide annual average share price;

• the performance requirements meet the criteria set 
out in IAS 33 § 5

Note 1	 Significant events

A military conflict between Russia and Ukraine broke 
out on February 24, 2022. Air Liquide’s presence 
in Ukraine was limited to a commercial office and 
engineering services office for the Engineering & 
Construction activity. In Russia, the Group mainly 
operated in the Large Industries, Industrial Merchant 
and Healthcare business lines. The revenue realized 
in Russia represented less than 1% of the Group’s 
consolidated revenue in 2021.

As of June 30, 2022, in view of the very uncertain 
geopolitical context, the series of successive sanctions 
and counter-sanctions and restrictions in terms of cash 
movements between Russia and Europe, the Group 
determined that indications of impairment existed for 
the assets held in Russia that required to carry out an 
impairment test. As a result, a provision of 404 million 
euros on these assets was recognized in Other non-
recurring operating expenses, with no impact on 
cash, as well as the costs of unwinding hedges and 
mothballing certain projects in the amount of 15 million 
euros.

On September 2, 2022, Air Liquide confirmed its 
intention to withdraw from Russia. Taking a responsible 
and orderly approach, the Group signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the local management team 

with the objective to transfer its activities in Russia 
in a framework of an MBO (Management Buy Out). 
This project is notably subject to Russian regulatory 
approvals.

Furthermore, as a consequence of the evolution of 
the geopolitical context and increased sanctions and 
counter-sanctions, the Group updated its analysis 
of the control it holds over activities in Russia and 
considered that it no longer satisfied the conditions of 
control as defined by IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial 
Statements” and described in section 1.a of the 
accounting principles and methods in the appendix to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. As a result, the 
Group’s activities in Russia are no more consolidated 
since September 1, 2022. The corresponding shares 
are now recognized as non-consolidated investments, 
with an estimated fair value of zero given the specific 
context.

The total impact for the Group amounts to 586 million 
euros over the 2022 financial year, recognized in Other 
non-recurring operating expenses, and corresponds 
mainly to the provision for impairment, the impairment 
of non-consolidated investments and financial 
receivables that the Group holds with these Russian 
entities.
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Note 4  OPERATING INCOME RECURRING AND 
EXPENSES

Operating income recurring and expenses include 
purchases, personnel expenses, depreciation and 
amortization, other recurring income and other 
recurring expenses.
The Group purchases mainly consist of electricity, 

natural gas as well as industrial and medical 
products.

4.1. 	 OTHER INCOME
Other income is primarily made up of net proceeds 
from the sale of property, plant, and equipment and 
intangible assets and various indemnities.

4.3. 	 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses primarily include 
transport, maintenance, distribution costs and 
sub-contracting costs.
The operating leases costs included in other 
operating expenses are not significant and 
correspond to the contracts that do not fall within 
the scope of IFRS 16 (cf. paragraph 5.g. of the 
Accounting principles).

4.4. 	 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
EXPENDITURES

In 2022, innovation costs amounted to 308 
million euros (304 million euros in 2021) including 
Research and Development costs of 
199 million euros (183 million euros in 2021).
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In 2022, the Group recognized:

• an impact on financial transactions amounting to 
206.5 million euros mainly corresponding to Air Liquide 
taking control of an existing 50/50 Joint Venture in 
Asia Pacific on January 11, 2022, and reevaluated at fair 
market value for 205.5 million euros;

• restructuring costs corresponding to realignment 
programs primarily in Gas & Services activities;

•Incomes and expenses related to political risks 

•and legal procedures, including a 47.7 million euros 
provision for risk in Engineering & Construction and 
a 31.9 million euros reversal of reserve initially set 
up to cover the risk of being requested to refund the 
equalization charge reimbursed to L’Air Liquide S.A 
in 2020. This reversal follows favorable conclusions 
released by the European Court of Justice on May 12, 
2022;

• an impact of 586 million euros regarding the military 

conflict between Russia and Ukraine corresponding 
mainly to the provision for impairment, the impairment 
of non-consolidated investments and financial 
receivables that the Group holds with these Russian 
entities. 

In 2021, the Group recognized:

capital gains on disposal amounting to +8.3 million 
euros mainly linked to the disposal of its activities in 
Greece in the first half of 2021 for a capital gain on 
disposal of +15.4 million euros;
restructuring costs corresponding to realignment 
programs mainly within the activities Gas & Services;
acquisition costs mainly related to the purchase of 
oxygen production units of Sasol;
legal procedure costs including a 31.9 million euros 
reserve to cover the risk of being requested to refund 
the equalization charge reimbursed to L’Air Liquide 
S.A. in July 2020. This reserve follows unfavorable 
conclusions released by the Advocate General on 
October 14th 2021 regarding a legal question referred 
to the European Court of Justice in October 2020. 
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The increase in average effective tax rate compared 
to 2021 is mainly due to the non-deductible provision 
booked on Russian assets (Note1), partially 
compensated by the non taxable income following the 
control taken by the Group on an existing Joint Venture 
in Asia Pacific (Note 5).

In France, L’Air Liquide S.A. has elected to determine 
French income taxes on a consolidated basis. This 
scheme applies to all French subsidiaries complying 
with the legal requirements.
Foreign subsidiaries have elected to apply for similar 
rules wherever this is allowed under local regulations. 
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NOTE 9	 DIVIDEND PER SHARE
The 2021 dividend on ordinary shares declared and 
paid on May 16, 2022 to the Group Shareholders 
was 1,412.0 million euros (including fidelity 
premium) and amounted to 2.90 euros per share 
and a fidelity premium of 0.29 euro per share.

A dividend payment of 2.95 euros per ordinary 
share and a fidelity premium of 0.29 euros per 

share amounting to 1,587.4 million euros (estimated 
amount taking into account share buybacks and 
cancellations) will be proposed to the Annual 
General Meeting in respect of the financial year 
ended December 31, 2022.
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In the last two fiscal years, the Group has not recorded 
any goodwill impairment losses.
Impairment tests were carried out using the methods 
detailed in note 5.f of the accounting policies. The key 
model assumptions used, such as market multiples 
and the discount rate, took into account the stock 
market and world economic context.
The market multiples used were determined using the 
Air Liquide Group market value as of December 31, 
2022. Multiples obtained do not materially differ from 
those of companies whose activity is similar to that of 
the Group.

If need be, the growth rates used for estimating the 
cash flows of cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units were significantly lower than the 
Group’s historical average growth rates. Growth rates 
are comprised between 1% and 3% in mature markets, 
and up to 5.5% in emerging markets. The weighted 
average cost of capital used was 5.6% as of December 
31, 2022 (4.1% as of December 31, 2021). The weighted 
average cost of capital is adjusted for the activity and 
the geographical location of the cash-generating units 
being tested.
As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the 
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recoverable amounts of each cash-generating unit or 
groups of cash-generating units significantly exceeded 
their net carrying amounts.
Considering the activity of the Air Liquide Group, no 
reasonably possible change in key assumptions would 
result in an impairment. The Gas & Services activities 
favor synergies between the different business lines 
by pooling assets for a given geographical area. The 

geographical development of the activity is generally 
based on local industrial investments and external 
growth operations throughout the Large Industries 
business line. The supply of gas to clients of the Large 
Industries business is contracted for a minimum duration 
of 15 years. These customer contracts provide a good 
visibility and guarantee of future income. 

4
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The European program, set up in 2015 and renewed 
in 2020 was amended on May 2022 to increase its 
coverage to 800 million euros (872 million euros 
including 9% of deferred purchase price). Its maturity 
is February 28, 2026. The assigned receivables, in 
the amount of 671.3 million euros, were derecognized 
as of December 31, 2022 (638.4 million euros as of 
December 31, 2021).
The American program, held by Airgas and set up in 

December 2018, was renewed on December 2022 
with a maturity on December 2025. As of December 
31, 2022, the program covers 750 million US dollars 
(703 million euros) and 676.5 million US dollars (634.3 
million euros) were derecognized.
Other non-recourse factoring programs exist in various 
countries and activities, mainly in Asia and Healthcare.
Almost all the risks and rewards were transferred to the 
assignees. 

4
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Shares have a par value of 5.50 euros each and are all 
issued and fully paid-up.
In 2022, a total of 1,202,795 shares were repurchased 
(net of disposals), of which net repurchase for 1 198 
600 shares before the free shares attribution and 
net repurchase for 4 195 shares after the free shares 
attribution. 

21.2. 	 FREE SHARES ATTRIBUTION

Benoît Potier as Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer and under the authority conferred to him by 
the Board of Directors of May 4, 2022, decided, on 
May 31, 2022, to create 47,547,083 new shares at a 
par value of 5.50 euros and ranking for dividends as of 
January 1, 2022. These shares were freely attributed 
on June 8, 2022 to Shareholders by capitalization of 
premiums, at a rate of one new share for ten existing 
shares.
In addition, pursuant to article 21 of the articles of the 

association, 1,358,416 new shares were created at a 
par value of 5.50 euros and ranking for dividends as of 
January 1, 2022. These shares were granted on June 
8, 2022 as free shares to Shareholders at the parity 
of one share for one hundred existing shares on June 
7, 2022 by capitalization of premiums. The shares 
subject to this additional free share attribution are 
the shares held in registered form continuously from 
December 31, 2019 to June 7, 2022 inclusive.

21.3. 	 CAPITAL DECREASE

Under the authority of the 18th resolution adopted 
by the Annual General Meeting held on May 4, 2022, 
the Board of Directors of July 27, 2022, carried out 
the capital decrease of 6,043,950 euros to bring 
the capital back from 2,884,069,820.50 euros to 
2,878,025,870.50 euros by cancelling 1,098,900 
shares.

4
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21.4. 	 COMPANY TREASURY SHARES

Treasury shares are Air Liquide shares held by the 
Group, including shares forming part of the liquidity 
contract in accordance with an Ethics Charter 
recognized by the French financial markets authority 
(Autorité des marchés financiers). As of December 
31, 2022, the Group held 1,223,450 treasury shares 
(1,227,185 as of December 31, 2021) including 10,500 
treasury shares under a liquidity contract (7,050 as of 
December 31, 2021). Changes in the number of treasury 
shares are explained in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.

21.5. 	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share subscription option plans

Pursuant to the decisions of the Board of Directors, 
following the approval by the Annual General 
Meeting and based on the recommendations of 
the Remuneration Committee, the Company had 
adopted share subscription plans for some of the 
senior executives of the Company and its subsidiaries 
worldwide, as well as corporate officers.
The purpose of these options is to provide an incentive 
to key executives, by rewarding the loyalty of high-
performing executives and their actions in exceptional 
situations, as well as associating them with the long-
term interests of Shareholders.
Stock options are granted for a minimum price which 
cannot be lower than the average closing market 
price over the 20 trading days preceding the grant 
date. Options granted since October 14, 2011 must be 
exercised within 10 years.
A four-year vesting period applies to stock options 
granted.
As of December 31, 2022, the number of outstanding 

share options granted by the Board of Directors under 
the plans approved by Annual General Meetings 
amounted to 1,340,889 options after adjustment 
(average price of 72.38 euros), or 0.26% of share 
capital. 
Out of the total number of options issued pursuant to 
the approval by the Annual General Meeting on May 4, 
2022, 10,469,005 options were retained for possible 
grant by the Board of Directors as of December 31, 
2022.

Performance shares plans

An additional compensation system involving 
performance shares was set up in 2008 as a way to 
reward best employees and associate their medium-
term performance with the Company’s objectives.

The 21st resolution adopted by the Extraordinary 
Annual General Meeting held on May 4, 2022 authorizes 
the Board of Directors to grant free shares to Group 
employees, up to a maximum of 0.5% of the Company’s 
share capital over a 38-month period. As part of this 
maximum attribution, free shares representing up to 
0.1% of the Group’s share capital can be granted to 
corporate officers over the same period.

Under this authority, the Board of Directors adopted 
two different general regulations on September 29, 
2022 (“France” Plan and “World” Plan) governing the 
attribution of performance shares to beneficiaries 
determined by the Board of Directors. The differences 
between the “France” and “World” Plans mainly refer 
to the number of years of service required – paragraph 
a) below, and to the correlative absence of any holding 
requirement for the “World” Plan – paragraph c) below.

The granted shares shall be either shares issued 
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through a capital increase performed by the Company 
by no later than the definitive vesting date or shares 
bought back by the Company in the market prior to 
such date.

To date, performance shares granted are treasury 
shares bought back as part of the Company’s shares 
buyback program.

The granted shares shall be of the same nature and 
category as those making up the Company’s share 
capital at the date on which the plans are approved by 
the Board of Directors.

On September 29, 2022, the Board of Directors decided 
to grant 460,415 performance shares to employees 
(2,575 beneficiaries).

Subscription options and performance shares are 
subject to:
a) a continued service requirement during the vesting 
period:
the shares granted to a beneficiary shall only finally vest 
if he or she has been an employee or corporate officer 
of a Group company during a vesting period, calculated 
as from the grant date, of three years for “France” 

Plan beneficiaries and four years for “World” Plan 
beneficiaries. In the event of retirement, the beneficiary 
retains his rights, being no longer required to satisfy the 
continued service requirement;

(b) performance requirements for all performance 
shares allocated to all beneficiaries which are now 
identical to performance requirements applicable to 
stock-options;

(c) a holding requirement for performance shares: 
as from the final grant date, the beneficiaries of the 
“France” Plan are required to hold their shares for two 
additional years during which such shares may not be 
transferred (except in the event of disability or death).

Options granted to the ten employees of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (excluding corporate officers) who 
were attributed the highest number of options

In 2022, no options have been granted.

4
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Options exercised in 2022 by the ten employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (excluding corporate 
officers) with the highest number of options exercised
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Information on the fair value of share subscription 
options and attribution of performance shares

Share subscription options
No options have been granted in 2021 and 2022.

Attribution of performance shares

The achievement of performance conditions limited 
with Group result together with the achievement 

of performance condition linked to the carbon 
intensity reduction are not considered as underlyings 
assumptions and were deemed to have been fully 
achieved at the valuation date.

4
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In the normal course of its operations, the Group 
is party to arbitration, judicial or administrative 
proceedings. The potential costs of such 
proceedings are provided for, when they are 
probable, only if the amount can be quantified or 
estimated within a reasonable range. In the latter 
case, the amount provided for represents the best 
estimate of the Group’s management. Provisions 
are determined based on a case-by-case risk 
assessment and events occurring during ongoing 
proceedings may result in a risk reappraisal at any 
time. These litigations are by nature diverse and 
involve various Group subsidiaries. Contingency 

provisions recorded with respect to all Group 
litigations amounted to 185.8 million euros as of 
December 31, 2022 (228.5 million euros as of 
December 31, 2021) and are presented in “Other 
provisions”. They include provisions for industrial 
disputes and for tax risks, excluding income taxes, 
respectively for 127.0 and 58.8 million euros.
The Group does not provide the detail of these 
provisions, considering that disclosing the amount 
provided for each individual litigation could be 
prejudicial to the Group. Nevertheless, no single 
litigation is likely to have a material effect on the 
Group’s financial position or its profitability. 

Note 23	 Employee benefit obligations

23.1. 	 PENSION PLANS

The most significant pension plans relate to France, 
Germany and the United States.
 
In France, Air Liquide provides an additional 
retirement benefit based on the final salary which 
is paid in addition to other normal pension plans. 
On December 31, 1995, this plan was closed to 
employees under age 45 or with less than 20 years 
of service as of January 1, 1996; the latter being 
covered by a defined contribution plan. These 
plans are unfunded. The annual amounts paid 
with regards to additional benefits cannot exceed 
a threshold set originally at 12% of total payroll or 
12% of pre-tax profits of companies involved. This 
12% threshold will be proportionately reduced by 
comparing the number of plan beneficiaries for 
the year to the number of plan beneficiaries for the 

previous year. In 2017, this additional benefit was 
funded subsequently to the Article 50 of the law of 
January 20, 2014 securing the future and fairness 
of pensions plans.

IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” provides a very 
restrictive definition of defined contribution plans; 
any plans not complying fully with the conditions 
required are defined benefit plans by default.

This restrictive definition of defined contribution 
plans requires Air Liquide to account for these 
additional benefits as a defined benefit plan in spite 
of the limited obligations for the Company and 
the nature of the obligations not being stable or 
continuous.

The qualification as a defined benefit plan results 
in the recognition of a provision with regards to the 
future obligations.
With the Company’s obligations being limited, the 

4
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valuation of what will actually be paid to retirees is 
uncertain. Since the effect of this threshold cannot 
be measured reliably, the provision recognized 
represents the actuarial value of the amounts 
to be paid out to retirees until the plan is closed, 
excluding any potential threshold effect. The 
additional retirement benefit paid by Air Liquide is 
aligned with the indexation of French statutory and 
supplementary pension plans up to a maximum 
annuity. Any additional annuity will not be subject to 
any indexation. The effects related to the revaluation 
cap and floor were accounted for in “Other financial 
expenses”.

In Germany, there are two main Air Liquide pension 
plans.

The first plan provides the retirees of Lurgi 
(Engineering & Construction activity) with a lifetime 
annuity, based on the income and length of service 
vested in the plan at the time of retirement, the 
normal retirement age being 65. The plan also 
provides disability and widowhood pensions. 
This plan is now closed to new entrants, the latter 
benefiting from a defined contribution plan.

The second plan is an old plan covering employees 
of the Gas & Services activities. The plan provides 
a lifetime annuity, based on the average income 
earned over the employee’s career and the length 
of service vested at the time of retirement, the 
normal retirement age being 65. The plan also 
provides disability, pre-retirement and widowhood 
pensions. It is now closed to new entrants, with new 
employees benefiting from another defined benefit 
plan. Providing a minimum length of service of ten 

years, the plan provides a lifetime annuity based on 
the average income earned over the employee’s 
career and the length of service vested at the time 
of retirement, the normal retirement age being 65. 
The plan also provides disability, pre-retirement 
and widowhood pensions.

In accordance with common market practice in 
Germany, limited funding contributions are made 
to pension funds as both plans are mainly managed 
internally.

In the United States, Air Liquide grants retirees 
supplemental benefits in addition to the normal 
pension plans. The US plan provides a traditional 
final average pay benefit to those who continue 
to accrue benefits. A retiring employee may elect 
to receive their pension benefit as a lump sum or 
a lifetime annuity. This plan was closed to new 
participants in 2004 and was frozen in 2016. 
Therefore, employees who joined the Company 
before 2004 are no longer acquiring new rights 
on this defined benefit plan, but benefit from the 
defined contribution plan that has been opened 
since 2004 to new employees.

A new plan was implemented on January 1, 2017 
(Supplemental Saving plan). This plan comes on 
top of the basic savings plan offering additional 
retirement benefits beyond the tax limit of the basic 
plan. It represents an annual cost of around 7 million 
US dollars.
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23.5. 	 PENSION PLAN RISK ANALYSIS 

Sensitivity to movements in discount rates and other 
variables

The present value of obligations related to defined 
benefit plans is measured by discounting future 
cash flows. Discount rates are determined based on 
Government bonds rates or, when the financial markets 
are sufficiently liquid, on “high-quality” corporate bond 
rates, which can vary from one period to another.

Changes in discount rates can materially change 
the present value of the Group’s obligations and the 
expense recorded in the year.
The amount of obligations is affected to a lesser extent 
by revised wages and inflation indexes, as well as legal 
changes regarding retirement age or official mortality 
tables.
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In accordance with the Group’s policy to diversify 
funding sources, long-term bonds and private 
placements are the primary sources of funding and 
represent 87% of gross debt as of December 31, 2022. 
Outstanding notes under these sources amounted to 
10,5 billion euros at the end of 2022.
The carrying amount of commercial paper amounted 
to 0.1 billion euros as of December 31, 2022, in slight 
decrease compared to December 31, 2021.

Gross debt decreased by 0.5 billion euros. Bond debt 
decreased by 0.7 billion euros, despite an unfavorable 
currency effect of 0.2 billion euros. Indeed, bond 
issues matured in 2022 were only partially renewed. 
In addition, bank debt increased by 0.2 billion euros, 
mainly in China, Taiwan, Singapore and India.

In 2022, one bond was issued by Air Liquide Finance, 
guaranteed by L’Air Liquide S.A.: a public bond issue 
of 600 million euros on September 9, 2022, under the 
EMTN program, maturity September 16, 2032, at a 
reorder yield of 2.982% (2.875% coupon). 

In consideration thereof, Air Liquide Finance repaid:
• a 2015 bond issuance on the Taiwanese market 
(“Formosa bond”) for an amount of 500 million Chinese 
renminbi (69 million euros) on January 23, 2022;

• a 2016 bond issue under the EMTN program of 300 
million euros on April 18, 2022;

• a 2016 bond issue under the EMTN program of 500 
million euros on June 13, 2022;

• a 2012 private placement of 400 million US dollar (353 
million euros) on September 13, 2022;

• a 2014 private placement of 130 million Swiss francs 
(126 million euros) on September 19, 2022.

The carrying amount of borrowings in the balance 
sheet is as follows:



112 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE

4



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE 113

4



114 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE

24.5. 	 NET DEBT BY CURRENCY 

The Group ensures a natural hedge and reduces its 
exposure to currency fluctuations by raising debt 
mainly in the currency of the cash flows that are 
generated to repay the debt. In most countries, and 
especially outside the euro, US dollar, Japanese yen 
and Chinese renminbi zones, financing is raised in 
either local or foreign currency (EUR or USD) when 
sales contracts are indexed to foreign currency. 
Debt in other currencies is mainly denominated 
in Taiwan dollar, South African Rand, Singapore 
dollar, British pound sterling and in Canadian dollar.

As part of intra-group multi-currency financing, the 
Central Treasury Department converts the debt 
raised in financial markets into various currencies 

to finance subsidiaries in their functional currencies 
or their cash flow currencies. The breakdown of 
this hedging portfolio is shown in the table below.

Accordingly, a portion of the euro debt raised 
was converted (1,622.0 million euros) to other 
currencies to finance foreign subsidiaries. As an 
example, 3,543.5 million euros were raised initially 
in US dollar, and 537.3 million euros were raised in 
euros and converted in US dollar using currency 
swap contracts. 296.3 million euros were in cash or 
cash equivalent, leading to an adjusted net debt in 
US dollars of 3,784.5 million euros.

4
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24.7. 	 OTHER FINANCING INFORMATION

Three financial covenants are associated to bank debt 
facilities exceeding 50 million euros: they are long term 
loans used by Air Liquide Arabia (Saudi Arabia) and Air 
Liquide Large Industries South Africa (South Africa), 
for a total outstanding amount of 327 million euros as of 
December 31, 2022. Financial covenants were all met as of 
December 31, 2022.
The amount of bank credit facilities subject to financial 
covenants represents around 4.0% of the Group’s gross 
debt as of December 31, 2022.
Bonds issued by L’Air Liquide S.A. and Air Liquide Finance, 
and making up the carrying amount of bonds as of 
December 31, 2022, include a change of control clause. 

NOTE 25	 Financial risk policy and 
management 

25.1. 	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is a priority for the Group. Consequently, 
the Finance Department governance relies on Strategic 
Finance Committees and Operational Finance 
Committees.
The Finance Department centrally manages the main 
financial risks, in accordance with decisions taken by 
the Strategic Finance Committee to which it reports on 
a regular basis. The Finance Department also performs 
country and customer risks analyses associated with 
investment decisions and attends Investment Committee 
meetings.
The financial policy adopted by Air Liquide, the purpose of 

4
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which is to minimize the risks incurred by the Group and 
its subsidiaries, enables the Group to ensure sustainable 
funding sources. To minimize the refinancing risk related 
to debt maturity schedules, the Group diversifies 
financing sources and spreads maturities over several 
years. In 2022, the average debt maturity was 5.9 years. 
As of December 31, 2022, the long-term debt (gross debt 
maturing in more than one year) represented 84% of the 
overall Group debt, compared to 83% as of December 31, 
2021.

Interest rate, commodities and foreign currency 
hedging strategies validated by the Operational Finance 
Committee are set up depending on market opportunities 
, while complying with prudence and risk limitation 
principles.

The Group also pays continuous attention to its bank 
and customer counterparty risks by regularly monitoring 
ratings issued by main international rating agencies and 
the level of risk associated with these counterparties. An 
internal ratings system, set-up in 2018, is used for the most 
important clients when no leading credit ratings agency 
information is available.

a)	 Foreign exchange risk

Principles
Financial instruments are only used to hedge transaction-
based foreign exchange risk. The risk is attached 
on the one hand to financial cash flows arising from 
royalties, dividends, intra-group loans and borrowings 
denominated in foreign currencies and on the other hand 
to foreign currency commercial cash flows from operating 
entities. Although in slight increase, commercial cash 
flows denominated in foreign currencies do not represent 
significant amounts compared to consolidated revenue.

Foreign exchange risk related to royalties, dividend 
flows and intra-group loans and borrowings in foreign 
currencies is hedged by the Central Treasury Department 
using currency forwards or options with an overall term 
of less than 18 months. Currency hedging of intra-group 
loans and borrowings uses currency forwards.

Foreign currency commercial cash flows from operating 
entities are hedged either as part of the annual budgetary 
process for subsidiaries with recurring flows in foreign 
currency or at the signing date of a sale or purchase 
contract for non-recurring flows for the Engineering & 
Construction business line. Around a hundred subsidiaries 
are exposed to foreign exchange risk. These subsidiaries 
mainly use currency forwards set up by Air Liquide Finance 
(internal counterparty for hedging transactions) except in 
countries where it is prohibited by local regulations. The 
majority of these contracts have short maturities (three 
to twelve months) and market transactions are regulated 
by master agreements of the French Banking Federation 
(“FBF”) or by master agreements of the International 
Swaps and Derivative Association (“ISDA”) for local 
hedging operations. These do not include collateralization 
commitments or margin calls.

When preparing their budget at the year-end, subsidiaries 
report their foreign exchange risk exposure to the Central 
Treasury Department in order to hedge the commercial 
cash flows expected in the following year. In each case, 
the Central Treasury Department monitors the adequacy 
of the hedges with the identified risks and performs a full 
revaluation of all hedges, every six months.

The foreign exchange translation risk (consolidation 
in euros of the assets and liabilities in currencies) is not 
subject to hedging. Indeed, investments are essentially 
funded in the currency in which the cash flows are 
generated, thus creating a natural currency hedging.
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Sensitivity of income statement and balance sheet 
items to foreign currency fluctuations
The table below sets out the effect of the translation 
of balance sheet items and the income statement of 

subsidiaries with a functional currency of USD, CNY, 
JPY, or CAD assuming a 10% appreciation against 
the euro (foreign exchange translation risk) on the 
following items:

The foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis shows 
that a 10% appreciation in the four major currencies 
as of December 31, 2022 would result in changes to 
revenue, operating income recurring, net profit and 
equity, as indicated above.

A 10% depreciation in the above currencies as of 
December 31, 2022, would have the equivalent but 
opposite effects as those presented above, assuming 
that all other variables remained constant.

Sensitivity of derivatives and their underlying 
hedged items to foreign currency fluctuations

The table below shows the effect of a 10% fluctuation 
in hedging currency exchange rates on the recognition 
of the foreign exchange derivatives portfolio in the 
Group’s net profit and equity as of December 31, 2022. 
The sensitivity of net profit and equity primarily reflects 
the effect of foreign exchange swaps relating to the 
intragroup financing activity of the subsidiary Air Liquide 
Finance, and currency forward hedging instruments 
contracted at head office level.

4
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b)	 Interest rate risk

Principles

Air Liquide centrally manages interest rate risk 
on the main currencies: euro, US dollar, Chinese 
renminbi and Japanese yen which represented 
84% of the Group’s total net debt as of December 
31, 2022. Regarding other currencies, the Finance 
Department provides subsidiaries with advice 
as to the different types of bank loans and/or 
hedging transactions to enter into according to the 
characteristics of local financial markets.

The Group policy is to maintain the major portion of 
total debt at fixed rates and to protect the residual 
balance using optional hedging instruments. This 
approach enables the Group to limit the effect of 
interest rate fluctuations on financial expenses.

Consequently, at the 2022 year-end, 94% of the 
total debt was fixed-rate debt. The fixed-rate/
floating-rate breakdown is reviewed on a regular 
basis by the Finance Committees, depending on 
interest rate fluctuations and the level of Group 
debt.

Sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations on
 floating-rate debt

The Group net debt exposed to interest rate 
fluctuations amounted to around 432 million 
equivalent euros as of December 31, 2022, for an 
average outstanding amount of 0.8 billion equivalent 
euros (total debt adjusted for interest rate hedging 
instruments and short-term securities) in slight 
increase compared to December 31, 2021 (0.7 
billion equivalent euros).
An increase or decrease in interest rates by 100 
basis points (±1%) on all yield curves would have 
an effect of approximately ±8 million euros on the 
Group’s annual cost of debt (accounted in financial 
charges) before tax, assuming outstanding floating 
debt remains constant.
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Sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations on derivatives 
and their underlying hedged items
The table below shows the effect of a 1% fluctuation 
of interest rates in all foreign currencies on the 

interest rate derivatives portfolio in the Group’s net 
profit and equity, as of December 31, 2022.

To protect the Group against the increase of variable 
rates applicable to short-term financing (commercial 
papers) and to other exposure to variable rates in 2023, 
the Group set up 6 firm hedges for 148 million euros and 
200 million US dollar. They were completed by optional 
hedges for a total amount of 140 million euros and 200 
million US dollar.

All hedging instruments used for interest rate or 
foreign exchange risk management purposes relate 
to identified risks and were set up to comply with the 
Group’s financial policy. The effect on equity primarily 
stems from the fixed-rate hedging instruments 
contracted by the subsidiary Air Liquide Finance.

c)	 Counterparty risk

Counterparty risks for Air Liquide potentially include 
customers and bank counterparties.

The Group’s subsidiaries serve a large number of 
customers (more than two million worldwide) located 
in extremely diverse markets: chemicals, steel, 
refining, food, pharmaceuticals, metals, automotive, 
manufacturing, healthcare, research laboratories, 
electronics, etc. In 2022, the Group’s main customer 

represents around 2% of revenue, the Group’s 10 main 
customers around 15% of sales, and the Group’s 50 
main customers around 35% of sales. The geographical 
risk is limited by the Group’s sustainable coverage in 73 
countries (7) on all continents. This diversity reduces 
customer and market risk.

To better assess its exposure, the Group has 
implemented procedures to regularly monitor the 
financial situation of its major customers as well as a 
monthly reporting for the Group’s 171 main transnational 
customers in order to monitor the related consolidated 
risk.

Moreover, customer risk assessment and in particular 
the quality of the customer’s site is an important 
component of the investment decision process.

Bank counterparty risk relates to the outstanding 
amounts of deposits, current accounts, market values 
of derivatives and to the credit lines contracted with 
each bank. Pursuant to its financial policy, in the majority 
of cases, the Group requires a long-term Standard & 
Poor’s “A” credit rating or a Moody’s “A2” rating from 
its counterparties to accept commitments on financial 
instruments. The Group’s credit lines are also spread 
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among several banks from various geographical areas 
to avoid the risk of concentration while complying with 
the same credit rating requirements. The Operational 
Finance Committee regularly reviews and approves the 
list of bank counterparties related to investments and the 
list of financial instruments. With regards to short-term 
investments, outstandings are subject to strict limits per 
counterparty and are monitored daily.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement specifies that the 
valuation of currency, interest rate and commodity 
hedging instruments must take into account the 
counterparty credit risk attached to these transactions. 
Considering the aforementioned counterparty selection 
criteria, the effect on the periodic valuations, by applying 
the historical default probabilities method is immaterial.

d)	 Liquidity risk

It is Group financial policy to spread over time the maturity 
of long-term debt in order to avoid concentration of 
annual refinancing needs. Liquidity risk is also reduced 
by the stability of cash flows generated from operations 
as well as by having confirmed credit lines in place. The 

financial covenants attached to the current financing 
arrangements described in note 24.7 do not affect the 
Group’s access to liquidity.

The carrying amount of short-term financing in the form 
of commercial paper amounted to 131 million euros as 
of December 31, 2022, a decrease by 113 million euros 
compared to the end of 2021. The average amount of 
commercial paper amounted to 756 million euros in 
2022, compared to 516 million euros in 2021.

The Group policy requires that commercial paper in issue 
be backed by confirmed long-term credit lines. In 2022, 
this requirement was met, with an amount of confirmed 
credit lines of 3,600 million euros largely exceeding 
maximum outstanding commercial paper.

(7) Excluding Russia, where the entities are in the process of being divested. They are 
no more consolidated following the loss of control on September 1st, 2022.
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When the Group makes short-term financial 
investments other than bank deposits, it systematically 
favors monetary instruments with a short-term maturity 
in order to limit the risk of non-liquidity or high volatility.

The following tables represent the future cash flows 
related to the main balance sheet items and to the 
derivative financial instruments recognized at the end 
of the last two periods. Interest flows are calculated 
in accordance with IFRS 7 and represent the interest 

payable for each relevant period. Interest flows related 
to floating interest rate or foreign currency instruments 
were calculated using the closing interest and 
exchange rates as of December 31, 2021 and 2022. The 
flows related to debt repayment obligations differ from 
the amounts recognized in the Group’s balance sheet 
due to the accounting treatment applied to borrowings 
and the exclusion of hedging instruments.

4
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f)	 Commodity risk (energy contracts)

A portion of Air Liquide’s energy supplies, with limited 
volume commitments, is obtained through forward 
purchase contracts, at a fixed or indexed price.

IFRS 9 provides for the inclusion within its scope of 
forward purchases and sales of non-financial assets 
as soon as these transactions are deemed similar to 
derivative instruments.

However, IFRS 9 considers that forward contracts 
for non-financial assets should not be considered 
as derivatives when they have been entered into to 
meet the Company’s “normal” business requirements, 
resulting in the delivery upon maturity of the underlying 
item for use in the Company’s industrial process. As Air 
Liquide does not purchase electricity or natural gas for 
speculation or arbitrage on commodity price trends 
purposes, no forward contracts relating to energy meet 
the definition of a derivative instrument. The contracts 
enter into as part of the Company’s normal business to 
be used in the industrial process and do not meet the 
definition of a derivative instrument.

Furthermore, in a global context of highly volatile 
electricity and natural gas market prices, Air Liquide 
continues to index long-term customer contracts to 
hedge these risks. For natural gas and electricity prices, 
the opening of some markets led the Group, under 
these circumstances, to replace the regulated tariffs by 
local market indices.

Nonetheless, a few contracts remain for which price 
indexation alone cannot guarantee a total and effective 
hedge against the risk of energy prices fluctuations. 
These risks are therefore hedged by Air Liquide, 
particularly by Air Liquide Finance, using adequate 
commodity derivatives, which are mainly swaps 
with maturities of generally less than two years. For 
contracts for the supply of industrial gas produced from 
renewable energy, new risks to be taken into account 
(long-term commitment, fixed price, intermittency, 
management of environmental certificates, etc.) could 
lead the Group to make greater use of appropriate 
hedging instruments. 
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A suppliers payment platform which aims at facilitating 
the payment process of suppliers trade payables 
has been set up in the United States in 2020.The 
Group has analyzed the main features of the contract 
according to the principles described in paragraph 6.d 

of the accounting principles and has concluded that the 
qualification of trade payables should not be challenged 
subject to the contract which does not constitute a 
reverse factoring contract. 

4
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Note 28  Related party disclosures

28.1. 	 TRANSACTIONS WITH COMPANIES 
INCLUDED IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the 
Financial Statements of L’Air Liquide S.A. and all the 
subsidiaries listed on pages 114 to 117. L’Air Liquide S.A. 
is the ultimate parent company.

Due to the activities and legal organization of the 
Group, only executives, associates and joint ventures 
are considered to be related parties to the Group. 
Transactions performed between these individuals 
or these companies and Group subsidiaries are not 
material.

Information related to associates and joint ventures is 
disclosed in note 14.

28.2. 	 REMUNERATION ALLOCATED TO 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
MANAGEMENT BODIES

The remuneration of Group executives includes the 
remuneration allocated to the Board of Directors and 
the Company’s management bodies as compensation 
for their duties within the entire Group as employees 
and corporate officers for the respective fiscal years. 
The Company’s management bodies include all the 
members of Executive Management and the Executive 
Committee. The amounts expensed in this respect are 
as follows:

Short-term benefits

Short-term benefits include fixed remuneration, variable 
remuneration, benefits in kind and attendance fees. 
The entire variable remuneration portion due for any 
given year is paid the following year after the Financial 
Statements have been approved.

The remuneration policy for members of the executive 
team takes into account market practices. It includes 
a substantial variable portion depending on the 
achievement of earnings and individual performance 
objectives.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits include the contributions 
paid to external pension funds. Retirement commitments 
amounted to 5,063 thousand euros in 2022 and 34,811 
thousand euros in 2021.

Share-based payments
Stock options and performance shares granted 
to Executive Management and to the Executive 
Committee have the following expiry dates and strike 
prices:
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The fair value of performance shares granted in 2022 is 
disclosed in note 21.

These amounts are expensed over the lock-in period 
of the option and performance shares. The amounts 
that will be recognized in future periods in respect of the 
granted stock options and performance shares totaled 
18,690 thousand euros as of December 31, 2022 (20,515 
thousand euros as of December 31, 2021).

The 2022 plan performance shares granted to corporate 
officers and Executive Committee members cannot be 
exercised unless certain performance conditions are 
achieved.

No stock options or performance shares were granted 
to other non-executive Directors under these plans. 

4



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE 131

4

Air Liquide owns a 13.7% stake in Exeltium S.A.S. 
amounting to 24.5 million euros.
On March 24, 2010, Exeltium and EDF entered into an 
industrial partnership agreement under which Exeltium 
can acquire rights to a portion of EDF’s electronuclear 
production. In consideration, Exeltium and its 
shareholder clients signed long-term electricity supply 
contracts. The contract signed by Air Liquide has a 20-
year term and can be suspended by Air Liquide after 10 
years. This contract provides long-term visibility over 
the price of the electricity to be supplied. This project 
was approved by the European Commission.

The Group’s energy purchase commitments amounted 
to 5,442.8 million euros as of December 31, 2022 
(2,673.9 million euros as of December 31, 2021). In 
2022, the Group has signed significant Power Purchase 
Agreements. The first one for 15 years duration with 
Vattenfall in the Netherlands amounting to 402 million 
euros, and two others with Enel Green Power in South 
Africa for 392 million euros. Those contracts will start 
in 2025 and are therefore not yet subject to mutual 

commitments received from clients in connection with 
long-term gas supply contracts.

Almost all of these commitments, except the ones 
mentioned above, are covered by mutual commitments 
received from clients in connection with long-term 
gas supply contracts. These commitments are not 
disclosed in the table above.

Commitments to purchases of molecules as part of 
take-or-pay contracts amounted to 4,934.1 million 
euros as of December 31, 2022 (4,158.5 as of December 
31, 2021), and are reported in other commitments 
related to operating activities. These amounts include 
in particular Helium purchase commitments.

Confirmed credit lines are shown in note 25.
Commitments related to equity affiliates amounted to 
368.0 million euros as of December 31, 2022. 

Note 29	 Commitments
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Note 30	 Contingent liabilities

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there is no 
exceptional event or litigation which has affected in 
the recent past or which is likely to materially affect its 
financial situation or profitability.

Note 31	 Climate risks consideration

31.1. 	 BUSINESS MODEL

Air Liquide supplies gas and energy solutions to 
customers in the metals, chemicals, refining and 
energy industries, which are essential for their own 
core businesses, to improve process efficiency and to 
make their plants more environmentally friendly.

Air Liquide’s business model is based on the outsourcing 
of the industrial gas needs of its customers who often 
emit greenhouse gases themselves, in particular in 
the metals, chemicals and refining industries. This 
outsourcing is justified by Air Liquide’s expertise which 
grants them access to state of the art technologies, 
optimized energy consumption of production tools, 
while ensuring the reliability of the supply in the long 
term. However, it leads to the transfer of a portion of the 
customer’s greenhouse gas emissions to the Group.

Industrial gases are used in most industries today 
and they will be even more so during the energy 
transition because they are at the heart of industry 
decarbonization solutions. Demand will increasingly 
turn to low-carbon gases, in line with changing 
regulations.

For the Large Industries activity, which bears most of the 
assets described below, the supply of gas is contracted 
for 15 years or more. Such assets are depreciated over 
the term of the contract, which substantially reduces 
the risk of impairment. Within these contracts, the 
Group guarantees long-term service continuity and 
a high level of reliability with respect to the gas supply 
via a high-performing industrial solution. In return, 
long-term gas supply contracts include guaranteed 
minimum volumes through take-or-pay clauses, as well 
as the indexation to variable costs (mainly electricity 
and natural gas), including any CO2 cost (for example 
ETS schema in Europe), and inflation. 

31.2. 	 GROUP’S ASSETS AND CO₂ EMISSIONS

The main Group assets that impact the CO2 balance 
are:
424 large Air Separation Units (ASU), oxygen and 
nitrogen in particular, which do not use any combustion 
processes and consume almost exclusively electrical 
energy, and therefore do not generate any CO2 
emissions. However, electricity used by the Group 
to power these units generate CO2 emissions at 
electricity suppliers; such emissions are classified 
as indirect emissions (scope 2). The CO2 emissions 
reductions can be in this case done mostly through 
renewable electricity purchases;

4
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31.3. 	 GROUP’S CLIMATE OBJECTIVES

Air Liquide acknowledges the importance and urgency 
of climate issues. The Group intends to play an active 
role in achieving the targets set out in the Paris 
Agreement, which defines a global framework to avoid 
dangerous climate change by limiting global warming 
to well below 2°C compared with the pre-industrial 
level, and by continuing efforts to limit it to 1.5°C. 
In this regard, the Group has committed to achieve 
carbon neutrality by 2050. Two major intermediate 
milestones support this long-term objective: 

• the start of reduction of absolute CO2 emissions 
around 2025; 

• followed by a -33% reduction in scope 1 and scope 2 
emissions in 2035 compared with a 2020 baseline (8). 
Moreover, the Group has maintained the objective set 
in 2018 to reduce its carbon intensity by -30% by 2025 
compared with 2015 (9).

31.4. 	 TRANSITION RISK – GREENHOUSE GAS 
EMISSIONS

The main climate risk identified by the Group at the 
2022 closing period relates to greenhouse gas 
emissions.
The climate transition risk (greenhouse gas emissions) 
is closely linked to the access to renewable electricity 
sources and implementation by public authorities of 
greenhouse gas emission reduction policies such as, 
for example, the introduction of a carbon price or more 
stringent product regulations, that may impact:

• either the Group’s plants (direct impact on the 
operational scope), resulting in increased production 

costs, which by contract would be transferred to the 
customers, and the need for new investments;

• or those of its suppliers, resulting in suppliers price 
increases;

• or customers (indirect impact on the value chain), 
impacting for instance their market, processes and 
industrial gases needs.

The following governance and actions have been 
implemented to limit the risk on the Group’s assets:

• For all its projects, for all geographies, even those 
without a current price for CO2, Air Liquide includes in 
its investment decision process a carbon price of 50 
euros per tonne, the local current price and a high value 
of 100 euros or more per tonne, chosen in function of 
the geography and context. 

The Group makes sure that with the price the project 
is still viable for the customer. As a reminder, any CO2 
cost is contractually passed through to the customer, 
significantly reducing any impairment risk on the 
related asset.

•In cases where the public carbon price exceeds 
a certain cap, contracts with some customers 
contemplate additional investment to decarbonize 
the facility (for example by using carbon capture and 
storage solutions - CCS) and the corresponding 
additional revenue for the Group. 

(8)In tonnes of CO2-equivalent for Scopes 1 and 2, in a “market-based” methodology, restated, 
from 2020 and each subsequent year, to include the emissions of the assets for the full year, 
taking into account (upwards and downwards) changes in scope having a significant impact 
on CO2 emissions.

(9)In kg CO2-equivalent/euro of current operating income before depreciation and amortization 
and excluding IFRS 16 at 2015 exchange rates on Scopes 1 and 2 of greenhouse gas 
emissions in a “market-based” methodology.
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• The Group’s electricity procurement initiatives have 
been reinforced, in particular the procurement of 
renewable electricity, in order to reduce the scope 2 
emissions figures.

• The trajectory of the climate objectives is centrally 
managed via a carbon budget allocated to the regions 
which is revisited every year, in line with intermediary 
objectives. This trajectory is monitored by the 
Environment and Society Committee of the Board of 
Directors, which also meets once a year, in joint sessions 
with the Audit and Accounts Committee. During this 
joint session, the two Committees may review the 
trajectory of climate objectives. The implementation 
of these climate objectives is part of the criteria for the 
Long Term Incentive plans for the CEO and for more 
than 2000 beneficiaries.

Air Liquide’s actions to limit transition risk impacts 
include:

Scope 2 reduction:
• Related to the 424 large air gas production units or 
ASUs, (scope 2 emissions) mainly by using renewable 
electricity: the deployment of the Group’s actions in the 
10 countries with the greatest potential will significantly 
reduce scope 2 emissions. Since 2018, Air Liquide has 
already signed 13 renewable energy supply contracts 
for an estimated annual quantity of 1.724 GWh/y (in a full 
year after start-up of renewable production units). As 
the ASUs are almost all electrified, they do not require 
any specific investment for the transition, because 
emission reduction will be managed through renewable 
energy purchase.
• Energy costs, including renewable energy costs 
do not represent any financial risk as they are 100% 

passed-through to the customer according to the 
terms of the 15 years or more contracts.
Scope 1 reduction:
Related to the 62 large hydrogen production units 
or SMRs, (scope 1 emissions), by capturing CO2. Air 
Liquide masters a complete portfolio of proprietary 
technologies for capturing CO2. Thus, advanced 
Cryocap™ CO2 capture technology equipment has 
been in industrial operation since 2015 on a hydrogen 
production unit in France. The Group was recently 
selected for financing via European subventions for 
two carbon capture projects on SMRs. Thus, the 
decarbonization of the Group’s 10 largest SMRs will 
reduce scope 1 emissions by more than 40%. No 
dismantling of existing SMRs before the end of the 
contract is necessary to achieve the Group’s climate 
objectives.

The innovation capacity and technological know-how 
of Air Liquide’s teams enable the Group to offer cleaner 
and more sustainable solutions to reduce its own 
emissions and those of its industrial customers. The 
Group focuses on technologies for climate solutions 
and energy transition. In 2022, Air Liquide had more 
than 350 patent families on hydrogen.The Group’s 
Innovation expenses amounted to 308 million euros 
in 2022, including more than 100 million dedicated to 
climate solutions.

•  The demand for low-carbon industrial gas at a higher 
price is growing and makes it possible to remunerate 
the investment necessary for the decarbonization of 
Air Liquide’s assets, in particular for the production of 
hydrogen, as well as any additional costs linked to the 
supply of renewable electricity. In addition, financing 
programs in the form of subsidies or tax credits are also 
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implemented in Europe and more recently in the United 
States in order to support, during a transition period, the 
decarbonization of existing industrial assets and new 
units of production. Therefore, there is no indication of 
impairment for the related assets.

Costs related to CO2 emissions (ex ETS scheme in 
Europe) are 100% passed-through to the customer 
according to the terms of the 15 years or more 
contracts. The Group also applies this business model 
to the supply of low carbon industrial gas, therefore Air 
Liquide does not bear the risk associated with energy 
and CO2 costs.

The potential impacts of transition risk have been 
analyzed in the context of the 2022 Group’s Financial 
Statements closing, based on the above mentioned 
facts and assumptions. No significant impact has been 
identified, either on the useful life or on the value of 
the assets, on the client portfolio or on the cash flows 
generated by existing activities or on provisions for 
risks and charges. 

31.5. 	 PHYSICAL RISKS

Air Liquide operates in certain regions of the world 
exposed to changes (in amplitude or frequency) in 
exceptional meteorological phenomena due to climate 
change. These phenomena can slow down or interrupt 
the Group’s operations or make them more expensive. 
Its suppliers and customers are also confronted with 
this same issue.
These can be broken down into:

• acute risks triggered by events such as natural 
disasters, the frequency and severity of which are 
increasing: storms, hurricanes, flooding, etc. These 
risks may relate to Air Liquide sites located near the 

coast for example, or in regions affected by hurricanes 
(the US Gulf Coast, South Asia, etc.);

• chronic risks related to more long-term changes in 
climate models and rising temperatures: rising sea 
levels, chronic heat waves in certain regions, changes 
in rainfall patterns and an increase in their variability, the 
disappearance of certain resources, etc.

Air Liquide’s actions to limit physical impacts include:

Physical risks (water availability, frequency of extreme 
events, etc.) are appraised during the review of 
investment requests, in the same way as financial 
criteria, to ensure that the associated risk management 
measures are adapted, for example in the design of 
equipment.

• Group operations which are regularly exposed to the 
acute risks described above have risk management 
systems in place aimed at adopting suitable preventive 
operational measures, and at managing these crises 
by, first and foremost, protecting individuals and 
the production facilities in close cooperation with 
customers. These systems are regularly updated and 
improved.

• Chronic risks are taken into account, in particular in 
the design of production units, in the same way and to 
the same extent as their energy efficiency and carbon 
footprint.
• Losses caused by natural disasters are covered by the 
Group property and business interruption program.

• The potential impacts on the 2022 Group’s Financial 
Statements of the physical risks has been studied. No 
significant impact has been identified, either on the 
useful life or on the value of the assets, on the client 
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portfolio or on the cash flows generated by existing 
activities or on provisions for risks and charges.
To be noted for both transition risks and physical risks, 
there is no impact on the dismantling provision, as this 

is an obligation already presented and provisioned from 
the date of the Large Industries contract signature.
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Statutory auditors’ offices and fees

STATUTORY AUDITORS’ OFFICES
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KPMG S.A. is represented by
Valérie Besson and Laurent Genin
Tour Eqho - 2, avenue Gambetta - CS60055
92066 Paris-La Défense

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit is represented by

Principal Statutory Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit is represented by
Olivier Lotz and Cédric Le Gal
63, rue de Villiers
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Statutory Auditors’ Report on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

This is a translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ 
report on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company issued in French and it is provided 
solely for the convenience of English speaking users. 
This Statutory Auditors’ report includes information 
required by European regulation and French law, such 
as information about the appointment of the Statutory 
Auditors or verification of the information concerning 
the Group presented in the Management Report and 
other documents provided to shareholders.

This report should be read in conjunction with, and 
construed in accordance with, French law and 
professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the Annual General Meeting of L’ Air Liquide,

OPINION

In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us 
by your Annual General Meeting, we have audited the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
L’Air Liquide (“the Group”) for the year ended December 
31, 2022.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and 
of the financial position of the Group as at December 
31, 2022 and of the results of its operations for the 
year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by 
the European Union.
The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with 
our report to the Audit and Accounts Committee.

BASIS FOR OPINION 
Audit Framework

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Statutory Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report.

Independence
We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with 
independence requirements of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de commerce) and the French Code of 
Ethics (Code de déontologie) for statutory auditors, for 
the period from January 1, 2022 to the date of our report 
and specifically we did not provide any prohibited non-
audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation 
(EU) No 537/2014.

JUSTIFICATION OF ASSESSMENTS – KEY AUDIT 
MATTERS

In accordance with the requirements of Articles 
L.823-9 and R.823-7 of the French Commercial Code 
(Code de commerce) relating to the justification of our 
assessments, we inform you of the key audit matters 
relating to risks of material misstatement that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period, as well as how we addressed those 
risks.

These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
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whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on specific items of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Large Industries activity: qualification of the contracts 
and related revenue recognition method

Risk identified

The gas supply of the Large Industries activity is 
based on long term contracts with a limited number 
of customers and requires significant industrial 
investments.
As described in note “3.a. Revenue recognition – Gas 
& Services” of the accounting principles section of the 
consolidated financial statements, these investments 
are usually made to share production capacity with 
the other business lines of the Group, particularly the 
Industrial Merchant business or to serve customers 
connected to pipelines in an industrial region. In such 
cases, Group management considers that those 
assets are not identified as defined in the standard IFRS 
16 “Leases”.

When assets used for the long term supply agreements 
are dedicated to a customer, the Group considers that 
it retains the right to direct the use of these assets as 
defined in the standard IFRS 16. Accordingly, gas supply 
agreements linked to those assets are not considered 
as leases. These industrial investments continue to be 
controlled by the Group and are recorded as property, 
plant and equipment, the full amounts received for the 
contracts being, otherwise, recognized as revenue.

Customers of the Large Industries business 
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits 

granted by the gas supply service or its availability. 
As a result, the revenue recognition related to these 
contracts occurs when the gas is supplied or when the 
reserved capacity is made available.

As described in note 31 “Climate risk consideration” to 
the consolidated financial statements, long term gas 
supply contracts include guaranteed minimum volumes 
through take-or-pay clauses, as well as the indexation 
to variable costs (mainly electricity and natural gas), 
including any CO2 cost, and inflation.

Due to the complexity of those contracts and the impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements of the 
judgments made when the contract is signed or in case 
of subsequent significant modifications, and of the 
execution of contractual clauses such as indexation 
clauses to variable costs, we have considered the 
qualification of Large Industries long term contracts 
and related revenue recognition criteria as a key audit 
matter. 

Our response
Our procedures consisted notably in:

• understanding the criteria to qualify the Large 
Industries long term contracts applied by the Group, 
considering in particular the specific nature of the 
underlying assets;

• understanding internal control procedures 
implemented by the Group to confirm the compliance 
of the accounting treatment applied to these contracts 
with IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
and IFRS 16 “Leases”; 

verifying the compliance of the accounting treatment 
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applied to Large Industries long term contracts with 
IFRS 15 and IFRS 16;

• assessing the application of existing contractual 
indexation clauses, through an understanding of the 
Revenue process, including relevant controls, and 
performing substantive testing on a sample of revenue 
transactions;

• assessing the appropriateness of the disclosure 
included in note “3.a. Revenue recognition – Gas 
Services” of the accounting principles section of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Large Industries activity: useful lives of production 
units and measurement of their recoverable amount

Risk identified
As at December 31, 2022, the net book value of 
property, plant and equipment amounts to 23, 647 
million euros, or 47,8% of the Group total assets, that 
include the significant industrial investments to execute 
the customer agreements of the Large Industries 
activity. As disclosed in note “5.e. Property, plant and 
equipment” of the accounting principles section of the 
consolidated financial statements, Large Industries 
production units are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful life, usually 15 to 20 
years. The estimated useful lives are reassessed on a 
regular basis and the resulting change in estimates, if 
any, are recorded on a prospective basis. 

In addition, the Group can be exposed to certain risks 
specific to industrial investments. Expected returns 
on investment and their recoverable value can, for 
example, be adversely impacted by events such as the 
economic context, overruns and construction delays, 
start-up conditions, technology changes, geographical 
location, counterparty risk or the need for new 

investments in order to meet an increasing demand 
for low-carbon industrial gases. New investments may 
also be required to meet the Group objectives and 
commitments to achieve carbon neutrality.

As disclosed in note “5.f. Impairment of assets” of the 
accounting principles section of the consolidated 
financial statements, Group management determines 
on a regular basis whether asset impairment indicators 
exist. If a triggering event is identified, an impairment 
test is performed to confirm whether the net book 
value of the asset exceeds its recoverable value. 
These principles lead the Group to test production 
assets (either individually or within the cash generating 
unit to which they are attached), in particular in case 
of significant start-up delays, project termination, 
significant decrease in expected business volumes, 
early termination or non-renewal of related customer 
contracts, obsolescence of assets in the context of the 
energy transition.

The measurement of the recoverable value of the 
equipment relies on significant estimates relating 
to the Group’s capacity to generate future cash-
flows, re-use certain equipment for other internal or 
external customers, to sell the assets, or to obtain 
indemnification, notably from customers, or subsidies

Due to the significant value of each production asset 
and the cumulative value of these assets, the key 
assumptions used to assess their useful life, their 
re-use or the compensation to be received, we have 
considered the useful life and measurement of the 
recoverable value of Large Industries production 
assets as a key audit matter.

4
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Our response

Our procedures consisted notably in:
• understanding the procedures performed by the 
Group to assess and update the depreciation period of 
the equipment;

• assessing the consistency of their useful lives with 

• contractual terms and available internal technical 
studies; analyzing the Group’s process to identify 
impairment indicators;

• understanding the work carried out by the Group 
to determine the recoverable values of the plants, 
including key assumptions and estimates used to 
determine the future cash flows;

• assessing the accounting translation of impairment 
losses resulting from the determination of recoverable 
values;

• assessing, with the assistance of our experts in 
climate change and energy transition, the impact of 
climate change and energy transition on the financial 
statements, in order to corroborate the Group’s 
assessment that its climate strategy has not resulted 
in any material impact, neither on the useful life nor on 
the recoverable value of Large Industries production 
assets;

• assessing the absence of obvious inconsistencies 
between the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group’s other publications addressing the issues 
related to climate change (Management report, the 
Universal Registration Document);
• verifying the appropriateness of the disclosure 
included in note “5.e. Property, plant and equipment” 
and note “5.f. Impairment of assets” of the accounting 

principles section of the consolidated financial 
statements and note 31 “Climate risk consideration” to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment test of goodwill

Risk identified

In connection with its external growth strategy, the 
Group monitors the related goodwill at the level of 
group of cash generating units. For the Gas & Services 
activity, goodwill are mostly allocated on a geographical 
basis. For the world business units Engineering & 
Construction and Global Markets & Technologies, 
goodwill is monitored at the business unit level. As at 
December 31, 2022, goodwill amounts to a net book 
value of 14,587 million euros (29,5% of the Group total 
assets). 

The Group performs annually, an impairment test, by 
reference to market values. Insofar as the fair value is 
not significantly greater than the net carrying amount of 
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units, the Group confirms the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units using the estimated cash flow approach (value in 
use) as described in note “5.f. Impairment of assets” of 
the accounting principles section of the consolidated 
financial statements.

The determination of fair value and recoverable value, 
and the sensitivity to the fluctuation of market multiples 
and key data and assumptions used, require significant 
judgement and management estimates, in particular 
in the context of climate change and energy transition. 
We have therefore considered the impairment test of 
goodwill as a key audit matter.

Our response
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Our procedures consisted notably in:

• understanding and assessing the principles used to 
determine the groups of cash generating units;

•analyzing, with the assistance of our valuation experts, 
principles and methods used to determine the market 
value and their measurement based on multiples of 
market capitalization;

corroborate, on the basis of external data:

the results of the Group’s impairment tests as of 
December 31, 2022, and
the consideration of both climate risk and challenges 
and opportunities relating to the energy transition;
– assessing the sensitivity of the result of the impairment 
tests performed by the Group as at December 31, 2022;
– assessing the appropriateness of the information 
included in note “10. Goodwill” to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Specific verifications 

We have also performed, in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France, the 
specific verification required by laws and regulations 
of the Group’s information given in the Group’s 
Management report. 

We have no matters to report as to their fair presentation 
and their consistency with the consolidated financial 
statements.

We attest that the consolidated non-financial 
statement required by Article L.225-102-1 of the French 

Commercial Code (Code de commerce) is included 
in the Group’s information given in the Management 
report, being specified that, in accordance with Article 
L.823-10 of this Code, we have verified neither the fair 
presentation nor the consistency with the consolidated 
financial statements of the information contained 
therein and the information  has to be subject to a report 
by an independent third party.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS

Format of the presentation of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements includedin the Annual Financial 
Report 

We have also verified, in accordance with the 
professional standard applicable in France relating to 
the procedures performed by the statutory auditor 
relating to the annual and consolidated financial 
statements presented in the European single electronic 
format, that the presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements included in the annual financial 
report mentioned in Article L. 451-1-2, I of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code (code monétaire et 
financier), prepared under the responsibility of the Chief 
Executive Officer (Directeur Général), complies with 
the single electronic format defined in the European 
Delegated Regulation No 2019/815 of 17 December 
2018. As it relates to consolidated financial statements, 
our work includes verifying that the tagging of these 
consolidated financial statements complies with the 
format defined in the above delegated regulation. 

Based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that the presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements included in the annual financial report 

4
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complies, in all material respects, with the European 
single electronic format. 

Due to the technical limitations inherent to the block-
tagging of the consolidated financial statements 
according to the European single electronic format, the 
content of certain tags of the notes may not be rendered 
identically to the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.

Appointment of the Statutory Auditors

We were appointed as statutory auditors of L’Air Liquide 
by the Annual General Meeting held on May 12, 2016 for 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit and on May 4, 2022 
for KPMG S.A.

As at December 31, 2022, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Audit was in its seventh year of uninterrupted 
engagement and KPMG S.A.in its first year.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless it is expected to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations. 
The Audit and Accounts Committee is responsible 
for monitoring the financial reporting process and the 
effectiveness of internal control and risks management 
systems and where applicable, its internal audit, 
regarding the accounting and financial reporting 
procedures.

The consolidated financial statements were approved 
by the Board of Directors

STATUTORY AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

Objectives and audit approach

Our role is to issue a report on the consolidated 
financial statements. Our objective is to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with professional standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
As specified in Article L.823-10-1 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de commerce), our statutory 
audit does not include assurance on the viability of the 
Company or the quality of management of the affairs of 
the Company.



150 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS| AIR LIQUIDE

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France, the 
statutory auditor exercises professional judgment 
throughout the audit and furthermore: 

• identifies and assesses the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, designs and performs 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtains audit evidence considered to be sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for his opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

• obtains an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the internal control; 

evaluates the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management in the 
consolidated financial statements; 

• assesses the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. This assessment is 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
his audit report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. If the statutory auditor concludes that 

a material uncertainty exists, there is a requirement 
to draw attention in the audit report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are not provided or inadequate, to 
modify the opinion expressed therein. 

evaluates the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements and assesses whether these 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

obtains sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements. The statutory 
auditor is responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and for the opinion expressed on these 
consolidated financial statements.

Report to the Audit and Accounts Committee 

We submit a report to the Audit and Accounts Committee 
which includes in particular a description of the scope 
of the audit and the audit program implemented, as 
well as the results of our audit. We also report, if any, 
significant deficiencies in internal control regarding the 
accounting and financial reporting procedures that we 
have identified.

Our report to the Audit and Accounts Committee 
includes the risks of material misstatement that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and which are therefore the key audit 
matters that we are required to describe in this report.
We also provide the Audit and Accounts Committee with 
the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation 
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(EU) N° 537/2014, confirming our independence 
within the meaning of the rules applicable in France 
such as they are set in particular by Articles L.822-10 
to L.822-14 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce) and in the French Code of Ethics (Code de 

déontologie) for statutory auditors. Where appropriate, 
we discuss with the Audit and Accounts Committee   
the risks that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and the related safeguards. 

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris-La Défense, March 1st, 2023
The Statutory Auditors

French original signed by

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit							       KPMG S.A

Olivier Lotz           Cédric Le Gal					     Valérie Besson                Laurent Genin
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STATUTORY ACCOUNTS ON 
THE PARENT COMPANY
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Notes to the statutory accounts

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. 	 General principles

The statutory accounts of the Company L’Air Liquide 
S.A. have been prepared in accordance with the 
accounting rules and principles generally accepted in 
France according to the provisions of the French Chart 
of Accounts (Plan Comptable Général).

The accounting policies for the establishment and 
presentation of the statutory accounts have been 
applied in accordance with the principle of prudence 
and with the following basic assumptions:

• Going concern;

• Consistency of accounting methods from one 
accounting period to another;

• Separation of each accounting periods.

The method used for the valuation of recorded items is 
the historical cost method.
Only material information is disclosed.

2. 	 Non-current assets
A. 	 Intangible assets

Internally generated intangible assets primarily include 
the development costs of information management 
systems. They are capitalized only if they generate 
probable future economic benefits and whether 
there is available appropriate resources (technical, 
financial and others) to complete the development and 
use or sell the intangible asset. Internal and external 
costs corresponding to detailed application design, 

programming, the performance of tests and the drafting 
of technical documentation intended for internal or 
external use are capitalized.

Significant upgrade and improvement costs are added 
to the initial cost of assets if they specifically meet the 
capitalization criteria.

Other intangible assets include separately acquired 
intangible assets such as software, licenses and 
intellectual property rights and are measured at 
acquisition cost.

Intangible assets are amortized according to the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

B. 	 Tangible assets

Land, buildings and equipment are recognized at 
historical cost. Interim interest expense is not included 
in the cost.
Where components of a tangible asset have different 
useful lives, they are accounted separately and 
depreciated over their own useful lives.
Depreciation is computed according to the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:
• buildings: 10 to 30 years;
• quipment: 5 to 20 years.
Land is not depreciated.

C. 	 Impairment of intangible and tangible assets

The Company assesses at each closing date whether 
there is any indication of impairment loss of intangible 
and tangible assets. If such indications exist, an 
impairment test is performed to assess whether the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its present value, 
which is defined as the greater of its market value and 
value in use.
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In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value as this would 
be done for an investment decision.

When the present amount of an asset is lower than its 
net carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized 
in the income statement. When the present value 
exceeds the carrying amount, the previously recognized 
impairment is reversed to the income statement.

D. 	 Equity investments

Equity investments are recognized at their initial 
amount on the entry date, with the exception of those 
subject to a revaluation as provided by Law 76-1232 
of December 29, 1976. Acquisition costs that are not 
representative of market value are expensed.

When the carrying amount, determined using the 
criteria normally adopted for the measurement of 
equity investments (market multiples method based on 
the Air Liquide Group market valuation, estimated cash 
flow approach, and net asset value remeasured at fair 
value), is lower than the book value, an impairment loss 
is recognized for the difference.

E. 	 Treasury shares

When the Company purchases its own shares, they 
are recognized at cost as treasury shares in other long-
term investment securities. The gains or losses on 
disposals of treasury shares contribute to the net profit 
for the year.

However, shares allocated for the purpose of 
implementing plans for free grants of shares are 
reclassified to a “Short-term financial investments – 
Company treasury shares” caption at the balance sheet 
value on the date of allotment.

A provision is recorded over the rights vesting period to 
cover the future charge of employees and members of 
Executive Management of the Company relating to the 
remittance of current shares when the performance 
criteria can be determined with reliability. Conversely, 
the amount corresponding to the maximum 
performance level is presented in off-balance sheet 
commitments.

When the purchase cost of shares is higher than their 
valuation based on the average share price during 
the last month of the fiscal year, treasury shares 
earmarked for cancellation or allocated for the purpose 
of implementing plans for free grants of shares are not 
impaired.

3. 	 Inventories and work-in-progress

Raw materials, supplies and goods are primarily 
measured at weighted average cost.

An impairment loss is recognized for inventories and 
work-in-progress when the estimated realizable 
amount is lower than cost.

4. 	 Trade receivables and other operating assets

Trade receivables and other operating assets are 
measured at historical cost.

An impairment loss for receivables is recognized when 
it becomes probable that the amount due will not be 
collected and the loss can be reasonably estimated.

5. 	 Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date.
At year-end, the difference arising from the translation 
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of receivables and payables denominated in a foreign 
currency, are recognized in suspense accounts in 
assets and liabilities (“Unrealized foreign currency 
gains or losses”).

Where applicable, unrealized foreign exchange losses 
associated with non-hedged transactions are subject 
to a contingency provision.

6. 	 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when:

t• he Company has a present obligation towards a third 
party as a result of a past event or an ongoing one;

•it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation;

•a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

7. 	 Financial instruments

L’Air Liquide S.A. applies the ANC regulation n° 2015-05 
of July 2, 2015 related to financial forward and hedging 
instruments.

In accordance with its risk management policy, L’Air 
Liquide S.A. enters into forward currency purchases 
or sales in order to hedge the exposure to foreign 
exchange risk associated with transactions carried out 
in foreign currencies.

By symmetry, the foreign exchange gains or losses 
on forward currency purchases or sales is presented 

at the same time and in the same income statement 
caption as the hedged item.
Likewise, the unrealized gain from the hedging is 
presented within the unrealized foreign currency gains 
or losses statement caption, to offset the exchange 
differentials related to the revaluation of underlying 
receivables and debts. When the forward currency 
purchases or sales, hedge future transactions not 
yet recorded on the balance sheet, the fair value of 
these instruments represents an off balance sheet 
commitment.

Where applicable, when the financial instruments used 
do not constitute hedging transactions (“isolated open 
position”), the losses resulting from their year-end 
market value are provided for in the income statement. 
In accordance with the principle of prudence, unrealized 
gains are not recognized in the income statement.

8. 	 Post-employment benefits

The Company applies the ANC recommendation n° 
2013-02 of November 7, 2013 amended on November 
5, 2021 (2nd method) related to the recognition and 
measurement of retirement benefits and similar 
obligations

The Company provides its employees with various 
pension plans, termination benefits, jubilees (awards 
based on years of service) and other post-employment 
benefits for both active employees and retirees. These 
benefits are covered in two ways:

• by so-called defined contribution plans;

• by so-called defined benefit plans.
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The Company grants both defined benefit and defined 
contribution plans.
Defined contribution plans are plans under which 
the employer’s sole obligation is to pay regular 
contributions. The employer does not grant any 
guarantee on the future level of benefits paid to the 
employee or retiree (“means-based obligation”). The 
annual pension expense is equal to the contribution 
paid during the fiscal year which relieves the employer 
from any further obligation.

Defined benefit plans are those by which the employer 
guarantees the future level of benefits defined in the 
agreement, most often depending on the employee’s 
salary and seniority (“result-based obligation”). Defined 
benefit plans can be:

• either financed by contributions to a fund specialized 
in managing the contributions paid;

• or managed internally.

In the case of defined benefit plans, retirement and 
similar obligations are measured by independent 
actuaries, according to the projected unit credit 
method. The actuarial calculations mainly take into 
account the following assumptions: salary increases, 
employee turnover, retirement date, mortality, inflation 
and appropriate discount rates.

Actuarial gains and losses exceeding the greater of 10% 
of the obligations or 10% of the fair value of plan assets 
at the beginning of the reporting period are amortized 
over the expected average working lives of the plan 
participants.

In accordance with article L.123-13 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de Commerce), the Company 

maintained its previous practices: obligations related 
to retirement termination payments and jubilees are 
provided whereas other retirement obligations related 
to defined benefit plans are not provided but are 
disclosed in the notes.

9. 	 Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when 
the risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer.

Revenue associated with delivery of services is 
booked when delivery is completed.

10. 	 Tax consolidation

L’Air Liquide S.A. has set up a tax consolidation group 
with the French subsidiaries in which it holds a direct or 
indirect interest exceeding 95%, as defined by article 
223-A of the French Tax Code.

Each company calculates its tax provision as if it was 
taxed separately. L’Air Liquide S.A., as head of the tax 
consolidation group, recognizes as an expense the 
tax corresponding to its own profits and recognizes 
in a balance sheet current tax account the impact 
of restatements and eliminations when determining 
taxable profit as a whole and the tax deferrals of 
subsidiaries with losses. It is booked in exceptional 
income and expenses according to the Opinion 2005-
G of the Emergency Committee of the C.N.C.

11. 	 Research and Development expenditures

Development costs shall be recognized as assets if 
and only if the Company can demonstrate all of the 
following:
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the project is clearly identified and the related costs are 
individualized and reliably monitored;
the technical and industrial feasibility of the project is 
demonstrated;
there is a clear intention to complete the project and 
use or sell the products arising from it;
it is probable that the project will generate future 
economic benefits for the Company.
When these conditions are not satisfied, the work 
carried out does not systematically result in the 
completion of an intangible asset that will be available 
for use or sale, development costs generated are 
recognized as an expense when incurred.

ADDITIONAL NOTES ON THE BALANCE SHEET 
AND INCOME STATEMENTS

1. 	 Significant events

Following favorable conclusions released by the 
European Court of Justice on May 12, 2022, the reserve 
set up in 2021 to cover the risk of being requested to 
refund the equalization charge reimbursed to L’Air 
Liquide S.A. in July 2020 for 56.8 million euros, was 
reversed in 2022.
Following the dissolution without liquidation of 
its subsidiary Chemoxal into L’Air Liquide S.A. in 
accordance with article 1844-5 al. 3 of French Civil 
Code, the Company recognizes in financial income a 
52.7 million euros net income.

By the nature of its activities, the revenue of L’Air Liquide 
S.A. mainly corresponds to services and pension 
expenses recharged to its subsidiaries (see note 16.A).

3. 	 Royalties and other operating income

In 2022, royalties and other operating income record a 
sharp increase mainly coming from royalties received 
from subsidiaries (+230.7 million euros), due to the 
significant growth in their activities.
Other operating income mainly includes change in 
inventories of goods and services, production of assets 
capitalized, operating subsidies, operating expense 
reclassifications, as well as operating provisions and 
impairment reversals.

4. 	 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses primarily consist of 
research and development costs and other external 
expenses such as subcontracting and maintenance 
costs, fees, travel expenses, telecommunication costs 
and rental expenses.

5. 	 Depreciation, amortization and provision 
expenses

Depreciation, amortization and provision expenses 
break down as follows:
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6. 	 Financial income and expenses

Financial income from equity affiliates amounts to 414.1 
million euros in 2022 (795.3 million euros in 2021). The 
company Air Liquide Industriegase GmbH & Co. KG 

distributed in 2021 an exceptional dividend of 225.0 
million euros versus 80.5 million euros in 2022.
Interests, similar income and expenses break down as 
follows:

Other financial income and expenses amount to 24.6 
million euros in 2022 versus -30.8 million euros in 2021. 
It includes in 2022 the reversal of 24.9 million euros 
related to the 2021 provision booked for interests on 
arrears regarding the risk of equalization charge refund 
(see note 1). 

7. 	 Exceptional income and expenses

As part of the tax consolidation of L’Air Liquide S.A. and 
its consolidated French subsidiaries, an exceptional 
income of 108.1 million euros was booked in 2022 (128.3 
million euros in 2021). 

Exceptional income and expenses also include the 
impact of eliminations related to the tax consolidation 
regime in the amount of 13.4 million euros in 2022 and 
13.8 million euros in 2021.

The 2022 exceptional income and expenses include 
the reversal of a provision of 31.9 million euros related to 
the risk of equalization charge refund (interest penalties 
excluded – see note 1).

8. 	 Corporate income tax
The total tax expense amounts to 29.9 million euros, 
compared to 16.0 million euros in 2021.
After allocation of add-backs, deductions and tax 
credits, it breaks down as follows:
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16. 	 Retirement and similar plans

A. 	 Group retirement benefit guarantee 
agreement
In France, Air Liquide grants additional benefits to 
retirees (3,206 retirees as of December 31, 2022). 
These benefits provide a supplemental retirement 
income based on final pay, which is paid in addition to 
other normal retirement benefits. This plan is closed 
to employees under the age 45, or with less than 20 
years of service as of January 1, 1996. These plans 
are unfunded. The annual amount paid with regards 
to additional benefits cannot exceed originally 12% 
of total payroll or, in some case, 12% of pre-tax profits 
of companies involved. This 12% threshold will be 
proportionately reduced by comparing the number of 
plan beneficiaries for the year to the number of plan 
beneficiaries for the previous year. The additional 
benefit granted by Air Liquide is indexed to the pension 
revaluation rates of normal and supplemental retirement 
benefits up to a certain annuity threshold without any 
indexation beyond. This additional benefit was funded 
subsequently to the article 50 of the law of January 20, 
2014 securing the future and fairness of pensions plans.

The contributions amounted to 19.2 million euros after 
reinvoicing subsidiaries (21.8 million euros in 2021). 
Excluding the impact of timelines, and until the plan 
ends, the actuarial value of obligations vis-à-vis retirees 
and those eligible as of December 31, 2022 amounts to 
393.8 million euros.

Based on the assumptions used for the valuation of the 
retirement obligations, an estimated 199.9 million euros 
will be recharged to the subsidiaries of L’Air Liquide S.A. 
as and when benefits are paid to the retirees.

B. 	 Externally funded plan
L’Air Liquide S.A. grants to employees not covered by 
the preceding plan (1,074 employees as of December 
31, 2022) and with at least one half-year of service 
benefit from an externally funded defined contribution 
plan. Contributions to this plan are jointly paid by the 
employer and employee. For 2022, employer 
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retirees (3,206 retirees as of December 31, 2022). 
These benefits provide a supplemental retirement 
income based on final pay, which is paid in addition to 
other normal retirement benefits. This plan is closed 
to employees under the age 45, or with less than 20 
years of service as of January 1, 1996. These plans 
are unfunded. The annual amount paid with regards 
to additional benefits cannot exceed originally 12% 
of total payroll or, in some case, 12% of pre-tax profits 
of companies involved. This 12% threshold will be 
proportionately reduced by comparing the number of 
plan beneficiaries for the year to the number of plan 
beneficiaries for the previous year. The additional 
benefit granted by Air Liquide is indexed to the pension 
revaluation rates of normal and supplemental retirement 
benefits up to a certain annuity threshold without any 
indexation beyond. This additional benefit was funded 
subsequently to the article 50 of the law of January 20, 
2014 securing the future and fairness of pensions plans.

The contributions amounted to 19.2 million euros after 
reinvoicing subsidiaries (21.8 million euros in 2021). 
Excluding the impact of timelines, and until the plan 
ends, the actuarial value of obligations vis-à-vis retirees 
and those eligible as of December 31, 2022 amounts to 
393.8 million euros.

Based on the assumptions used for the valuation of the 
retirement obligations, an estimated 199.9 million euros 
will be recharged to the subsidiaries of L’Air Liquide S.A. 
as and when benefits are paid to the retirees.

B. 	 Externally funded plan
L’Air Liquide S.A. grants to employees not covered by 
the preceding plan (1,074 employees as of December 
31, 2022) and with at least one half-year of service 
benefit from an externally funded defined contribution 
plan. Contributions to this plan are jointly paid by 
the employer and employee. For 2022, employer 
contributions amounted to 8.4 million euros (8.1 million 
euros in 2021).

C. 	 Retirement termination payments and 
jubilees
The corresponding obligations are provided for in the 
amount of 29.0 million euros (net of tax) and 1.0 million 
euros, respectively.

D. 	 Calculation of actuarial assumptions and 
methods
The calculations with respect to the Group’s retirement 
benefit guarantee agreement, retirement termination 
payments and jubilees are performed by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses exceeding the greater of 
10% of the obligations related to retirement termination 
payments and unrecognized past service costs are 
amortized over the expected average working lives 
of the plan participants. As of December 31, 2022, the 
amounts stand at -5.7 million euros (15.8 million euros in 
2021).

The actuarial assumptions (turnover, mortality, 
retirement age, salary increase) vary according to 
demographic and economic conditions.
The discount rates used to determine the present value 
of obligations are based on Government bonds or 
High-quality Corporate bonds, with the same duration 
as the obligations at the valuation date (3.75 % as of 
December 31, 2022).
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During the 2022 fiscal year, the Company also paid 
contributions to external organizations for the benefit 
of Mr François Jackow for the period from June 1 to 
December 31, 2022 in respect of defined contribution 
pension plans (10,876 euros), the collective death and 
disability benefits plan (5,932 euros) and the collective 
healthcare plan (231 euros), i.e. a total of 17,039 euros. 

In 2023, the Company will also pay contributions for 
the period from June 1 to December 31, 2022, under the 
collective pension insurance contract, for an amount of 
202,274 euros (split between a payment to the insurer 
and a payment to Mr François Jackow to cover social 
security contributions and taxes due on payments 
made to the insurer). 
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Statutory auditors’ report on the annual Financial 
Statements
This is a translation into English of the Statutory 
Auditors’ report on the Financial Statements of the 
Company issued in French and it is provided solely 
for the convenience of English speaking users. 
This Statutory Auditors’ report includes information 
required by European regulations and French law, such 
as information about the appointment of the Statutory 
Auditors or verification of the Management Report and 
other documents provided to the shareholders. This 
report should be read in conjunction with, and construed 
in accordance with, French law and professional 
auditing standards applicable in France.

To the Annual General Meeting of L’ Air Liquide,

OPINION
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us 
by your Annual General Meeting, we have audited the 
accompanying Financial Statements of L’Air Liquide for 
the year ended December 31, 2022. 

In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2022 and 
of the results of its operations for the year then ended in 
accordance with French accounting principles.

The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with 
our report to the Audit and Accounts Committee.

BASIS FOR OPINION

Audit Framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Statutory Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report.

Independence
We conducted our audit engagement in compliance 
with the independence requirements of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de commerce) and the 
French Code of Ethics for Statutory Auditors (Code 
de déontologie de la profession de Commissaire aux 
comptes) for the period from January 1st, 2022 to the 
date of our report, and specifically we did not provide 
any prohibited non‑audit services referred to in Article 
5(1) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014.

JUSTIFICATION OF ASSESSMENTS – KEY AUDIT 
MATTERS
In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 
823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French Commercial Code 
(Code de commerce) relating to the justification of our 
assessments, we inform you of the key audit matters 
relating to risks of material misstatement that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period, 
as well as how we addressed those risks.

These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the Financial Statements as a whole and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on specific items of the Financial 
Statements.

Equity investments measurement
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Risk identified
As at December 31, 2022, the net book value of the 
equity investments amounts to 12,419.3 million euros 
and represents 86,9% of the total balance sheet. Equity 
investments are recognized at their initial consideration, 
excluding acquisition costs and after considering legal 
reevaluation if any (as provided by Law 76-1232 of 
December 29, 1976). 

As disclosed in note “2.D. Accounting policies – Equity 
investments” to the statutory Financial Statements, 
when the carrying amount (determined applying the 
market multiples method based on the Group market 
capitalization or the estimated cash flows method or 
the method of net asset value re-measured at fair value) 
is lower than the net book value of the equity investment, 
an impairment loss is recognized for the difference
The selection of the method used to determine the 
carrying amount requires significant judgement of the 
Company.

Due to the significant equity investments balance 
and the impact of the method retained to determine 
the carrying amount, we have considered that the 
measurement of the equity investments as a key audit 
matter.

Our response
Our procedures mainly consisted in considering, based 
on information provided by the Company, the valuation 
methods applied by the Company, and assessing;

• the assumptions used to determine the re-measured 
net asset;

• the methodology and the results of the tests performed 
based on the Group market capitalization;

• the appropriateness of information included in notes 
“2.D. Accounting policies – Equity investments”, “10. 
Financial assets” and “11. Impairment, allowances and 
provisions” to the Statutory Financial Statements.

SPECIFIC VERIFICATIONS 

We have also performed, in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France, the 
specific verifications required by laws and regulations.

Information given in the Management Report and in 
the other documents with respect to the financial 
position and the Financial Statements provided to 
the Shareholders

We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation 
and the consistency with the Financial Statements 
of the information given in the Board of Directors 
Management Report and in the other documents 
with respect to the financial position and the Financial 
Statements provided to the shareholders. 

We attest the fair presentation and the consistency with 
the Financial Statements of the information relating to 
payment deadlines mentioned in Article D. 441‑6 of the 
French Commercial Code (Code de commerce).

Report on corporate governance
We attest that the Board of Directors’ Report on 
Corporate Governance sets out the information 
required by Articles L. 225‑37‑4, L. 22‑10‑10 and L. 
22‑10‑9 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce).
Concerning the information given in accordance with 
the requirements of Article L. 22‑10‑9 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the 
remuneration and benefits received by the directors 
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and any other commitments made in their favor, we have 
verified its consistency with the Financial Statements, 
or with the underlying information used to prepare these 
Financial Statements and, where applicable, with the 
information obtained by your Company from companies 
controlled thereby, included in the consolidation scope. 
Based on these procedures, we attest the accuracy 
and fair presentation of this information.

With respect to the information relating to items that 
your Company considered likely to have an impact in 
the event of a takeover bid or exchange offer, provided 
pursuant to Article L. 22‑10‑11 of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de commerce), we have agreed this 
information to the source documents communicated 
to us. Based on these procedures, we have no 
observations to make on this information.

Other information
In accordance with French law, we have verified that 
the required information concerning the purchase of 
investments and controlling interests and the identity of 
the shareholders and holders of voting rights has been 
properly disclosed in the management report.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS

Format of the presentation of the Financial 
Statements included in the Annual Financial Report 

We have also verified, in accordance with the 
professional standard applicable in France relating 
to the procedures performed by Statutory Auditors 
regarding the annual and Consolidated Financial 
Statements prepared in the European single electronic 
format, that the preparation of the Financial Statements 
included in the Annual Financial Report mentioned 

in Article L. 451‑1‑2, I of the French Monetary and 
Financial Code (Code monétaire et financier), prepared 
under the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility, 
complies with the single electronic format defined in 
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 2019/815 
of 17 December 2018. 

On the basis of our work, we conclude that the 
preparation of the Financial Statements included in the 
annual financial report complies, in all material respects, 
with the European single electronic format.

Appointment of the Statutory Auditors

We were appointed as statutory auditors of the 
Annual General Meeting held on May 12, 2016 for 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit and on May 4, 2022 
for KPMG S.A..

As at December 31, 202, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Audit was in its seventh year of uninterrupted 
engagement and KPMG S.A. in its first year.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance 
with French accounting principles and for such internal 
control as Management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the Financial Statements, Management 
is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
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matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it is expected to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations. 
The Audit and Accounts Committee is responsible 
for monitoring the financial reporting process and the 
effectiveness of internal control and risk management 
systems and where applicable, its internal audit, 
regarding the accounting and financial reporting 
procedures.
The Financial Statements were approved by the Board 
of Directors.

STATUTORY AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Objectives and audit approach

Our role is to issue a report on the Financial Statements. 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with professional 
standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users made on the 
basis of these Financial Statements. 

As specified in Article L. 823‑10‑1 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de commerce), our statutory 
audit does not include assurance on the viability of the 
Company or the quality of management of the affairs of 
the Company.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France, the 

Statutory Auditor exercises professional judgment 
throughout the audit and furthermore: 

• identifies and assesses the risks of material 
misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, designs and performs audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtains audit evidence 
considered to be sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for his opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control;

• obtains an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the internal control;

• evaluates the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by Management in the 
Financial Statements; 

assesses the appropriateness of Management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. This assessment is based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of his audit report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. If the 
statutory auditor concludes that a material uncertainty 
exists, there is a requirement to draw attention in the 
audit report to the related disclosures in the Financial 
Statements or, if such disclosures are not provided or 
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inadequate, to modify the opinion expressed therein;
evaluates the overall presentation of the Financial 
Statements and assesses whether these statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

REPORT TO THE AUDIT AND ACCOUNTS 
COMMITTEE

We submit to the Audit and Accounts Committee a report 
which includes in particular a description of the scope 
of the audit and the audit program implemented, as well 
as the results of our audit. We also report significant 
deficiencies, if any, in internal control regarding the 
accounting and financial reporting procedures that we 
have identified.

Our report to the Audit and Accounts Committee 
includes the risks of material misstatement that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in the 
audit of the Financial Statements of the current period 
and which are therefore the key audit matters that we 
are required to describe in this report. 

We also provide the Audit and Accounts Committee with 
the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation 
(EU) No. 537/2014, confirming our independence 
within the meaning of the rules applicable in France as 
set out in particular in Articles L. 822‑10 to L. 822‑14 of 
the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) 
and in the French Code of Ethics for Statutory Auditors 
(Code de déontologie de la profession de Commissaire 
aux comptes). Where appropriate, we discuss with 
the Audit and Accounts Committee the risks that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and the related safeguards.

Neuilly-sur-Seine et Paris-La Défense, March 1st, 
2023

The Statutory Auditors
French original signed by

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit
Olivier Lotz

Cédric Le Gal

KPMG S.A.
Valérie Besson
Laurent Genin
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Five-year summary of Company results
(Articles R. 225-83 and R. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code)
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(a) Using the authorization granted by the 15th resolution of the Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 16, 2018, the 14th resolution of the Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 4, 2021 and the 18th resolution of the Combined 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of May 4, 2022, the Board of Directors made the 
following decisions:

-in its meeting of May 16, 2018, capital decrease by cancellation of 654,000 treasury 
shares;
-in its meeting of May 7, 2019, capital decrease by cancellation of 953,000 treasury 
shares;
-in its meeting of July 28, 2021, capital decrease by cancellation of 165,000 treasury 
shares;
in its meeting of July 27, 2022, capital decrease by cancellation of 1,098,900 
treasury shares.

(b) Using the authorization granted by the 16th resolution of the Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 16, 2018, the Board of Directors decided in its 
meeting of July 29, 2019, the granting of one free share for ten existing shares, and 
the granting of a 10% bonus for shares held in registered form from December 31, 
2016 to October 8, 2019.
Using the authorization granted by the 19th resolution of the Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 4, 2022, the Board of Directors decided in its meeting 
of May,4th 2022, the granting of one free share for ten existing shares, and the 
granting of a 10% bonus for shares held in registered form from December 31, 2019 
to June 7, 2022.

(c) Using the authorizations granted by the resolutions of Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meetings of May 5, 2010, May 7, 2013, and May 12, 2016, 
–	 the Board of Directors noted in its meeting of May 4, 2022 the issuance 
of 179,795 shares arising from:
-the exercise of 77,102 options subscribed at the price of 70.14 euros;
-the exercise of 35,709 options subscribed at the price of 74.06 euros;
-the exercise of 9,375 options subscribed at the price of 76.47 euros;
-the exercise of 38,699 options subscribed at the price of 77.67 euros;
-the exercise of 13,889 options subscribed at the price of 84.08 euros;
-the exercise of 5,021 options subscribed at the price of 85,52 euros.
-the Board of Directors noted in its meeting of February 15, 2023 the issuance of 
172,840 shares arising from:
-the exercise of 70,127 options subscribed at the price of 63.59 euros;
-the exercise of 53,194 options subscribed at the price of 67.15 euros;
-the exercise of 2,654 options subscribed at the price of 69.33 euros;
-the exercise of 24,920 options subscribed at the price of 70.42 euros;

-the exercise of 12,876 options subscribed at the price of 76.23 euros;
-the exercise of 3,235 options subscribed at the price of 77.54 euros;
-the exercise of 5,834 options subscribed at the price of 87.97 euros.

Using the authorization granted by the 15th resolution of the Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 3, 2017, pursuant to the delegation granted by the 
Board of Directors in its meeting of May 16, 2018 and confirmed on July 27, 2018, 
the Chairman and C.E.O. noted on December 7, 2018 the employee-reserved 
issuance of 1,049,529 new shares:

934,697 new shares subscribed in cash at a price of 87.09 euros per share, of 
which 2,413 shares were subscribed as part of the contribution paid by the Company 
(1 bonus share for 4 shares subscribed with a maximum of 3 bonus shares per 
employee);
114,832 new shares subscribed in cash at a price of 92.53 euros per share.
Using the authorization granted by the 17th resolution of the Combined Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 4, 2021, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
pursuant to the delegation granted by the Board of Directors in its meeting of 
February 9, 2021 with the right to sub-delegate and confirmed on July 28, 2021, has 
delegated his authority during the Board of Directors meeting hold in July, 28 2021 
to the Executive Vice President who noted on December 9, 2021 the employee-
reserved issuance of 1 098 738 new shares:
- 984,988 new shares subscribed in cash at a price of 113.23 euros per share, of 
which 2,760 shares were subscribed as part of the contribution paid by the Company 
(1 bonus share for 4 shares subscribed with a maximum of 3 bonus shares per 
employee);
-113,750 new shares subscribed in cash at a price of 120.31 euros per share.
(d) Beginning December 31, 1995, shareholders holding their shares in registered 
form for at least two years at the period-end, and who will retain these shares in 
this form until the dividend payment date, will receive a dividend with a 10% bonus 
compared to the dividend paid to other shares. The difference between the loyalty 
dividend calculated on the number of shares outstanding as of the period-end and 
the loyalty dividend actually paid shall be allocated to retaining earnings.

(e)Adjusted to take into account, in the weighted average, the capital increases 
performed via cash subscriptions and treasury shares.
(f) Adjusted to account for share capital movements.
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Accounting principles

The condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements for the half-year ended June 30, 2023 
include the Company and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as the “Group”) as well as the Group share 
of associates or joint ventures. The Group consolidated 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2022 are available upon request at the Company 
registered office at 75, quai d’Orsay, 75007 Paris, 
France or on the website 
www.airliquide.com.

BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with 
IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”, a standard within 
the IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards), 
as endorsed by the European Union. They do not 
include all the information required for complete annual 
financial statements and should be read in conjunction 
with the Group financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2022.

Except for the application of standards, interpretations 
and amendments being mandatory as of January 
1, 2023, the accounting principles used for the 
preparation of the condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements are identical to those used for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements for 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. They have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as endorsed 
by the European Union as of June 30, 2023.
The IFRS standards and interpretations as endorsed 
by the European Union are available at the following 
website:

https://finance.ec.europa.eu/regulation-and-
supervision/financial-services-legislation/
implementing-and-delegated-acts/international-
accounting-standards-regulation_en

The Group has not anticipated any standards, 
amendments or interpretations published by the 
IASB but not yet approved or not yet mandatory in the 
European Union as of June 30, 2023.
The financial statements are presented in million of 
euros. They were reviewed by the Board of Directors 
on July 26, 2023.

NEW IFRS AND INTERPRETATIONS
1. Standards, interpretations and amendments 
endorsed by the European Union whose application 
is mandatory as of January 1, 2023

The following texts have no material impact on the 
Group financial statements: 

• amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes: Deferred Tax 
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction”, issued on May 7, 2021;

• amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements”, issued on February 12, 2021;

• amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of 
Accounting Estimates”, issued on February 12, 2021.
In addition, the following texts are not applicable 
to the Group:

• IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, issued on May 18, 2017;
• amendments to IFRS 17 “First application of IFRS 
17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Information” issued on 
December 9, 2021.
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Standards, interpretations and amendments not yet 
endorsed by the European Union

The impacts on the financial statements of texts 
published by the IASB as of June 30, 2023 and not yet 
endorsed by the European Union are currently being 
analyzed. These texts are as follows:

• amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current”, “Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date” and 
“Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”, issued on 
January 23, 2020, July 15, 2020 and October 31, 2022 
respectively;
amendments to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback” issued on September 22, 2022; 

amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and 
IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier 
Finance Arrangements”, issued on May 25, 2023;

• amendments to IAS 12 “Income taxes : International 
Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules”, issued on May 
23, 2023. 

USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements requires 
Group or subsidiary Management to make estimates 
and use certain assumptions which have a significant 
impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet, the 
notes related to these assets and liabilities, the profit 
and expense items in the income statement and the 
commitments relating to the period-end. Subsequent 
results may differ.

The significant judgments exercised by the Group 
or subsidiary Management in applying the Group 
accounting policies used in preparing the half-year 
condensed consolidated financial statements, and the 
main sources of uncertainty in making the estimates, 
are identical to those described in the consolidated 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2022.

BASIS FOR PRESENTATION AND MEASUREMENT 
OF FIRST HALF-YEAR INFORMATION

The segment information corresponds to the 
information required by IAS 34 “Interim Financial 
Reporting”.
The Group’s activities may be affected by significant 
changes in the economic situation. Therefore, its 
interim results are not necessarily indicative of those to 
be expected for the fiscal year as a whole.
The income tax expense for the period is calculated 
by applying the estimated effective income tax rate for 
the fiscal year, based on the information available as of 
the interim reporting date, to the different categories of 
profit.
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Note 13	 Dividend per share
The 2022 dividend authorized by the General Meeting 
and paid on May 17, 2023 to the Group shareholders 
was 1,582.7 million euros (including fidelity premium), 
corresponding to an ordinary dividend of 2.95 euros 
and a fidelity premium of 0.29 per share.

Note 14	 Related party disclosures
Due to the activities and legal organization of the 
Group, only executives, associates and joint ventures 
are considered to be related parties to the Group. 
Transactions performed between these individuals 
or these companies and Group subsidiaries are not 
material.

Note 15	 Contingent liabilities
To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there is no 
exceptional event or litigation which has affected in 
the recent past or which is likely to materially affect its 
financial situation or profitability.

Note 16	 Post-balance sheet events
On July 5, 2023, the management of Air Liquide 
Healthcare presented a project to transform its 
Home Healthcare activity in France to employee 
representatives. The project aims to address the 
needs and expectations of patients and healthcare 
professionals, and to adapt the activity’s business 
model to meet the challenges of the healthcare system.

Note 17	 Other information
As of June 30, 2023, given the geopolitical context 
and reinforced sanctions and counter-sanctions, 
the Group continues to consider that it no longer has 
control of its activities in Russia since September 1, 
2022. As a reminder, all assets in Russia have been fully 
depreciated in the accounts as of December 31, 2022.

Statutory auditors’ review report on the half-yearly 
financial information

This is a free translation into English of the statutory 
auditors’ review report on the half-yearly financial 
information issued in French and is provided solely 
for the convenience of English-speaking users. This 
report includes information relating to the specific 
verification of information given in the Group’s half-
yearly management report. This report should be read 
in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, 
French law and professional standards applicable in 
France.

To the Shareholders, 

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by 
your Annual General Meeting and in accordance with 
the requirements of article L. 451-1-2 III of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code (“Code monétaire et 
financier”), we hereby report to you on:

• the review of the accompanying condensed half-yearly 
consolidated financial statements of L’Air Liquide, for 
the period from January 1 to June 30, 2023;
• the verification of the information presented in the half-
yearly management report.
These condensed half-yearly consolidated financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Board of 
Directors. Our role is to express a conclusion on these 
financial statements based on our review.

1. Conclusion on the financial statements
We conducted our review in accordance with 
professional standards applicable in France. 
A review of interim financial information consists of 
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible 
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for financial and accounting matters, and applying 
analytical and other review procedures. A review is 
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in 
accordance with professional standards applicable 
in France and consequently does not enable us to 
obtain assurance that we would become aware of all 
significant matters that might be identified in an audit. 
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that the accompanying 
condensed half-yearly consolidated financial 
statements are not prepared, in all material respects, 
in accordance with IAS 34 - standard of the IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union applicable to interim 
financial information.

2. Specific verification
We have also verified the information presented in the 
half-yearly management report on the condensed half-
yearly consolidated financial statements subject to our 
review.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation 
and consistency with the condensed half-yearly 
consolidated financial statements.

Paris La Défense, July 27, 2023
Neuilly-sur-Seine, July 27, 2023

KPMG S.A.

Valérie Besson
Laurent Genin

French original signed by

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit
			   Oliviez Lotz	             

   Cédric Le Gal
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